United Arab Emirates University Scholarworks@UAEU

**Medical Education Dissertations** 

**Medical Education** 

10-2017

# VITAMIN D DEFICIENCY IN EARLY PREGNANCY, DIET AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AND DEVELOPMENT OF GESTATIONAL DIABETES IN EMIRATI WOMEN

Sharifa Ali Abdulrahman Al Belooshi

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.uaeu.ac.ae/med\_ed\_dissertations

Part of the Medicine and Health Sciences Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Al Belooshi, Sharifa Ali Abdulrahman, "VITAMIN D DEFICIENCY IN EARLY PREGNANCY, DIET AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AND DEVELOPMENT OF GESTATIONAL DIABETES IN EMIRATI WOMEN" (2017). *Medical Education Dissertations*. 7. https://scholarworks.uaeu.ac.ae/med\_ed\_dissertations/7

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Medical Education at Scholarworks@UAEU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Medical Education Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholarworks@UAEU. For more information, please contact fadl.musa@uaeu.ac.ae.





# United Arab Emirates University

College of Medicine and Health Sciences

# VITAMIN D DEFICIENCY IN EARLY PREGNANCY, DIET AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AND DEVELOPMENT OF GESTATIONAL DIABETES IN EMIRATI WOMEN

Sharifa Ali Abdulrahman Al Belooshi

This dissertation is submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Under the Supervision of Dr. Abderrahim Oulhaj

October 2017

# **Declaration of Original Work**

I, Sharifa Ali Abdulrahman Al Belooshi , the undersigned, a graduate student at the United Arab Emirates University (UAEU), and the author of this dissertation entitled "*Vitamin D Deficiency in Early Pregnancy, Diet and Physical Activity and Development of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus in Emirati Women*", hereby, solemnly declare that this dissertation is my own original research work that has been done and prepared by me under the supervision of Dr. Abderrahim Oulhaj, in the College of Medicine and Health Sciences at UAEU. This work has not previously been presented or published, or formed the basis for the award of any academic degree, diploma or a similar title at this or any other university. Any materials borrowed from other sources (whether published or unpublished) and relied upon or included in my dissertation have been properly cited and acknowledged in accordance with appropriate academic conventions. I further declare that there is no potential conflict of interest with respect to the research, data collection, authorship, presentation and/or publication of this dissertation.

Student's Signature:

Date: <u>06. 12.2017</u>

# Approval of the Doctorate Dissertation

This Doctorate Dissertation is approved by the following Examining Committee Members:

1. Advisor (Committee Chair): Abderrahim Oulhaj Title: Assistant Professor

Institute of Public Health

College of Medicine and Health Sciences, UAEU

Signature: \_\_\_\_\_ Date: 01/10/2017

2. Member: Fatma Al-Maskari

Title: Professor

Institute of Public Health

College of Medicine and Health Sciences, UAEU

Signature: \_\_\_\_\_ Date: \_\_\_\_\_ D

3. Member: Abdullah Shehab Title: Professor

Internal Medicine

College of Medicine and Health Sciences, UAEU

Signature:

\_\_\_\_\_ Date: \_//10/17

4. Member (External Examiner): Anjum Memon Title: Professor Department of Primary Care and Public Health Universities of Brighton and Sussex, UK

Signature: My Date: 1/10/2017

This Doctorate Dissertation is accepted by:

Dean of the College of Medicine and Health Sciences: Professor Ruth Langer

& Date: <u>6-12-2017</u> Signature: \_

Dean of the College of Graduate Studies: Professor Nagi T. Wakim

Signature: Jag Wa

Date: 10/12/2017

Copy 10 of 20

Copyright © 2017 Sharifa Ali Abdulrahman Al Belooshi All Rights Reserved

# **Advisory Committee**

Advisor: Abderrahim Oulhaj
 Title: Assistant Professor

Public Health Institute

College of Medicine and Health Sciences

2. Member: Syed Shah

Title: Professor

Public Health Institute

College of Medicine and Health Sciences

Member: Raghib Ali
 Title: Professor
 Public Health Research Center

New York University, UAE

#### Abstract

Vitamin D deficiency and Gestational Diabetes Mellitus (GDM) are common health problems among pregnant women in the Middle East region including the United Arab Emirates. However, a few prospective studies have investigated the association between vitamin D deficiency and risk of GDM.

We estimated the incidence of GDM and examined the association of vitamin D status in early pregnancy and the development of GDM in Emirati pregnant women. In addition, we studied the association of diet, low physical activity and other covariates with the risk of GDM.

We conducted a prospective cohort study on Emirati pregnant women who visited eight primary healthcare clinics for antenatal care. A cohort of 563 women was selected that included women aged 18 - 45 years,  $\leq 15$  weeks pregnant and were free of GDM. The primary exposure was vitamin D deficiency (25(OH)D < 12)ng/ml) and vitamin D insufficiency (25(OH)D = 12 - 20 ng/l) as per Institute of Medicine Criteria. Secondary exposure variables were levels of physical activity (low, moderate and high as per WHO recommendations) and dietary intake. The physical activity was measured by using Global Physical Activity Questionnaire (GPAQ) and dietary intake was determined by using a validated Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ). The outcome variable was GDM that was diagnosed by using fasting and 75 g 2-hour postprandial Oral Glucose Tolerance Test (OGTT) in 24 - 28 weeks of gestation. The data on socio-demographic characteristics, personal and family medical history, physical activity, dietary intake, blood pressure and anthropometric indices were collected at baseline. In addition, fasting blood samples were taken to measure fasting blood glucose and 25(OH)D levels. The participants revisited antenatal clinics in their 24 - 28 weeks of gestation for the screening of GDM. The status of GDM was confirmed by reviewing medical records of mothers or by telephonic interview.

Overall, 58.3% of pregnant women had vitamin D deficiency and 26.4% had insufficiency. The overall incidence of GDM was 15.2%. The incidence of GDM was 16% in vitamin D deficient women, 16.1% in vitamin D insufficient women and

10.7% in women with normal vitamin D. Adjusted logistic regression analysis showed that vitamin D concentration (Adjusted Odds Ratio [AOR]: 0.99, 95% Confidence Interval [CI]: 0.95 - 1.02, p = 0.450), vitamin D insufficiency (AOR: 2.11, 95% CI: 0.81 - 5.64, p = 0.101) and deficiency (AOR: 1.94, 95% CI: 0.88 - 5.32, p = 0.118) were not associated with GDM. Low (AOR: 1.09, 95% CI: 0.43 - 2.79, p = 0.850) and moderate (AOR: 0.78, 95% CI: 0.45 - 1.34, p = 0.372) physical activity levels were not significantly associated with increased odds of GDM. The Daily consumption of red meat (AOR: 6.16, 95% CI: 1.31 - 28.92, p = 0.021) and dates (AOR: 1.86, 95% CI: 1.03 - 6.49, p = 0.043), family history of diabetes (AOR: 1.93, 95% CI: 1.02 - 3.62, p = 0.043) and Body Mass index (BMI) before pregnancy (AOR: 1.07, 95% CI: 1.02 - 1.11, p = 0.003) were significantly associated with GDM.

Vitamin D deficiency and physical activity were not associated with GDM, while daily intake of red meat and dates, increasing BMI before pregnancy and positive family history were positively associated with GDM. These findings are congruent with some previous studies in the Middle East region and elsewhere and provide guidelines to health stakeholders and healthcare providers for improving the screening, prevention and management of GDM in Emirati women.

**Keywords:** Gestational Diabetes (GDM), Vitamin D deficiency, Vitamin D insufficiency, Physical Activity, Diet, Obesity, Family History of Diabetes.

# **Title and Abstract (in Arabic)**

علاقة نقص فيتامين د، التغذية والنشاط الرياضي في المراحل الأولى من الحمل بالإصابة بسكري الحمل عند الإماراتيات

الملخص

يعتبر سكري الحمل حالة مرضية مهمة، حيث تعاني منه الكثير من النساء في دولة الإمارات العربية المتحدة. تشير الدراسات إلى أن نسبة الإصابة بسكري الحمل في دولة الإمارات العربية المتحدة تصل ما بين 7.9% -24.9%، كما يعتبر سكري الحمل عامل خطورة بالنسبة للأم والجنين حيث أنه يؤدي إلى مضاعفات لكليهما ويعزز الإصابة بالنوع الثاني من السكري.

أثبتت بعض الدراسات أن نقص فيتامين دله دور كبير في الإصابة بسكري الحمل، كما أن العوامل المرتبطة بنمط الحياة كالتغذية والرياضة تلعبان دورا مهما في علاج المرض والسيطرة عليه.

صممت هذه الدراسة لتشمل 563 حامل إماراتية في مدينة رأس الخيمة في دولة الإمارات العربية المتحدة، وللكشف عن وجود علاقة بين نقص فيتامين د وتأثير عوامل نمط الحياة كالتغذية والرياضة، بالإضافة إلى التاريخ العائلي للإصابة بالسكري ومنسب كتلة الجسم وعلاقة هذه العوامل بالإصابة بسكري الحمل.

لم نتمكن من الحصول على علاقة واضحة وقوية بين نقص فيتامين د والنشاط الرياضي للحوامل والإصابة بسكري الحمل، إلا أنه كانت هناك علاقة قوية بين تناول اللحم الأحمر، التمر من الناحية الغذائية و الإصابة بسكري الحمل بالإضافة إلى التاريخ العائلي للإصابة بالسكري ومنسب كتلة الجسم اللذان كانا من العوامل التي لها دور كبير للإصابة بسكري الحمل.

مفاهيم البحث الرئيسية: سكري الحمل، نقص فيتامين د ، التغذية، النشاط الرياضي، التاريخ العائلي للإصابة بالسكري، منسب كتلة الجسم.

# Acknowledgements

This dissertation would not have been possible without the inspiration, help, and guidance of a number of wonderful individuals. My thanks and appreciation to all of them for being part of my journey.

I express my warmest gratitude to Prof. Nagi T. Wakim, Prof. Ruth Langer, Dr. Mariam Alshamsi, and Amal Al Hassani for their help and guidance. A very big thank you to Prof. Iain Blair our previous chair for enthusiasm, immense knowledge and supporting us over the years.

My thanks go to my supervisor Dr. Abderrahim Oulhaj, without his encouragement, support, excellent guidance, caring, and patience; this dissertation would hardly have been completed.

I would like to thank my advisory committee members Dr. Raghib Ali and Dr. Syed Shah, for all of their guidance through this process. I also want to express my gratitude to Faisal Aziz for his support in a number of ways, especially towards the completion of this dissertation.

It is a pleasure to thank Anjum Memon, Dr. Fatma Al Maskari, and Dr. Abdullah Shehab, who were willing to participate in my defense committee.

I gratefully acknowledge the contributions and help of Abdul Rahman Al Owais, Minster of the Ministry of Health and Prevention, and Dr. Mohammad Al Olama, the Undersecretary of the Ministry of Health and Prevention in the UAE.

I am forever thankful to my colleagues and friends at the Public Health

Department, Ministry of Health and RAK Medical District for their friendship and support.

Special thanks go to the Emirates Foundation in Abu Dhabi for funding and supporting my study.

Finally, my deep and sincere gratitude to my family for their continuous love, help and support.

Dedication

To my father's soul To my beloved mother, brothers and sisters To my husband and kids

Title	i
Declaration of Original Work	ii
Copyright	iii
Advisory Committee	iv
Approval of the Doctorate Dissertation	v
Abstract	vii
Title and Abstract (in Arabic)	ix
Acknowledgements	X
Dedication	xii
Table of Contents	xiii
List of Tables	xvi
List of Figures	xviii
List of Abbreviations	xix
<ul> <li>Chapter 1: Introduction</li></ul>	1 1 2 2 4 6 6 6 10 12 13 13 13 14 15 19 19 21 24
Chapter 2: Methods	26
2.1 Aims and Objectives 2.1.1 Aims 2.1.2 Objectives	26 26 26

# **Table of Contents**

	2.2 Study Design	. 27
	2.3 Study Site	. 27
	2.4 Study Population	. 28
	2.5 Selection of Study Participants	. 28
	2.5.1 Inclusion Criteria	. 28
	2.5.2 Exclusion Criteria	. 29
	2.6 Sample Size Calculation	. 30
	2.7 Study Measurements	. 31
	2.7.1 The Outcome Variable	. 31
	2.7.2 The Primary Exposure Variable	. 31
	2.7.3 Other Measurements	. 32
	2.8 Data Collection Procedure	. 34
	2.9 Ethical Considerations	. 35
	2.9.1 Ethical Approval of Study	. 35
	2.9.2 Informed Consent	. 35
	2.9.3 Confidentiality	. 36
	2.10 Timeline	. 36
	2.11 Data Analysis	. 36
С	hapter 3: Results	. 39
	3.1 Recruitment and Follow-up	. 39
	3.2 Baseline Demographic Characteristics	.40
	3.3 Baseline Clinical Characteristics	.43
	3.4 Baseline Physical Activity Levels	.45
	3.5 Baseline Supplements and Dietary Intake	.47
	3.6 Baseline Distribution of Vitamin D Status	. 53
	3.7 Incidence of Gestational Diabetes	. 55
	3.7.1 Overall Incidence of Gestational Diabetes	. 55
	3.7.2 Incidence of Gestational Diabetes by Baseline Demographic	
	Characteristics	. 56
	3.7.3 Incidence of Gestational Diabetes by Baseline Clinical	
	Characteristics	. 57
	3.7.4 Incidence of Gestational Diabetes by Baseline Physical Activity	
	Levels	. 59
	3.7.5 Incidence of Gestational Diabetes by Supplements and Dietary	
	Intake	.61
	3.8 Association between Gestational Diabetes and Vitamin D	. 67
	3.9 Association between Gestational Diabetes and Physical Activity	.70
	3.10 Association between Gestational Diabetes and Diet	.72
	3.11 Association of Gestational Diabetes with Other Risk Factors	. 79
C	hapter 4. Discussion	82
	4.1 Summary of Results	. 82
	4 2 Prevalence of Vitamin D Deficiency	82
	1.2 Trevalence of vitalinin D Denotorey	. 02

4.3 Incidence of Gestational Diabetes	
4.4 Association between Gestational Diabetes and Vitamin D	
4.5 Association between Gestational Diabetes and Diet	
4.6 Association between Gestational Diabetes and Physical Activity	91
4.7 Association between Gestational Diabetes and Body Mass Index	
4.8 Association between Gestational Diabetes and Family History of	
Diabetes	
4.9 Strengths of the Study	
4.10 Limitations of the Study	
4.11 Conclusion	
4.12 Recommendation	
4.13 Output of the study	
References	100
Appendix 1: Socio-demographic Characteristics Questionnaire	117
Appendix 2: Global Physical Activity Questionnaire	120
Appendix 3: Adult Semi-Quantitative Food Frequency Questionnaire	122
Appendix 4: Al Ain Medical District Human Research Ethics Committee	126
	120
Appendix 5: RAK Medical District Research Ethics Committee Approval	127
Appendix 6: Informed Consent (Facts about the Study)	128
Appendix 7: Consent to Participate in a Research Study	130

# List of Tables

Table 1.1: History of Oral Glucose Tolerance Test for Diagnosis of GDM	5
Table 1.2: Comparison of screening and diagnostic criteria of GDM	6
Table 2.1: Time line of the study	.36
Table 3 1: Baseline demographic characteristics of women	.41
Table 3.2: Baseline clinical characteristics of women	.44
Table 3.3: Physical activity levels of women	.46
Table 3.4: Use of supplements in women	. 47
Table 3.5: Milk and milk products intake in women	. 48
Table 3.6: Vegetables intake in women	. 49
Table 3.7: Fruits and Nuts intake in women	. 50
Table 3. 8: Meat intake in women	. 51
Table 3. 9: Sweets and beverages intake in women	. 52
Table 3.10: Cereals intake in women	. 53
Table 3.11: Baseline vitamin D status of women	. 54
Table 3.12: Gestational Diabetes status of women	. 55
Table 3.13: Incidence of GDM by baseline demographic characteristics of	
women	. 56
Table 3.14: Incidence of Gestational Diabetes by baseline clinical	
characteristics of women	. 58
Table 3.15: Incidence of Gestational Diabetes by baseline physical activity	
levels of women	. 60
Table 3.16: Incidence of Gestational Diabetes by supplements intake in women	
during the last six months	. 61
Table 3.17: Incidence of Gestational Diabetes by milk and milk products intake	
in women	. 62
Table 3.18: Incidence of Gestational Diabetes by vegetable intake in women	. 63
Table 3.19: Incidence of Gestational Diabetes by fruits and Nuts intake in	
women	. 64
Table 3.20: Incidence of Gestational Diabetes by meat intake in women	. 65
Table 3.21: Incidence of Gestational Diabetes by sweets and beverages intake	
in women	. 66
Table 3.22: Incidence of Gestational Diabetes by intake of cereals in women	. 67
Table 3.23: Incidence of Gestational Diabetes by baseline Vitamin D status in	
women	. 68
Table 3.24: Unadjusted logistic regression of Gestational Diabetes with	
Vitamin D status in women	. 69
Table 3.25 Adjusted logistic regression of Gestational Diabetes with Vitamin D	
status in women	.70
Table 3.26: Unadjusted logistic regression of Gestational Diabetes with	
physical activity in women	.71

Table 3.27: Adjusted logistic regression of Gestational Diabetes with physical	
activity during the last week in women	72
Table 3.28: Simple logistic regression of Gestational Diabetes with use of	
supplements during the last six months in women	72
Table 3.29: Simple logistic regression of Gestational Diabetes with intake of	
milk and milk products in women	73
Table 3.30: Simple logistic regression of Gestational Diabetes with intake of         usertables in memory	71
	/4
fruits and nuts in women	75
Table 3.32: Simple logistic regression of Gestational Diabetes with intake of	
meat in women.	/6
Table 3.33: Simple logistic regression of Gestational Diabetes with intake of sweets and beverages	77
Table 3 34: Simple logistic regression of Gestational Diabetes with	•••••
supplements and diet intake	78
Table 3.35: Multiple logistic regression analysis of Gestational Diabetes with	
diet intake in women	79
Table 3.36: Simple logistic regression analysis of gestational diabetes with	
demographic characteristics	80
Table 3.37: Simple logistic regression of Gestational Diabetes with Body Mass	
Index	81
Table 3.38: Adjusted logistic regression analysis of Gestational Diabetes with	
risk factors	81

# List of Figures

Figure 3.1: Recruitment of participants per calendar	39
Figure 3.2: Distribution of age of women	42
Figure 3.3: Family history of diabetes in women	42
Figure 3.4: Distribution of Body Mass index of women before and during early	
pregnancy	43
Figure 3.5: Prevalence of overweight and obesity in women	44
Figure 3.6: High blood pressure in women	45
Figure 3.7: Levels of physical activity in women	46
Figure 3.8: Baseline vitamin D insufficiency and deficiency in women	54
Figure 3.9: Overall incidence of Gestational Diabetes	55
Figure 3.10: Incidence of GDM by baseline Body Mass Index categories	59
Figure 3.11: Incidence of GDM by baseline levels of physical activity of	
women	61
Figure 3.12: Incidence of Gestational Diabetes in women by baseline Vitamin	
D Status	68

# List of Abbreviations

25(OH)D	25-hydroxyvitamin D
ADA	American Diabetes Association
ACOG	American College Obstetricians and Gynecologists
ADA	American Diabetes Association
ADIPS	Australian Diabetes in Pregnancy Society
AMDHREC	Al Ain Medical District Human Research Ethics Committee
AOR	Adjusted Odds Ratio
BMI	Body Mass Index
C & C	Carpenter & Coustan
CDA	Canadian Diabetes Association
CI	Confidence Interval
CNGOF	French College of Gynecologists and Obstetricians
COR	Crude Odds Ratio
DM	Diabetes Mellitus
DIPSI	Diabetes in Pregnancy Study Group in India
DPSG	Diabetic Pregnancy Study Group
EASD	European Association for the Study of Diabetes
FBG	Fasting Blood Glucose
FIGO	International Federation of Gynecology & Obstetrics
G	Gram
GAD	Glutamic Acid Decarboxylase
GCT	Glucose Challenge Test

GDM Gestational Diabetes Mellitus

GI	Glycemic Index
GPAQ	Global Physical Activity Questionnaire
HPL	Human Placental Lactogen
НАРО	Hyperglycemia & Adverse Pregnancy Outcomes
HCG	Human Chorionic Gonadotropin
IOM	Institute Of Medicine
JDS	Japan Diabetes Society
OGTT	Oral Glucose Tolerance Test
IOM	Institute Of Medicine
IU	International Unit
IGT	Impaired Glucose Test
IADPSG	International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups
LGA	Low Gestational Age
LGI	Low Glycemic Index
Mg	Milligram
μg	Microgram
MODY	Maturity onset diabetes of the young
NCEP-ATPIII	National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel
NDDG	National Diabetes Data Group
NICE	National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence
Nmol	Nanomol
NZSSD	New Zealand Society for the Study of Diabetes
OGTT	Oral Glucose Tolerance Test
RAK	Ras Al Khaimah

RAKREC	RAK Research Ethics Committee
SOGC	Society of Obstetricians and Gynecologists of Canada
TNF-a	Tumor Necrosis Factor – alpha
UVB	Ultra Violet B
UAE	United Arab Emirates
USA	United States of America

WHO World Health Organization

## **Chapter 1: Introduction**

### **1.1 Overview of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus**

Gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) is a type of diabetes that is developed during pregnancy (ADA, 2015). During pregnancy, various hormones such as human placental lactogen (HPL), estrogen, progesterone and cortisol are produced by the placenta and ovaries to maintain the pregnancy, these hormones can disrupt the uptake of insulin by body cells which could lead to insulin resistance and consequently increase blood glucose concentrations (Reece et al., 2009). This condition can develop at any gestational age; however, the majority of cases are reported after 24 weeks (ADA, 2015).

# **1.2 Statement of the Problem**

Recent data indicates that the burden of GDM has increased by 10 - 100% in various populations during the last two decades (Ferrara et al., 2007; Dabelea et al., 2005). This increase in the burden of GDM is thought to be somewhat responsible for increasing burden of metabolic complications in both mothers and offspring (Ferrara et al., 2007).

As mentioned earlier, vitamin D deficiency and GDM are common conditions in Emirati pregnant women. However, a few studies have examined their association in the region and country. In addition, these studies have various limitations. First, the majority of previous studies used a cross-sectional study design; therefore, temporality of the association between vitamin D and GDM could not be established. Second, findings regarding the direction of association were inconsistent. Last, the most of studies did not account for confounding factors such as physical activity and diet.

The UAE has experienced a rapid economic growth in recent decades, which has considerably changed physical activity patterns and dietary habits of the people (Ng et al., 2011). Since these life-style risk factors are strongly associated with GDM and vitamin D deficiency, a limited research has explored the role of diet and physical activity in the development of GDM in the region including the UAE.

It is well-established that exercise and dietary interventions can effectively improve the management of type 2 diabetes and GDM (Asemi et al., 2013; Brankston et al., 2004). However, in the UAE, primary focus is on the pharmacological management of GDM, which needs to be shifted to lowering its risk factors.

Prospective epidemiological studies are needed with better study designs and quality to understand the pathophysiology and etiology of GDM and to determine the association between vitamin D and other factors and GDM to decrease the burden and impact of the condition on mothers and their children.

# **1.3 Relevant Literature**

### 1.3.1 Pathophysiology and Etiology of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus

Insulin resistance is increased in pregnant women three times compared to non-pregnant women. Auto-immune diabetes and  $\beta$ -cell dysfunction may correlated with GDM and glucose intolerance during pregnancy as studies showed that the prevalence of auto-immune markers of type 1 diabetes in women with GDM was between 0.98 and 14.7% (Baz et al., 2016). This is characterized by circulating immune markers directed against pancreatic islets (anti-islet cell antibodies) or  $\beta$ -cell antigens (such as Glutamic Acid Decarboxylase (GAD), or insulin autoantibodies (Kaaja et al., 2008).

Studies showed that low insulin sensitivity and high insulin resistance during pregnancy is related to pregnancy hormones such as estrogen, and progesterone (influence  $\beta$ -cell function in early pregnancy and increase insulin resistance in late pregnancy, cortisol (decreases glucose tolerance and increase blood glucose ), and placental hormones as Human Placental Lactogen, and Prolactin increase during pregnancy to preserve pregnancy (Baz et al., 2016)

It has been showed that Human Chorionic Gonadotropin (HCG) may have no effect on insulin resistance during pregnancy as it increases during the first trimester, the period which is associated with an increase in insulin sensitivity and improvement of glucose tolerance (Palani et al., 2014). Prolactin may have no role on glucose tolerance during pregnancy, as studies demonstrated that there were no significant differences in the level of plasma prolactin among GDM and non-GDM women. HPL has a main role in stimulating insulin-like growth factor (IGF) production to provide more fuel for the fetus in form of glucose and amino acids ( Palani et al., 2014).

Studies demonstrated that adiponectin levels (in adipose tissue which controls local storage and distribution of fat by stimulating glucose uptake in muscles), decrease with advancing gestation leading to high glucose levels (Palani et al., 2014).

It has been shown that Tumor Necrosis Factor alpha (TNF-a) may promote insulin resistance as it prohibit the insulin receptor, high level of TNF-a during pregnancy associate with progressive insulin resistance (Baz et al., 2016).

### 1.3.2 Screening and Diagnosis of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus

The screening of GDM is usually based on Glucose Challenge Test (GCT), while its diagnosis is based on Oral Glucose Tolerance Test (OGTT) (ADA, 2015). In addition, two approaches are usually employed to screen and diagnose GDM. In the two-step approach, 50g GCT is administered to screen women for GDM followed by administering the 100g OGTT to GCT-positive women to diagnose GDM. The one-step approach administers OGTT directly to diagnose GDM (ADA, 2015).

A substantial disagreement exists over the gestational age at which women should be screened for GDM. In 1964, Sullivan and Mahan introduced the Oral Glucose Tolerance Test (OGTT) to diagnose GDM. However, the gestational age was not specified by them. In 1982, Carpenter and Coustan were the first to suggest the gestational age of 24 - 33 weeks for screening of GDM. In 1996, the French College of Gynecologists and Obstetricians (FCNGO) recommended using OGTT in 24 - 28 weeks of gestation in low-risk gestational women. In the same year, the European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD) suggested a single step OGTT at 28 weeks of gestation.

In 2000, the American Diabetes Association (ADA) recommended performing the 75 g OGTT at 24 - 28 weeks of gestation. Since 2000, the majority of guidelines have unanimously recommended to administer OGTT at 24 - 28 weeks of gestation to screen for GDM; however, the rationale behind this approach has not been provided (Liu et al., 2016). Table 1.1 shows the history of OGTT for diagnosis of GDM.

Year	Author/Organization	Gestational Age	Major Contribution
1964	O' Sullivan & Mahan	No recommendation	To evaluate the risk of future development of T2D in the mother Introduced OGTT as a diagnostic criterion for GDM
1967	NDDG	No recommendation	Test plasma rather than whole blood to increase reproducibility
1982	Carpenter & Coustan	24 – 33 weeks	Apply the glucose oxidase method rather than the Somogyi-Nelson method to avoid the measurement of other substances
1996	CNGOF	24 – 28 weeks	First to recommend gestational age in low-risk pregnant women
1996	EASD	28 weeks	One step OGTT
2000	ADA	24 – 28 weeks	The cut-off to diagnose GDM was set at 5.3-10.0-8.6 mmol/L in 75 g OGTT
2008	HAPO study	24 – 32 weeks	Focused on perinatal outcomes associated with OGTT value
2010	IADPSG	24 – 28 weeks	Adjusted diagnosis cut-offs
2011	ADA	24 – 28 weeks	
2013	WHO	24 – 28 weeks	
2015	ADA	24 – 28 weeks	

Table 1.1: History of Oral Glucose Tolerance Test for Diagnosis of GDM

ADA: American Diabetes Association, CNGOF: French College of Gynecologists & Obstetricians, EASD: European Association for the Study of Diabetes, GDM: Gestational Diabetes Mellitus, HAPO: Hyperglycemia & Adverse Pregnancy Outcomes, IADPSG: International Association of Diabetes & Pregnancy Study Groups, NDBG: National Diabetes Data Group, OGTT: Oral Glucose Tolerance Test, WHO: World Health Organization

Source: Adapted from (Liu et al., 2016)

Advising	Year	Screening	Screening method Glucose		Glucose Thresholds (mmol/L)				No. of OGTT
Body		advise	(Positive cut-off $\geq$ )	load-g	Fasting	1hr	2hr	3hr	values for diagnosis
NDDG	1979	None	50g GCT (7.8)	100	5.8	10.5	9.2	8.0	2
ADA	2003	All but for	50g GCT (7.8)	100	5.3	10.0	8.6	7.8	2
		those at low	0 ( )	75	5.3	10.0	8.6	-	2
C & C	1982	None		100	53	10.0	8.6	7.8	2
IADPSG	2010	All	75g OGTT	75	5.1	10.0	8.5		-
CDA	2003	All	50g GCT (7.8)	75	5.3	10.6	8.9	-	2
CDA	2013		50g GCT (7.8)	75	5.3	10.6	9.0	-	1
SOGC	2002	All except	50g GCT (7.8)	100	5.3	10.0	8.6	7.8	2
		low risk	8 - ( /	75	5.3	10.0	8.6	-	2
BSD	2014	All	FPG (4.7)	75	5.1	10.0	8.5		1
NICE	2015	Clinical risk	75g OGTT	75	5.6	-	7.8	-	1
EASD	1991	NS	NS	75	5.5 or 6.0			9.0	1
JDS	2013	All	50g GCT (7.8)	75	5.1	10.0	8.5	-	2
DIPSI	2009	-	-	75	-	-	7.8		
ADIPS	2014	All, unless resources	75g OGTT	75	5.1	10.0	8.5	-	1
NZSSD	1998	All	50g GCT (7.8) 75g (8.0)	75	5.5	-	9.0	-	1
WHO	2013	All	75g OGTT	75	5.1	10.0	8.5	-	1

Table 1.2: Comparison of screening and diagnostic criteria of GDM

ADA: American Diabetes Association, ADIPS: Australian Diabetes in Pregnancy Society, BSD: Brazilian Society of Diabetes, CDA: Canadian Diabetes Association, C & C: Carpenter & Coustan, EASD: European Association for the Study of Diabetes, DIPSI: Diabetes in Pregnancy Study Group in India, FPG: Fasting Plasma Glucose, JDS: Japan Diabetes Society, NDDG: National Diabetes Data Group, NZSSD: New Zealand Society for the Study of Diabetes, NICE: National Institute for Health & Care Excellent, NS: Not specified, SOGC: Society of Obstetricians and Gynecologists of Canada, WHO: World Health Organization

Source: Adapted from (Agarwal et al, 2015)

# **1.3.3 Epidemiology of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus**

# 1.3.3.1 Worldwide and European Countries

GDM is a common condition that is estimated to affect 1 - 14% of pregnant women (ADA, 2015). According to recent estimates, the burden of both GDM and diabetes is increasing worldwide (Wild et al., 2004; Feig et al., 2008). However, it is difficult to estimate the prevalence of GDM due to the choice and timings of the diagnostic tests and socio-demographic and environmental factors of the population under study (Bener et al., 2013; Agarwal et al., 2005). In European countries, the prevalence of GDM ranges between 2 and 6%.

In the United States of America (USA) 7% of pregnant women are affected by GDM with more than 200,000 cases every year. In addition, two studies showed that incidence of GDM in multi-ethnic women in the USA increased from 4% in 1991 to 6% in 2002 (Olsen et al., 2016; Buchanan et al., 2012).

# 1.3.3.2 Asia and Middle Eastern Countries

Research suggests that the burden of GDM is higher in Asian women than European and American women. A study conducted in New York documented that South Asian women (Pakistani, Indian, Sri Lankan) had a higher prevalence of GDM than South East Asian (Malaysian, Thai, Cambodian, Filipino) and East Asian women (Japanese, Chinese, South Korean, Taiwanese) (Savitz et al., 2008). Another study conducted in Australia showed that South Asian women had the highest rate of GDM (69%) of other ethnic groups (Girgis et al., 2012). According to a review, the prevalence of GDM ranged from 3 to 21% in Asian women (Yuen & Wong, 2015). In China and India, GDM is reported to affect 13.9% and 14.3% of women (Alzaim & Wood, 2013).

The burden of GDM in Middle Eastern Countries is reported to be among the highest in the world. In Bahrain, the incidence of GDM has increased from 7.2% in 2002 to 12.5% in 2010 (Rajab et al., 2012). The burden of GDM has been reported as the highest (36.6%) in Saudi Arabia, while it was 16% in Qatar and 12 - 25% in the UAE (Al-Rubeaan et al., 2014; Bener et al., 2011; Agarwal et al., 2010).

#### **1.3.4** Complications of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus

Gestational Diabetes increases the risk of various immediate and long-term complications in pregnant women and their offspring. Some of the major complications are discussed below.

#### **1.3.4.1 Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus**

It is well established that women with GDM are at increased risk of developing type 2 Diabetes in later years. A study reported that approximately 10% of women with GDM develop type 2 diabetes soon after the delivery and 20 - 60% develop type 2 diabetes within 5 to 10-year period after the pregnancy (Buchanan et al., 2012). A meta-analysis conducted on Caucasian and mixed population documented that the risk of diabetes was seven fold higher in women with GDM (Bellamy et al., 2009). In another systematic review of twenty eight epidemiological studies, the cumulative incidence of type 2 diabetes among pregnant women was found between 3 and 72% soon after the delivery and 42% after eight years of pregnancy (Kim et al., 2002).

### **1.3.4.2** Cardiovascular Diseases (CVDs)

Studies have consistently shown a significant relationship between GDM and CVDs. A matched case control study on pregnant women showed that women with GDM were at 51% higher risk of developing CVDs as compared to women without GDM (Fadl et al., 2014). Another population based study found 25% higher risk of CVDs in women with GDM compared to those without GDM (Goueslard et al., 2016). According to Shah and others women with GDM were at 70% higher risk of

developing coronary and cardiovascular events than women without GDM (Shah et al., 2008).

### 1.3.4.3 Metabolic Syndrome

Some evidence suggests positive association of GDM with metabolic syndrome (constellation of insulin resistance, hypertension and dyslipidemia). For instance, a meta-analysis of seventeen studies conducted in 2014 demonstrated 3.96 (95% CI: 2.99 - 5.26) higher odds of metabolic syndrome in women with GDM as compared to those not having GDM (Xu et al., 2014). In a follow up study of pregnant women, the risk of developing metabolic syndrome as per Adult Treatment Panel III criteria (presence of  $\geq$  3 risk factors) was 2.3 times higher in women with GDM than those without GDM (Gunderson et al., 2009).

# 1.3.4.4 Macrosomia in Offspring

Women with GDM are more likely to give birth to macrosomic babies, which increases risk for shoulder dystocia, bone fractures and nerve palsies (Buchanan et al., 2012). A cohort study conducted in Qatar reported that 10% of women with GDM gave birth to macrosomic babies versus 6% in non-GDM women (p = 0.01) (Bener et al., 2011).

# 1.3.4.5 Type 2 Diabetes in Offspring

Literature shows that offspring of women with GDM are at increased risk of glucose intolerance and type 2 Diabetes. According to a systematic review, nearly half (47%) of the cases of diabetes in youth can be attributed to GDM (Veeraswamy

et al., 2012), while another study showed that hyperglycemia in utero in Pima Indian women led to diabetes in 40% of their children (5 - 19 years) (Reece et al., 2009).

# 1.3.4.6 Obesity in Offspring

GDM is shown to increase the likelihood of obesity in children, adolescents and adults. In Pima Indian population, higher average body mass index (BMI) was observed in offspring aged 6 - 24 years who were born to women with GDM as compared to the offspring of women without GDM (p = 0.003) (Dabelea et al., 2005). Similarly, compared to 409 children of non-diabetic and non-GDM mothers, average BMI was significantly higher in 95 children (10 - 13 years) who were born to mothers with GDM and type 2 Diabetes (Crume et al., 2011).

# **1.3.5 Risk Factors of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus**

# 1.3.5.1 Maternal Age

High maternal age is a significant risk factor of GDM. According to Reece et al. the risk of developing GDM was 7 - 10 times higher in pregnant women who were older than 24 years than those younger than 24 years (Reece et al., 2009). A retrospective cohort study of 656 women reported higher incidence of GDM in women aged 35 years and above versus younger women (18.6% vs 11.1%, p = 0.01) (Cozzolino et al., 2017). Similarly, another study showed a significant positive association of advancing maternal age, pre-pregnancy body mass index, family history of diabetes with GDM in Chinese women (Leng et al., 2015).

#### 1.3.5.2 Race and Ethnicity

Studies have found that some ethnic groups are at a higher risk of developing GDM. Asian women are considered among the high-risk group of developing GDM. For instance, a longitudinal study conducted in the USA found that women who were from India, Middle East and Latin America were at a higher risk of developing GDM than other nationalities (Dode & Dos Santos, 2009). Similarly, according to another study from the USA, the age adjusted prevalence of GDM was the highest in Asian Indian (11%), Filipinos (9.6%) and South East Asian (8.8%) women and the lowest in White (4.2%) and Black (4.4%) women (Hedderson et al., 2010). Another study conducted in New York concluded that burden of GDM was higher in South Asian women than other nationalities that include South East Asian and East Asian women (Savitz et al., 2008).

# 1.3.5.3 Obesity

Obesity is considered as a strong risk factor for GDM. Moreover, a large body of evidence claims that GDM is increasing worldwide largely due to parallel rise in the burden of obesity. Studies have shown that obese women (BMI  $\geq 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ) are at 3 times (p < 0.001) higher risk for developing GDM as compared to non-obese women (Reece et al., 2009; Hunt & Schuller et al., 2007). According to the results of a systematic review and a meta-analysis of eight studies, women with excessive weight gain were 40% (p < 0.001) more likely to develop GDM as compared to those without excessive weight gain (Rajab et al., 2012).

#### **1.3.5.4 Family History of Type 2 Diabetes**

Positive family history of type 2 Diabetes is an important risk factor of GDM. As reported by Cypryk and colleagues, 40% of women with GDM had a first degree relative with diabetes (p < 0.05) (Cypryk et al., 2008). While another study ascertained that positive family history of diabetes increased the risk of GDM by 115% (Yang et al., 2009). This relationship is further supported by the positive findings of a meta-analysis (Moosazadeh et al., 2017).

# 1.4 Overview of Vitamin D

Vitamin D is a fat-soluble hormone that exists in two major forms. Vitamin  $D_2$  or Ergocalciferol is synthesized by yeasts and fungi and is naturally present in foods like fish, egg yolk, mushroom and dairy products. Vitamin D3 or Cholecalciferol is synthesized in the skin of mammals from 7-dehydrocholesterol by the exposure to ultraviolet B (UVB) irradiation. Vitamin D is biologically inert and requires hydroxylation for the activation. In the first step, vitamin D is converted to 25-hydroxyvitamin D 25(OH)D in the liver, also known as calcidiol. In the second step 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D (1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D) or calcitriol is produced in kidneys. These active forms of vitamin D are used as indicators of vitamin D status in the body (Dalgård, Petersen, Weihe, & Grandjean, 2011a). Vitamin D obtained from the food fulfills 10% of body's requirement of vitamin D while 90% of its requirement are met by the sunlight (Wagner et al., 2012).

### 1.4.1 Functions of Vitamin D

Vitamin D plays an essential role in maintaining various functions of the body. It helps in mineralization of bones by increasing the absorption of calcium and blocking the release of parathyroid hormone. It also regulates immune function, cell proliferation and cellular differentiation (Lips et al., 2010). In addition, it maintains normal insulin sensitivity by stimulating the secretion of insulin from the pancreas (Al-Shoumer & Al-Essa, 2015).

# 1.4.2 Recommended Intake of Vitamin D in Pregnant Women

There is a controversy over the ideal daily intake of vitamin D in pregnancy. In 2011, the Institute of Medicine Committee (IOM) recommended dietary intake of 600 IU of vitamin D per day in pregnancy (Institute of Medicine (US) Committee to Review Dietary Reference Intakes for Vitamin D and Calcium, 2011). As per recommendations of the Food and Nutrition Board, both pregnant and non-pregnant women aged less than 50 years are advised to take 200 IU of vitamin D per day (Mulligan et al., 2010). According to another study, 5000 IU/day are necessary to maintain normal vitamin D status in the body (Barrett & McElduff, 2010). In Scandinavia, pregnant women are advised to take 400 IU of vitamin D daily to maintain its adequate status of 25 nmol/l. In the USA and Canada, the daily recommended intake of vitamin D is 600 IU (Mulligan et al., 2010).

In the UAE and other gulf countries, guidelines for vitamin D supplementation have been developed recently. According to these guidelines, pregnant and breast feeding women are advised to take 1500 - 2000 IU of vitamin D daily (Haq et al., 2016). Besides setting up these guidelines, other initiatives such as fortification of cooking oil, milk and milk products with vitamin D have been launched by the country to improve vitamin D levels in the population (Wimalawansa et al., 2013). However, various issues have been reported with these initiatives, which might be hampering their effectiveness. For instance, a study conducted in Al Ain in 2011 reported that the level of vitamin D fortification was not mentioned on the labels of oils. The study also found that 87% of milk products were fortified with vitamin D; however, only 39% of these fortified samples had the adequate levels (0.8-1.2  $\mu$ g/100 ml) of vitamin D, 31% were under fortified and 30% were over fortified (Laleye et al., 2011). Although, this study has pointed out important issues in the fortification of food products, more research is required to support these claims.

# 1.4.3 Diagnosis of Vitamin D Deficiency and Insufficiency

Various guidelines exist to diagnose vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency. These guidelines vary with respect to cut-off points that are used to diagnose vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency (Kennel et al., 2010). The existence of multiple guidelines presents a major challenge in estimating and comparing the burden of vitamin D deficiency within and across populations. Also, it considerably affects the clinical management of vitamin D deficiency.

Two widely used guidelines for diagnosing vitamin D deficiency are those developed by (IOM) and the Endocrine Society Clinical Practice (Holick et al., 2011; Ross et al., 2011). The cut-off points for vitamin D concentration 25(OH)D recommended by these guidelines are elaborated in Table 1.3.
25(OH)D concentration		Vitamin D status		
nmol/L	ng/ml	Vitanini D Status		
Institute of Medici	ine			
<30.0	<12.0	Deficiency		
30.0-50.0	12.0-20.0	Insufficiency		
≥50.0	≥20.0	Adequate/Sufficiency		
>125.0	>50.0	High levels		
The Endocrine Society Clinical Practice				
<50.0	<20.0	Deficiency		
52.5-72.5	21.0-29.0	Insufficiency		
≥75.0	≥30.0	Adequate/Sufficiency		

Table 1.3: Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D [25(OH)D] concentrations and vitamin D deficiency

Source: (Ross et al., 2011; Holick et al., 2011)

# 1.4.4 Epidemiology of Vitamin D Deficiency and Insufficiency

# 1.4.4.1 Worldwide and European Countries

Vitamin D deficiency is a global health problem. Approximately, one billion people worldwide are estimated to have vitamin D deficiency, while 50% have vitamin D insufficiency (Nair & Maseeh, 2012). In the US and Europe more than 40% of adults are vitamin D deficient.

Compared to the general population, vitamin D deficiency is more common in pregnant women due to increased demands of vitamin D in pregnancy (Dawodu et al., 2003; Seth et al., 2009). However, its prevalence varies remarkably across countries and continents due to various factors. Studies from the US, Australia, South Asia and the Middle East have reported that 20 - 98% of women develop vitamin D deficiency during pregnancy, while 66 - 100% develop vitamin D insufficiency (Narchi et al., 2010; Dalgård et al., 2011). Similar to these studies, a review documented that 40 - 98% of women have vitamin D levels < 50 nmol/L (Dawodu & Wagner, 2007).

### 1.4.4.2 Asia and Middle Eastern Countries

There is some evidence that the levels of vitamin D are generally lower in Middle Eastern and South Asian women because of decreased dietary intake of vitamin D and inadequate sunlight exposure (Saadi et al., 2010; Nair & Maseeh, 2012; Eggemoen et al., 2016). A study conducted in Saudi Arabia found that 50% of pregnant women had vitamin D deficiency (Al-Faris et al., 2016). While several studies from other Middle Eastern countries have documented that the prevalence of vitamin D deficiency ranges between 10% and 60% (Dawodu et al., 2003; Bener, et al., 2013; Al-Mohaimeed et al., 2012).

Consistent with regional estimates, vitamin D deficiency is a major problem in the UAE. According to recent estimates, vitamin D deficiency effects 37 - 65% of the Emirati population (Laleye et al., 2011). Similar to the general population, a high proportion of pregnant women are vitamin D deficient in the country. A prospective study (75 women) showed that 69% of Emirati pregnant women were vitamin D deficient (< 10 ng/ml) (Narchi et al., 2010).

### 1.4.4.3 Consequences of Vitamin D Deficiency and Insufficiency

Inadequate levels of vitamin D are associated with various adverse health outcomes. Vitamin D deficiency increases the risk of osteoporosis and rickets (Holick & Chen, 2008). In pregnant women vitamin D deficiency may lead to preeclampsia, miscarriage, cesarean section and pre-term birth. In utero or early life, inadequate levels of vitamin D increase the risk of neonatal hypocalcaemia, rickets, type 1 diabetes, asthma and schizophrenia (Nair & Maseeh, 2012; Aghajafari et al., 2013).

### 1.4.4.4 Risk factors of Vitamin D Deficiency and Insufficiency

## Age

Vitamin D deficiency influences all age groups. Nevertheless, elderly people are at higher risk of developing vitamin D deficiency because their skin loses efficiency to synthesize vitamin D, they have inadequate intake of vitamin D and spend more time indoors (Lips et al., 2010; Nair & Maseeh, 2012).

# Sex

Studies have shown that females are more likely to develop vitamin D deficiency than males particularly in Middle East countries where women cover their most of the body parts and do not get frequent exposure to sunlight (Verdoia et al., 2015).

## **Skin Pigmentation**

Synthesis of vitamin D is associated with skin pigmentation. Melanin in the skin scatters UVR-B and delays the conversion of 7-dehydrocholesterol to previtamin D3. Therefore, synthesis rate of vitamin D is slower in people with dark skin as compared to light-skinned people. In light-skinned adults, full exposure to the sun till skin turns slightly pink would generate 10,000 - 20,000 IU of vitamin D within 24 hours of exposure. In contrast, people with dark skin need ten times more exposure to generate the same amount of Vitamin D (Bonilla et al., 2014; Nair & Maseeh, 2012).

### **Clothing Style**

Clothing could influence the synthesis of vitamin D from the skin. In the Middle East, Africa and other Muslim countries, women practice of veil limits their exposure to sunlight. Various studies have demonstrated veil as an independent factor of vitamin D status (Lips et al., 2010; Saadi et al., 2007).

# Latitude and Seasonality

Vitamin D levels differ according to the latitude. People living in Northern latitudes are more vitamin D deficient than those living in southern latitudes. Climate type and seasons also affect the levels of vitamin D (Holmes et al., 2009). In winter, vitamin D deficiency is higher than the summer in northern latitudes. In the UAE, the situation differs as in the summer vitamin D deficiency is more frequent compared to the Winter season because people avoid the sun in the summer (Al Anouti et al., 2011).

### **Diseases and Drugs**

Some diseases such as liver disease, cystic fibrosis and Crohn's disease can cause vitamin D deficiency by affecting the metabolism and absorption of vitamin D. Also, the chronic use of steroids, immune-suppressants, anticonvulsants, rifampicin, and antiretroviral drugs can also affect the metabolism and absorption of vitamin D and calcium (Nair & Maseeh, 2012).

### **Dietary Consumption of Vitamin D**

Research has demonstrated that the foods rich in vitamin D such as fatty fish and cod liver oil are consumed more by some countries like Sri Lanka and Vietnam as compared to Pakistanis (Lips et al., 2010).

## **1.5 Literature Review**

## 1.5.1 Association Between Vitamin D Deficiency and GDM

## 1.5.1.1 Worldwide

Research suggests that vitamin D deficiency may contribute to the development of GDM (Burris et al., 2012; Lacroix et al., 2014; McElduff et al., 2008). However, the exact mechanism of association is unclear. Some literature describes that vitamin D is essential for maintaining insulin sensitivity and glucose homeostasis by enhancing insulin sensitivity and secretion. Also, it plays an important role in stimulating insulin receptors and taking glucose in adipose cells and muscles. Furthermore, it helps in reducing the inflammatory process that decreases the functional capacity of pancreatic β-cells. Therefore, the deficiency of vitamin D may cause dysfunction in pancreatic β-cells and impair the function and uptake of insulin (Joergensen et al., 2014; El Lithy et al., 2014).

The epidemiological evidence regarding the association between vitamin D deficiency and risk of GDM is contradictory. Numerous studies from various parts of the world have shown a positive association between these conditions. For instance, in 2015, a meta-analysis of twenty observational studies that included 9209 participants concluded that pooled odds of GDM were 1.53 (95% CI: 1.33-1.75)

times in women with vitamin D deficiency as compared to women with no deficiency (Zhang et al., 2015). Two other meta-analysis of thirty-one and seven studies showed that pooled odds of GDM were 1.49 (95% CI: 1.18-1.89) and 1.61 (95% CI: 1.19 - 2.18, p = 0.002) respectively in women with insufficient vitamin D versus women with sufficient levels (Aghajafari et al., 2013; Poel et al., 2012). A cross-sectional study conducted in a hospital in Turkey reported a significant association of severe vitamin D deficiency with GDM (Zuhur et al., 2013). Moreover, according to a review, seven large observational studies conducted in Iran, Korea, China and Arab Countries reported a significant association between vitamin D deficiency and GDM (Joergensen et al., 2014).

In contrast, some studies have shown no association between GDM and vitamin D. A meta-analysis that included thirteen randomized control trials found similar risk (RR: 0.88, 95% CI: 0.5 - 1.52) of GDM in both vitamin D deficient and non-deficient groups (Pérez-López et al., 2015). A prospective cohort study of 310 women carried out in Madigan Army Medical Center in Washington, USA claimed that association between vitamin D deficiency and GDM was insignificant (Adjusted OR:2.60, 95% CI: 0.28-27.4) (Flood-Nichols, et al., 2015). Similar to observational studies, a double randomized control trial failed to find a significant difference in the incidence of GDM in women who received 5000 IU (10.5%) of vitamin D in pregnancy versus those who received 400 IU daily (13%) (Yap et al., 2014).

#### **1.5.1.2 Middle East and the UAE**

Like other countries, studies carried out in the Middle East have reported conflicting findings concerning the association between GDM and vitamin D deficiency. In addition, only a few cohort studies have been carried out in the region and none in the UAE to examine the relationship between these intricate problems.

A cross-sectional study conducted in Egypt on 160 pregnant women aged 24-40 years found that average vitamin D levels were not significantly different between vitamin D deficient and non-deficient groups ( $47.3 \pm 10.2 \text{ vs } 46.6 \pm 6.1$ ) (El Lithy et al., 2014). Another case-control study conducted in Turkey including 122 pregnant women (44 with GDM and 78 non-GDM), did not find any correlation of serum vitamin D with serum fasting glucose (p = 0.9), insulin levels (p = 0.2) or HbA1c levels (p = 0.1) (Ates et al., 2017).

Conversely, a cross-sectional study in Iran found significant inverse associations between serum level of 25(OH)D and HbA1c at the beginning of the pregnancy (p < 0.001), insulin levels in the second trimester (p = 0.004) and blood sugar (p = 0.045) after consuming 75 g glucose. Likewise, another study in Iran noted a significant difference in vitamin D levels among GDM and normal groups ( $16.5 \pm 10.4 \text{ vs } 23.0 \pm 18.3, p < 0.001$ ) (Maghbooli et al., 2008; Jafarzadeh et al., 2015). In Qatar, a cohort study of 1,873 Arab pregnant women above 24 weeks' gestation showed that women with vitamin D deficiency 25(OH) D < 10 ng/ml) had higher odds of GDM (odds ratio: 1.4, 95% CI: 1.1 - 11.8, p = 0.019) as compared to those without GDM (Bener et al., 2011).

#### **1.5.2** Association between Diet and GDM

Diet is known to have a profound effect on the development of GDM during pregnancy. Therefore, the role of diet during pregnancy and in GDM has been explored extensively by clinical and epidemiological studies worldwide.

#### 1.5.2.1 Red Meat

Studies have found that consumption of large amount of red and processed meat is found to be positively correlated with GDM, as cholesterol and saturated fats in the meat negatively affect insulin sensitivity and ß-cell function of pancreas, which may cause GDM. In addition, nitrates which are regularly used as preservative in processed meat are linked to the development of type 2 diabetes (Bao et al., 2014; Zhang & Ning, 2011). According to a cohort study, increasing intake of red and processed meat by one serving per day, elevated the risk of GDM by 61 and 64% respectively (C. Zhang et al., 2006). Also, a systematic review of ten prospective, six cross-sectional and five case-control studies also reported a positive association between higher consumption of red and processed meat with GDM (Zhang et al., 2015).

## **1.5.2.2 Dietary Fiber and Vegetables**

Dietary fiber, which include cereal, vegetables and fruit fiber has been found beneficial in reducing the risk of GDM because these foods have low glycemic index and therefore can achieve better glucose control by decreasing the postprandial glycaemia and slowing down the absorption rate of the carbohydrates (Schulze et al., 2004). As per findings of a study, increasing intake of total fiber by 10g per day decreased the risk of GDM by 26% (95% CI: 9% - 49%), while 5g increment in cereal or fruit fiber per day decreased the risk of GDM by 2.15 folds as compared to common diet consumption (Zhang & Ning, 2011). A few studies have also shown the positive impact of Low Glycemic Index (LGI) on maternal fasting glucose levels and reducing risk of macrosomia (Moses et al., 2009; Louie et al., 2010). A cohort study from China reported that the consumption of vegetables decreased the risk of GDM (He et al., 2015). While the Nurse's Health Study II noticed an inverse association between prudent dietary pattern (fruits, green leafy vegetables, poultry, fish) and GDM (Zhang et al., 2006). According to the findings of another cohort study, pregnant women who adhered to Mediterranean diet during pregnancy had a lower incidence of GDM and better glucose tolerance than those who did not adhere to Mediterranean diet (Karamanos et al., 2014).

#### 1.5.2.3 Fatty Diet

The consumption of diet rich in fat has been linked to the increased risk of GDM. A cohort study claimed that a high fat and low carbohydrate diet is associated with increased risks of glucose intolerance and GDM (Bao et al., 2014). In the cohort study from Italy, the consumption of saturated fats was found to play an independent role in the development of GDM even in the absence of classical risk factors of GDM (Bo et al., 2001). Similarly, another cohort study reported a significant association of high intake of fat and cholesterol during pregnancy with the risk GDM (Bowers et al., 2012). Additionally, a study demonstrated that replacing carbohydrate with fat (per 1% of total calories) elevated the risk of GDM by 10% (Saldana et al., 2004).

## 1.5.2.4 Sweets and Sugar Beverages

The consumption of sweets and sugar beverages during pregnancy is positively associated to GDM. According to the Nurse's Health Study II, women who drank more than 5 servings of sweetened cola were at 22% higher risk of developing GDM than those who drank less than 1 serving (Chen et al., 2009). A study from China revealed that intake of sweets during pregnancy increased risk of GDM by 23% (He et al., 2015).

### **1.5.3 Association Between Physical Activity and GDM**

Exercise improves insulin sensitivity and glycogen synthesis, which results in lower glucose concentrations in the blood. Therefore, exercise is considered as an effective intervention in reducing the risk of type 2 Diabetes (Dempsey et al., 2004; Davenport et al., 2008). However, the evidence regarding the effect of exercise on GDM is conflicting with the majority of studies demonstrating a significant effect of exercise on lowering the risk of GDM. For instance, an observational study mentioned that the risk of GDM is reduced by 20 - 55% in those women who are engaged in various forms and intensities of physical activity during and before pregnancy (Redden et al., 2011). In addition, a prospective study of 909 women showed that women who participated in any vigorous physical activity prior 12 months of their pregnancy had a 56% lower risk of developing GDM (Dempsey et al., 2004). Another study claimed that women who participated in any vigorous physical activity twelve months before pregnancy had a 44% lower risk of developing GDM as compared to inactive women during the same period (Oken et al., 2006). Similarly, two systematic reviews concluded that physical activity intervention reduced the likelihood of GDM by 28 and 33% respectively (Russo et al., 2015; da Silva et al., 2016). In contrast to these studies, a review of thirteen randomized control trials showed an insignificant difference in the risk of developing GDM (RR: 0.92, 95% CI :0.68 - 1.23) between intervention (diet and exercise) and control group (Bain et al., 2015).

Research suggests that amount of physical activity is decreased considerably during pregnancy most probably due to symptoms of nausea and fatigue in early pregnancy and perceived risk to maternal and fetal health (Perichart-Perera et al., 2009). That is why, the Canadian Diabetes Association (CDA) encourages obstetricrisk tailored physical activity during pregnancy, while the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG) advises 30 minutes of moderate physical activity on most days of the week (Chasan-Taber et al., 2011).

To our knowledge, no published data on physical activity in pregnant women are available in the UAE. However, a cross-sectional study carried out in 2009 on Emiratis mentioned that only 30% of Emirati females walked for at least 30 minutes 3 times per week (Al-Kaabi et al., 2009).

# **Chapter 2: Methods**

### 2.1 Aims and Objectives

#### 2.1.1 Aims

The overall aim of this study was to improve understanding about risk factors of GDM and the relationship between vitamin D deficiency and GDM in Emirati population. The findings of this study will guide health regulatory authorities and stakeholders in designing evidence based guidelines and interventions for screening, preventing and managing GDM in the UAE. Also, these findings will help clinicians in the early identification of high risk women and better management and prevention of GDM and its complications.

### 2.1.2 Objectives

## 2.1.2.1 Primary Objectives

- To estimate the incidence of GDM in Emirati pregnant women.
- To investigate whether vitamin D deficiency in early pregnancy (≤ 15 weeks of gestation) is associated with an increased risk of developing GDM in Emirati pregnant women.

# 2.1.2.2 Secondary Objectives

- To examine the association of physical activity before pregnancy with the development of GDM in pregnant Emirati women.
- To explore what type of diet consumed during early pregnancy is associated with an increased risk of GDM in pregnant Emirati women.

To identify significant risk factors of GDM in pregnant Emirati women.

### 2.2 Study Design

-

A prospective cohort study design was adopted to estimate the incidence of GDM and to investigate the effect of vitamin D deficiency, physical activity, diet and other risk factors on the incidence of GDM. This study design has many advantages over other observational designs. First, it allows estimating the incidence of disease. Second, this design is useful in investigating multiple risk factors of diseases. Third, it enables to establish the temporal relationship between an exposure and outcome. Last, a well-designed cohort study can control for confounding factors and recall bias (information bias) as we used FFQ and GPAC questionnaires and the participants were asked about their family history of diabetes. One of the most important confounding factor to this study is the body mass index, family history of Diabetes and vitamin D supplements which have adjusted during the analysis by using logistic regression (Sedgwick et al., 2013).

#### 2.3 Study Site

The study was conducted in Ras Al Khaimah (RAK), which is one of the seven Emirates of the UAE as it was the best destination for the principle investigator who is from RAK and no studies have been carried out on this issue in RAK. In 2015, the total population of RAK was estimated to be 345,000 (RAK Center for Statistics, 2015)

A total of eighteen primary healthcare centers are located in RAK were selected to present the whole city form East to West and South to North. These clinics belong to the RAK medical district and operate under the umbrella of Ministry of Health. The clinics are designated to provide dental treatment, general treatment, mother and child health services, comprehensive antenatal care and nursing services to both Emirati and expatriate population. In 2015, a total of 858,850 people visited these clinics among which 21981 were antenatal visits (Statistics Department, Ras Al Khaimah Medical District [Ministry of Health], 2015).

#### **2.4 Study Population**

We chose eight primary healthcare centers from various parts of the Emirate that were more frequently utilized for antenatal care. The study population comprised Emirati pregnant women who visited these primary healthcare centers for antenatal care between March 2014 and July 2015. A total of 5918 pregnant women sought antenatal care at these clinics during that period (Statistics Department, Ras Al Khaimah Medical District [Ministry of Health], 2015).

### **2.5 Selection of Study Participants**

#### 2.5.1 Inclusion Criteria

The following inclusion criteria were used to select study participants;

- Emirati women who were living in RAK.
- Those women who were aged between 18 and 45 years.
- Women who were  $\leq 15$  weeks of gestation.

### 2.5.2 Exclusion Criteria

The following criteria were used to exclude study participants;

- Women who were younger than 18 years and/or older than 45 years.
- Women who initiated antenatal care after 15 weeks of pregnancy.
- Women with non-singleton pregnancies.
- Women who had previous history of GDM.
- Women who had a positive history of type 1 and type 2 Diabetes mellitus.
- Women who had abnormal liver function and/or hepatitis
- Women who had Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)
- Women who had impaired kidney function

The researcher determined the eligibility of participants by reviewing their medical records followed by interviews to confirm their eligibility. Out of the total (800) women who were screened at selected eight clinics between March 2014 and July 2015, 700 women met the inclusion criteria, while 622 agreed to participate in the study. For an overview of selection process, (see Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1: Flow chart of selection procedure of study participants

# 2.6 Sample Size Calculation

A sample of 507 participants (169 exposed and 338 non-exposed) was required to detect with an 80% power, a relative risk of 1.8. This minimal relevant relative risk value was based on the study by Wang and others who showed that subjects with 25(OH)D level < 25 nmol/l had a 1.8-fold higher risk of developing GDM than those with 25(OH) D level  $\geq$  25 nmol/l. We assumed that 10% of non-exposed women (i.e. without vitamin D deficiency) would have GDM during their follow-up. This assumption was based on the data by (Agarwal et al., 2010), who had shown that the prevalence of GDM in the UAE was 13% including both exposed (vitamin D deficient) and non-exposed women. The sample size was calculated using the function *epi.studysize* from the package *epiR* of the statistical software R version 3.0.2 (R Development Core Team et al., 2008). The probability of type 1 error ( $\alpha$ ) was set to 5% and the sample ratio of exposed to unexposed was set to 2. This choice of unexposed to exposed ratio was based on the finding by Saadi et al. (2010), that the proportion of women with a Vitamin D level in the UAE less than 25 nmol/l (i.e. exposed women) was 35.1%.

#### 2.7 Study Measurements

### 2.7.1 The Outcome Variable

Gestational diabetes was the outcome variable in this study. In RAK primary healthcare centers, GDM is diagnosed in 24 - 28 weeks of gestation by using the two-step approach. In the first step, fasting blood glucose (FBG) of women is measured. Those women who are not fasting are asked to fast for at least 10 hours and come back the next day for the FBG test. In the second step, 75 g OGTT is administered to measure 2-hour postprandial blood glucose.

In this study, we obtained the data of FBG and OGTT and adopted the WHO (2013) to diagnose GDM. According to these criteria, GDM was defined as having fasting blood glucose  $\geq 5.1$  mmol/l or a 2-hour postprandial glucose  $\geq 8.5$  mmol/l in 24 - 28 weeks of gestation.

## 2.7.2 The Primary Exposure Variable

The primary exposure variable was vitamin D deficiency in the first trimester of pregnancy. At baseline, serum concentration of vitamin D metabolites were determined by radioimmunoassay kits from immunodiagnostic systems Cobas e-411 from Roche Company USA. As per IOM criteria, vitamin D insufficiency was defined as serum concentration of 25(OH)D 30-50 nmol/L or 12 - 20 ng/ml and deficiency as serum concentration of 25(OH)D < 30 nmol/L or < 12 ng/ml (Ross et al., 2011) (See Table 1.3 for the cut-offs of vitamin status).

### 2.7.3 Other Measurements

## 2.7.3.1 Socio-demographic Characteristics

In socio-demographic characteristics information about age, household size, level of education, occupation, income, marital status and medical history was collected at baseline. (See Appendix 1 for details).

## 2.7.3.2 Anthropometric Indicators

Anthropometric indicators included height, weight and body mass index (BMI) before and during pregnancy. At baseline, height was measured in centimeters (cm) and weight in kilograms (kg) by using SACA machine. The BMI (kg/m<sup>2</sup>) was calculated by dividing the weight in kg with height in square meters. Obesity was defined as BMI  $\geq$  30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and overweight as BMI  $\geq$  25 - 29.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup> by using the cut-offs recommended by the World Health Organization (WHO, 2004) (See Appendix 1 for details).

# 2.7.3.3 Blood Pressure

Systolic and diastolic blood pressure measurements were taken at baseline by using Welch Allyn 53000 sphygmomanometers. High blood pressure was defined as systolic blood pressure  $\geq$ 140 mmHg or diastolic blood pressure  $\geq$  90 mmHg by using

the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) guidelines (NICE, 2016) (See Appendix 1 for details).

### 2.7.3.4 Physical Activity

The physical activity during the last seven days was measured at baseline by using The Global Physical Activity Questionnaire (GPAQ) ("Global Physical Activity Questionnaire," n.d.). The GPAQ is an internationally validated tool that is developed by the WHO. It subjectively collects information on physical activity over the past week at work; travel to and from places and recreational activities as well as sedentary behavior. It comprises 16 questions which cover vigorous and moderate activity at work, transport activity, vigorous and moderate activity during leisure time and sitting time. (See Appendix 2 for details). The intensity of physical activity is expressed in Metabolic Equivalents (METs), which is defined as the ratio of working metabolic rate relative to the resting metabolic rate. The METs were calculated by following the GPAQ guidelines and low activity performed during the last seven days was categorized into 'low', 'moderate' and 'high' physical activity by following the GPAQ guidelines.

## 2.7.3.5 Dietary Intake

The dietary intake was measured by using a validated Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ). It is one of the most commonly used tools in epidemiologic studies to assess long-term nutritional exposure and to study the relationship between diet and chronic diseases. A short version of FFQ abbreviated as SFFQ has been developed for the UAE and Kuwait (Dehghan et al., 2005). We modified some questions of SFFQ to adopt it for our study. For each food item, participants indicated their average frequency of consumption over the past year of a specified serving size by checking 1 of the 9 frequency categories. We collapsed these frequency categories into 'monthly = 1 - 3 times per month ', 'weekly = 1 - 6 times per week' and 'daily = 1 - 6 times per day' consumption of food. Food items were grouped into nine broad food groups such milk and milk products, fruits, vegetables, meat and meat products, cereals and cereal products, beverages and sweets and nuts with the addition of oil and fat used for cooking and preparing the food, number of meals consumed out of the home and the vitamins and minerals supplements during the last six months (in addition to vitamin D) (See Appendix 3 for details).

### 2.8 Data Collection Procedure

The principal investigator received training in data collection from the Ministry of Health of the UAE. The principal investigator then trained eight nurses in data collection (one from each primary healthcare centers). Prior to data collection, the FFQ, GPAQ and socio-demographic questionnaires were translated into Arabic and pilot tested on a random sample of 25 women. After the piloting, corrections and modifications were made in questionnaires if needed.

At baseline, the principal investigator and nurses conducted face to face interviews with 600 study participants to collect the information about sociodemographic characteristics, medical history, physical activity and dietary intake in pregnancy. In addition, nurses measured blood pressure, height and weight while phlebotomists drew blood samples to measure fasting blood glucose and vitamin D. The blood samples from each health center were transported on the same day to a tertiary care hospital laboratory for the analysis.

After collecting the baseline information, participants were informed by physicians to revisit antenatal clinics in their 24 - 28 weeks of gestation. During their follow-up visit, the blood samples were drawn to screen for GDM. The investigator assessed the medical records of participants or conducted telephonic interviews to confirm the presence of GDM during the pregnancy. The attrition rate was 11.2 %.

## **2.9 Ethical Considerations**

#### **2.9.1 Ethical Approval of Study**

The study was approved by Al Ain Medical District Human Research Ethics Committee (AMDHREC), RAK Research Ethics Committee in RAK Medical District (RAKREC) (See Appendices 4 and 5). The AMDHREC reviews all studies that are performed on human subjects. The purpose of this committee is to ensure that human researches meet acceptable standards of scientific merits, ethics, patient safety and cultural propriety of the UAE.

### 2.9.2 Informed Consent

Eligible participants were given detailed information about the study and were assured of strict confidentiality (See Appendix 6). Both oral and written consent were sought from participants who agreed to participate in the study (See Appendix 7).

### 2.9.3 Confidentiality

A unique identification number was assigned to each participant and names were removed in the data to conceal their identity. Personal information that could identify participants was kept in a separate computer and was accessed only by the researcher. All data were stored in the password protected computer. All participants were assured that their identities will not be disclosed in any publication.

# 2.10 Timeline

The study was completed in a period of approximately thirty-nine months. The study was approved in March 2014 and write-up was completed in June 2017. See Table 2.1 for the detailed timeline of the study.

		2014			20	)15			20	)16		20	17
Items	Mar- May	Jun- Aug	Sep- Dec	Jan- Mar	Apr- Jun	July- Sep	Oct- Dec	Jan- Mar	Apr- Jun	July- Sep	Oct- Dec	Jan- Mar	Apr- Jun
Ethical approval													
Data collection													
Data analysis													
Write-up													

Table 2.1: Time line of the study

### 2.11 Data Analysis

The principal investigator entered the data in IBM Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) version 22.0. The data were inspected for inconsistencies, keystroke errors and missing values to ensure its quality. The statistical analysis was performed in Stata SE version 14.2. In descriptive analysis, qualitative variables were summarized as frequencies and percentages, while quantitative variables were summarized as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation ( $\pm$  SD). The distribution of age and BMI before and during pregnancy was shown in histograms. The prevalence of obesity, high blood pressure, family history of diabetes and vitamin D insufficiency and deficiency were tabulated as well as presented in bar charts. The incidence of GDM, overall and by vitamin D status was summarized as frequencies and percentages and presented as tables and bar charts. Also, the incidence of GDM was cross-tabulated as frequencies and percentages with baseline demographic and clinical characteristics, physical activity levels and dietary intake. Chi-square and Fischer Exact tests were applied to compare differences in proportions of GDM status according to different qualitative variables. Unpaired Student t-tests and Wilcoxon Rank Sum tests were used to test average and median differences in quantitative variables by GDM status.

Simple and multiple binary logistic regression analysis were performed to ascertain the association of vitamin D deficiency, vitamin D status, vitamin D (continuous), physical activity and diet with GDM and identify other significant risk factors of GDM. In the first step, the simple logistic regression analysis was performed to estimate crude odds ratios (COR), confidence intervals (CIs) and p values of GDM for vitamin D deficiency, diet, physical activity and other risk factors. In the second step, multiple logistic regression analysis was performed to dds ratios (AOR), CIs and p values of GDM for vitamin D deficiency, diet, and physical activity along with other risk factors that had p values < 0.10 in simple logistic regression. The p value < 0.05 and 95% CI were chosen to determine statistical significance. This multiple logistic regression analysis was repeated for all three types of variables of vitamin D ([vitamin D deficiency vs

normal vitamin D], [vitamin D insufficiency vs normal vitamin D, vitamin deficiency vs normal vitamin D], [vitamin D as a continuous variable]).

# **Chapter 3: Results**

#### 3.1 Recruitment and Follow-up

The entire data collection was completed in a period of twenty-four months approximately. More specifically, the first participant was recruited in March 2014 and the last participant in July 2015 (See Figure 3.1). The last follow-up was completed in February 2016.



Figure 3.1: Recruitment of participants per calendar

#### **3.2 Baseline Demographic Characteristics**

A total of 563 pregnant women completed the study, while the information regarding the outcome (GDM) was available for 533 women. Sixty-seven women did not complete the study due to miscarriage before 24 weeks and loss to follow-up.

The mean age of women was  $29.5 \pm 5.6$  years and was approximately normally distributed (see Figure 3.2). Above half of the women (52.4%) completed the high school and 36.1% had a college or university degree. The majority of women (98.9%) were married, three-fourth were housewives (75.5%) and around one fifth (18%) were working in non-government organizations. Sixty-three percent of the women had a positive family history of diabetes mellitus (Figure 3.3). (See Table 3.1 for details).

Variables	n (%) / Mean ±SD
Age – Years, Mean ±SD	29.5 ±5.6
Number of women > 18 years, Median (iqr)	3 (2)
Education level, n (%)	
Up to primary	23 (4.1)
Up to secondary	42 (7.5)
Up to high school	295 (52.4)
$\geq$ College/University	203 (36.1)
Marital Status, n (%)	
Married	557 (98.9)
Separated/Divorced/Widowed	6 (1.1)
Work Status, n (%)	
Government employee	93 (16.5)
Non-government employee	8 (1.4)
self employed	10 (0.2)
Student	36 (6.4)
House wife	425 (75.5)
Monthly income – AED, Median (iqr)	24000 (14000)
Family history of Diabetes Mellitus, n (%)	360 (63.9)
n: Frequency, SD: Standard Deviation, iqr: Interqua Emirates Dirham	rtile Range, AED: Arab

Table 3.1: Baseline demographic characteristics of women



Figure 3.2: Distribution of age of women



Figure 3.3: Family history of diabetes in women

#### **3.3 Baseline Clinical Characteristics**

The Table 3.2 shows that the mean body mass index (BMI) of women before pregnancy was  $27.2 \pm 6.8 \text{ kg/m}^2$  and during early pregnancy was  $27.8 \pm 6.8 \text{ kg/m}^2$ . The distribution of BMI before and during pregnancy was slightly positively skewed due to high values of BMI for some women (See Figure 3.4). Approximately one fourth (26.5%) of the women were overweight and 30.5% were obese before pregnancy (see Figure 3.5). The mean systolic blood pressure was  $107.1 \pm 11.4$  mmHg and diastolic pressure was  $64.2 \pm 9.5$  mmHg. A small proportion (1.6%) of women had a hypertension according to NICE criteria (See Figure 3.6).



Figure 3.4: Distribution of Body Mass index of women before and during early pregnancy

Variables	n (%) / Mean ±SD				
Anthropometric indices					
Height – cm, Mean ±SD	$158 \pm 5.3$				
Weight before pregnancy $-$ kg, Mean $\pm$ SD	$68.1 \pm 17.4$				
Weight during pregnancy – kg, Mean ±SD	$69.7 \pm 17.5$				
Body Mass Index before pregnancy $- kg/m^2$ , Mean $\pm$ SD	$27.2 \pm 6.8$				
Body Mass Index before pregnancy categories – WHO, n (%)					
Normal (< $25.0 \text{ kg/m}^2$ )	242 (43.0)				
Overweight $(25.0 - 29.9 \text{ kg/m}^2)$	149 (26.5)				
Obese ( $\geq 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$ )	172 (30.5)				
Body Mass Index during early pregnancy $- kg/m^2$ , Mean $\pm$ SD	$27.8 \pm 6.8$				
Blood Pressure – mmHg					
Systolic Blood Pressure, Mean ±SD 107.1 ±11.4					
Diastolic Blood Pressure, Mean ±SD64.2 ±9.5					
High blood pressure, n (%)9 (1.6)					
n: Frequency, SD: Standard Deviation, OGTT: Oral Glucose Tolerance Test, ADA:					
American Diabetes Association, IOM: Institute of Medicine, WHO: World Health					

Table 3.2: Baseline clinical characteristics of women

American Diabetes Association, IOM Organization



Figure 3.5: Prevalence of overweight and obesity in women



Figure 3.6: High blood pressure in women

# 3.4 Baseline Physical Activity Levels

Table 3.3 shows that the median (IQR) METs score per week of pregnant women was 840 (1320) minutes and sedentary time per day was 240 (280) minutes. Physical activity per day related to work was reported by 6.6% of women, travel by 51.7% and recreation by half (50.4%) of the women. According to the WHO criteria, below one tenth of the women (8.5%) reported performing high physical activity, 55.6% moderate physical activity, while 35.9% of women reported performing low physical activity (See Figure 3.7).

Variables	n (%)
Total METs per week, Median (iqr)	840 (1320)
Low physical activity (METs <600 / week), n (%)	129 (34.4)
Physical activity levels per day, n (%)	
High	46 (8.5)
Moderate	300 (55.6)
Low	194 (35.9)
Work related moderate and vigorous physical activity per day, n (%)	37 (6.6)
Travel physical activity per day, n (%)	291 (51.7)
Recreational moderate and vigorous physical activity per day, n (%)	284 (50.4)
Sedentary time per day – minutes, Median (iqr)	240 (280)
n: frequency, iqr: Interquartile Range, METs: Metabolic Equivalents	

Table 3.3: Physical activity levels of women



Figure 3.7: Levels of physical activity in women

#### **3.5 Baseline Supplements and Dietary Intake**

Table 3.4 shows the use of vitamin D and other supplements in women at baseline. Approximately one fifth (19.0%) of the women reported using vitamin D, multivitamins or / and mineral supplements during the last six months. Of the women who were using vitamin D supplements, the majority (98.2%) were using these supplements for a period of less than one year.

Variables	n (%)			
Use of multivitamins /minerals during the last six months	107(19.0)			
Duration of using multivitamins/minerals				
< 1 year	104 (18.5)			
1-3 years	2 (0.4)			
4-6 years	1 (0.2)			
Vitamin D supplements use during the last six months	112 (19.9)			
Frequency of vitamin D supplements use				
< one year	110 (98.2)			
1-3 years	1 (0.9)			
4-6 years	1 (0.9)			
n: Frequency				

Table 3.4: Use of supplements in women

Table 3.5 shows intake of milk and milk products in women. These three categories of intake (monthly, weekly and daily) correspond to the nine categories in the FFQ as we consider the daily intake 1 - 6 times per day, the weekly intake 1 - 6 times per week and monthly 1 - 3 times per month. About one fourth (26.3%) of the women reported consuming milk daily, 29.8% weekly and 43.9% monthly. Nearly one fifth (19.5%) of the women were consuming yogurt daily, while the majority (61.8%) were consuming it weekly.

Variables	n (%)
Milk	
Monthly	247 (43.9)
Weekly	168 (29.8)
Daily	148 (26.3)
Yogurt	
Monthly	105 (18.7)
Weekly	348 (61.8)
Daily	110 (19.5)
n: Frequency	

Table 3.5: Milk and milk products intake in women

Table 3.6 shows the distribution of consumption of vegetables among women. A high proportion of women reported eating fresh (68.2%) and leafy (46.5%) vegetables daily. Below one fifth (19.3%) of the women reported eating cooked vegetables daily, 47% weekly and 33% monthly. The least proportion of women reported eating fried (4.2%) and boiled (1.1%) potatoes daily.

Variables	n (%)
Fresh vegetables	
Monthly	37 (6.5)
Weekly	142 (25.2)
Daily	384 (68.2)
Cooked vegetables	
Monthly	189 (33.5)
Weekly	265 (47.0)
Daily	109 (19.3)
Leafy vegetables	
Monthly	110 (19.5)
Weekly	191 (35.0)
Daily	262 (46.5)
Boiled potato	
Monthly	441 (78.3)
Weekly	116 (20.6)
Daily	6 (1.1)
Fried potato	
Monthly	225 (39.9)
Weekly	314 (55.7)
Daily	24 (4.2)
n: Frequency	

Table 3.6: Vegetables intake in women

Table 3.7 shows the distribution of fruits and nuts intake in women. Overall, the consumption of fruits per day among women was low. The most frequently consumed fruit each day by women was dates (46.0%), followed by nuts (9.2%). The least frequently consumed fruits each day by women were mango (4.4%) and grapes (4.6%).

Variables	n (%)
Banana	
Monthly	188 (38.5)
Weekly	263 (53.9)
Daily	37 (7.6)
Grapes	
Monthly	339 (60.3)
Weekly	197 (35.1)
Daily	26 (4.6)
Mango	
Monthly	404 (71.8)
Weekly	134 (23.8)
Daily	25 (4.4)
Date	
Monthly	146 (27.9)
Weekly	158 (28.1)
Daily	259 (46.0)
Nuts	
Monthly	283 (50.3)
Weekly	228 (40.5)
Daily	52 (9.2)
n: Frequency	

Table 3.7: Fruits and Nuts intake in women
Table 3.8 shows the consumption pattern of meat in women. Chicken was reported as the most frequently consumed meat by women (21.8%), followed by fish (8.2%), while processed (1.0%) and red (2.1%) meats were consumed by the lowest proportion of women.

Variables	n (%)
Fresh red meat	
Monthly	189 (33.5)
Weekly	362 (64.3)
Daily	12 (2.1)
Processed meat	
Monthly	490 (87.0)
Weekly	67 (11.9)
Daily	6 (1.0)
Chicken	
Monthly	29 (5.2)
Weekly	411 (73.0)
Daily	123 (21.8)
Fish	
Monthly	83 (14.7)
Weekly	434 (77.1)
Daily	46 (8.2)
n: Frequency	

Table 3.8: Meat intake in women

Table 3.9 presents the information on the intake of sweets and beverages in women. A significant proportion of women reported eating sweets (34.8%) daily. In beverages, the highest proportion of women reported drinking tea (62.2%) daily and 55.2% reported drinking fresh juice daily. A small proportion of women reported consuming soft drink (13.9%) daily.

Variables	n (%)
Sweets	
Monthly	91 (16.1)
Weekly	276 (49.0)
Daily	196 (34.8)
Beverages	
Soft drinks	
Monthly	345 (61.2)
Weekly	140 (24.8)
Daily	78 (13.9)
Fresh juices	
Monthly	50 (8.8)
Weekly	202 (35.8)
Daily	311 (55.2)
Tea	
Monthly	103 (18.3)
Weekly	110 (19.5)
Daily	350 (62.2)
Coffee	
Monthly	226 (40.1)
Weekly	145 (25.8)
Daily	192 (34.1)
n: Frequency	

Table 3.9: Sweets and beverages intake in women

Table 3.10 shows the frequency of intake of cereals among women. The most frequently consumed cereals each day by women were bread (88.9%) and rice (83.8%). The least frequently consumed food each day by women were pizza (0.4%) and pasta (3.2%).

Variables	n (%)
Rice	
Monthly	9 (1.6)
Weekly	82 (14.56)
Daily	472 (83.8)
Bread	
Monthly	3 (0.53)
Weekly	59 (10.4)
Daily	501 (88.9)
Pasta	
Monthly	83 (14.7)
Weekly	462 (82.1)
Daily	18 (3.2)
Pizza	
Monthly	353 (62.7)
Weekly	208 (36.9)
Daily	2 (0.4)
n: Frequency	

Table 3.10: Cereals intake in women

# 3.6 Baseline Distribution of Vitamin D Status

The mean serum concentration of vitamin D in pregnant women was  $12.7 \pm 8.1$  ng/ml, below three fifth (58.3%) of the women had a vitamin D deficiency and one fourth (26.4%) had an insufficiency according to IOM criteria (See Table 3.11 and Figure 3.8).

Variables	n (%) / Mean ±SD
Vitamin D – ng/ml, Mean (±SD)	12.7 ±8.1
Vitamin D levels – IOM, n (%)	
Normal ( $\geq 20 \text{ ng/ml}$ )	86 (15.3)
Insufficiency (12 - 20 ng/ml)	148 (26.4)
Deficiency (< 12 ng/ml)	327 (58.3)
Vitamin D levels – IOM, n (%)	
No deficiency ( $\geq 12 \text{ ng/ml}$ )	234 (41.7)
Deficiency (< 12 ng/ml)	327 (58.3)
n: Frequency, SD: Standard Deviation, IOM: Institu	te of Medicine

Table 3.11: Baseline vitamin D status of women



Figure 3.8: Baseline vitamin D insufficiency and deficiency in women

### **3.7 Incidence of Gestational Diabetes**

# **3.7.1 Overall Incidence of Gestational Diabetes**

In pregnant women, the mean fasting OGTT was  $4.6 \pm 0.6$  Mmol/L, postprandial OGTT was  $5.8 \pm 1.4$  Mmol/L and fasting blood sugar was  $4.7 \pm 0.43$ Mmol/L. The overall incidence of GDM was 15.2% (95% CI: 12.4% - 18.5%) as per WHO (2013) criteria (See Figure 3.9 and Table 3.12).

Variables	n (%) / Mean $\pm$ SD
Fasting OGTT – Mmol/L, Mean (±SD)	$4.6\pm0.61$
Fasting Blood Sugar – Mmol/L, Mean (±SD)	$4.7\pm0.43$
Post-prandial OGTT – Mmol/L, Mean (±SD)	$5.8\pm1.4$
Incidence of Gestational Diabetes – WHO, n (%)	81(15.2)
n: Frequency, SD: Standard Deviation, OGTT: Oral Glucose	Tolerance Test,
ADA: American Diabetes Association	

Table 3.12: Gestational Diabetes status of women



Figure 3.9: Overall incidence of Gestational Diabetes

### 3.7.2 Incidence of Gestational Diabetes by Baseline Demographic Characteristics

Table 3.13 shows the incidence of GDM by demographic characteristics of women. Women with GDM ( $31.1 \pm 5.4$  years) were older (p = 0.008) than those without GDM ( $29.3 \pm 5.7$  years). There were no significant differences in the incidence of GDM by education level (p = 0.941), and type of occupation (p = 0.365). The incidence of GDM was slightly higher (p = 0.089) in women with positive family history of diabetes (17.3%) as compared to women without family history of diabetes (11.5%).

Variables	A 11	GDM	No GDM	P Value
variables	All	(n=81)	(n=452)	
Age – Years, Mean ±SD	533	$31.1\pm5.4$	$29.3\pm5.7$	0.008
Education level, n (%)				
Up to primary	22	4 (18.2)	18 (81.8)	0.941
Up to secondary	37	6 (16.2)	31 (83.8)	
Up to high school	285	41 (14.4)	244 (85.6)	
$\geq$ College/University	189	30 (15.9)	159 (84.1)	
Work Status, n (%)				
Government employee	87	14 (16.1)	73 (83.9)	0.365
House wife	404	65 (16.1)	339 (83.9)	
Other	42	2 (4.6)	40 (95.1)	
Family history of Diabetes, n (%)				
Positive	342	59 (17.3)	283 (82.7)	0.089
Negative	191	22 (11.5)	169 (88.5)	
N: Frequency, SD: Standard Deviat	ion			

Chi-square and Fischer Exact tests were applied to compare proportions.

Unpaired t-tests were applied to compare means.

Table 3.13: Incidence of GDM by baseline demographic characteristics of women

#### 3.7.3 Incidence of Gestational Diabetes by Baseline Clinical Characteristics

Table 3.14 shows the distribution and average differences in clinical characteristics of women by GDM status. Average BMI before pregnancy (29.9  $\pm$  8.0 vs 26.7  $\pm$  6.3, p < 0.001) and fasting (5.5  $\pm$  0.7 vs 4.5  $\pm$  0.4, p < 0.001) and 2-hour postprandial (7.9  $\pm$  1.7 vs 5.5  $\pm$  1.0, p < 0.001) OGTT were significantly higher in women with GDM as compared to women without GDM. Likewise, average vitamin D levels (12.3  $\pm$  7.9 vs 12.8  $\pm$  8.3, p < 0.001 were significantly lowers in GDM women compared to those without GDM. The average systolic and diastolic blood pressures were not significantly different between women with GDM and those without GDM. The incidence of GDM was significantly (p = 0.002) different by BMI categories i.e. 9.6% in women with normal BMI, 15.7% in overweight women and 22.6% in obese women (See Figure 3.10).

Variables	GDM	No GDM	P Value		
v anabies	(n=81)	(n=452)	1 value		
Anthropometric indices					
Body Mass Index before pregnancy –	$29.9 \pm 8.0$	$26.7 \pm 6.3$	< 0.001		
$kg/m^2$ , Mean $\pm$ SD					
Body Mass Index – Cat, n (%)					
Normal (< $25.0 \text{ kg/m}^2$ )	22 (9.6)	207 (90.4)	0.002		
Overweight $(25.0-29.9 \text{ kg/m}^2)$	22 (15.7)	118 (84.3)			
Obese ( $\geq 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$ )	37 (22.6)	127 (77.4)			
Body Mass Index during pregnancy –	$30.4 \pm 7.8$	$27.4 \pm 6.4$	< 0.001		
kg/m <sup>2</sup> , Mean ±SD					
Blood Pressure – mmHg					
Systolic Blood Pressure, Mean ±SD	$108.9 \pm 11.5$	$107.5 \pm 11.8$	0.989		
Diastolic Blood Pressure, Mean ±SD	67.7 ±9.2	$65.3 \pm 18.5$	0.854		
High blood pressure, n (%)	79 (97.5)	445 (98.5)	0.632		
Biochemical parameters					
Fasting OGTT – Mmol/L, Mean ±SD	$5.5 \pm 0.7$	4.5 ±0.4	< 0.001		
Post-prandial OGTT – Mmol/L,	$7.9 \pm 1.7$	$5.5 \pm 1.0$	< 0.001		
Mean ±SD					
Fasting Blood Sugar – Mmol/L,	4.9 ±0.4	4.7 ±0.4	< 0.001		
Mean ±SD					
Vitamin D – ng/ml, Mean ±SD	12.3±7.9	$12.8 \pm 8.3$	< 0.001		
n: Frequency, SD: Standard Deviation, OGTT: Oral Glucose Tolerance Test					
Chi-square tests were applied to compa	re proportions.	Unpaired tests	were		

applied to compare means.

Table 3.14: Incidence of Gestational Diabetes by baseline clinical characteristics of women



Figure 3.10: Incidence of GDM by baseline Body Mass Index categories

# 3.7.4 Incidence of Gestational Diabetes by Baseline Physical Activity Levels

Table 3.15 shows the comparison of physical activity levels in women with and without GDM. The three categories of the physical activity correspond to the GPAQ questionnaire as we used the GPAQ Analysis Guide (For further information: <a href="http://www.who.int/chp/steps">www.who.int/chp/steps</a>).

The median (iqr) METs per week (870 [1280] vs 840 [1320], p = 0.447) and sitting time per day (300 [180] vs 240 [180], p = 0.628) were not significantly different in women with GDM versus those with no GDM. The incidence of GDM was not significantly (p = 0.329) different between women with low (11.4%) versus adequate (15.1%) METs weekly. Likewise, the incidence of GDM was similar (p =0.821) among women who performed high (16.7%), moderate (14.2%) and low (16.0%) physical activity in early pregnancy (See Figure 3.11). Similarly, the incidence of GDM was insignificantly lower in pregnant women who performed travel (12.7% vs 17.8%, p = 0.101) and recreational (13.5% vs 17.1%, p = 0.247) moderate and physical activities per day than those women who did not perform these activities.

		GDM	No GDM			
Variables	All	(n=81)	(n=452)	P Value		
		n (%)	n (%)	-		
Total METs per week, Median (iqr)	533	870 (1280)	840 (1320)	0.447		
METs, n (%)				0.329		
<600 per week (Low)	123	14 (11.4)	109 (88.6)			
≥600 per week (Adequate)	238	36 (15.1)	202 (84.9)			
Physical activity levels – WHO				0.821		
criteria, n (%)						
High	42	7 (16.7)	35 (83.3)			
Moderate	282	40 (14.2)	242 (85.8)			
Low	147	30 (16.0)	157 (84.0)			
Work related moderate and vigorous				0.740		
physical activity per day, n (%)						
Yes	35	6 (17.1)	29 (82.9)			
No	498	75 (15.1)	423 (84.9)			
Travel related physical activity per				0.101		
day, n (%)						
Yes	275	35 (12.7)	240 (87.3)			
No	258	46 (17.8)	212 (12.2)			
Recreational moderate and vigorous				0.247		
physical activity per day, n (%)						
Yes	275	37 (13.5)	238 (86.5)			
No	258	44 (17.1)	214 (82.9)			
Sedentary time per day – minutes,	526	300 (180)	240 (180)	0.628		
Median (iqr)						
n: Frequency, METs: Metabolic Equi	n: Frequency, METs: Metabolic Equivalent, iqr: Interquartile Range					

Table 3.15: Incidence of Gestational Diabetes by baseline physical activity levels of women

n: Frequency, METs: Metabolic Equivalent, iqr: Interquartile Range Chi-square tests were applied to compare proportions. Wilcoxon Rank Sum tests were applied to compare medians.



Figure 3.11: Incidence of GDM by baseline levels of physical activity of women

# 3.7.5 Incidence of Gestational Diabetes by Supplements and Dietary Intake

The incidence of GDM was similar in women who used multivitamin (15.1% vs 15.2%, p = 0.620) and vitamin D supplements (12.3% vs 15.9%, p = 0.347) versus those who did not use these supplements (See Table 3.16 for details).

		GDM	No GDM	
Variables	All	(n=81)	(n=452)	P Value
		n (%)	n (%)	
Multivitamins /minerals supplements				0.620
use during the last six months				
Yes	99	15 (15.1)	84 (84.9)	
No	434	66 (15.2)	368 (84.3)	
Vitamin D supplements use during				0.347
the last six months				
Yes	106	13 (12.3)	93 (87.7)	
No	427	68 (15.9)	359 (84.1)	
n: Frequency				
Chi-square and Fischer Exact tests were	re applied	to compare pro	portions.	

 Table 3.16: Incidence of Gestational Diabetes by supplements intake in women during the last six months

Table 3.17 shows the incidence of GDM by the consumption of milk and milk products. No differences in the incidence of GDM were observed by the frequency of consumption of milk (p = 0.759) and yogurt (p = 0.348).

		GDM	No GDM	
Variables	All	(n=81)	(n=452)	P Value
		n (%)	n (%)	_
Milk				0.759
Monthly	241	34 (14.1)	207 (85.9)	
Weekly	148	25 (16.9)	123 (83.1)	
Daily	144	22 (15.3)	122 (84.7)	
Yogurt				0.348
Monthly	102	20 (19.6)	82 (80.4)	
Weekly	329	48 (14.6)	281 (85.4)	
Daily	102	13 (12.7)	89 (87.3)	
n: Frequency				
Chi-square and Fischer Exact tests were applied to compare proportions				

Table 3.17: Incidence of Gestational Diabetes by milk and milk products intake in women

Table 3.18 shows the incidence of GDM by the consumption of vegetable among pregnant women. The incidence of GDM was different (p = 0.056) among women who ate cooked vegetables daily (20.0%), weekly (16.8%) and monthly (10.3%). No significant differences were observed in the incidence of GDM by the frequency of intake of fresh vegetables (p = 0.493), leafy vegetables (p = 0.320), fried potato (p = 0.698) and boiled potato (p = 0.923).

		GDM	No GDM		
Variables	All	(n=81)	(n=452)	P Value	
		n (%)	n (%)	_	
Fresh vegetables				0.493	
Monthly	36	3 (8.3)	33 (91.7)		
Weekly	135	21 (15.6)	114 (84.4)		
Daily	362	57 (15.7)	305 (84.3)		
Cooked vegetables				0.056	
Monthly	184	19 (10.3)	165 (89.7)		
Weekly	244	41 (16.8)	203 (83.2)		
Daily	105	21 (20.0)	84 (80.0)		
Leafy vegetables				0.320	
Monthly	105	13 (12.4)	92 (87.6)		
Weekly	179	24 (13.4)	155 (86.6)		
Daily	249	44 (17.7)	205 (82.3)		
Boiled potato				0.923	
Monthly	417	62 (14.9)	355 (85.1)		
Weekly	110	18 (16.4)	92 (83.6)		
Daily	6	1 (16.7)	5 (83.3)		
Fried potato				0.698	
Monthly	213	32 (15.1)	181 (85.0)		
Weekly	298	47 (15.0)	251 (84.2)		
Daily	22	2 (9.1)	20 (90.9)		
n: Frequency					
Chi-square and Fischer Exact tests were applied to compare proportions					

Table 3.18: Incidence of Gestational Diabetes by vegetable intake in women

Table 3.19 shows the incidence of GDM by the consumption of fruits and nuts among pregnant women. The incidence of GDM significantly different by frequency of intake of dates in early pregnancy among women (p = 0.035). As such, it was the highest among women who ate dates daily (18.2%), followed by those who ate dates weekly (16.4%), while it was the lowest at 8.6% among those who ate dates monthly. No significant differences were observed in the incidence of GDM by the frequency of intake of banana (p = 0.642), grapes (p = 0.619), mango (p = 0.471) and nuts (p = 0.158).

		GDM	No GDM	
Variables	All	(n=81)	(n=452)	P Value
		n (%)	n (%)	-
Banana				
Monthly	179	28 (15.6)	151 (84.4)	0.642
Weekly	246	34 (13.8)	212 (86.2)	
Daily	36	7 (19.4)	29 (80.6)	
Grapes				
Monthly	320	45 (14.1)	275 (85.9)	0.619
Weekly	186	31 (16.7)	155 (83.3)	
Daily	26	5 (19.2)	21 (80.8)	
Mango				
Monthly	385	63 (16.4)	322 (83.6)	0.471
Weekly	126	15 (11.9)	111 (88.1)	
Daily	22	3 (13.6)	19 (86.4)	
Dates				
Monthly	140	12 (8.6)	128 (91.4)	0.035
Weekly	277	24 (16.4)	122 (84.6)	
Daily	77	45 (18.2)	202 (81.8)	
Nuts				
Monthly	272	35 (12.9)	237 (87.1)	0.158
Weekly	212	40 (18.9)	172 (83.1)	
Daily	49	6 (12.2)	43 (87.8)	
n: Frequency				
Chi-square and Fischer Exact test	ts were app	olied to compa	re proportions	5

Table 3.19: Incidence of Gestational Diabetes by fruits and Nuts intake in women

Table 3.20 shows the incidence of GDM by the consumption of meat among pregnant women. No significant differences were observed in the incidence of GDM by the frequency of intake of red meat (p = 0.053), processed meat (p = 0.788), chicken (p = 0.108) and fish (p = 0.188).

		GDM	No GDM				
Variables	All	(n=81)	(n=452)	P Value			
		n (%)	n (%)	-			
Fresh red meat				0.053			
Monthly	179	20 (11.2)	159 (88.8)				
Weekly	342	57 (17.2)	285 (82.8)				
Daily	12	4 (33.3)	8 (67.7)				
Processed meat				0.788			
Monthly	469	72 (15.3)	397 (84.7)				
Weekly/Daily	64	9 (14.1)	55 (85.9)				
Chicken				0.108			
Monthly	28	3 (10.7)	25 (89.3)				
Weekly	390	67 (17.2)	323 (82.8)				
Daily	115	11 (9.6)	104 (90.4)				
Fish				0.188			
Monthly	81	7 (8.6)	74 (91.4)				
Weekly	410	68 (16.6)	342 (83.4)				
Daily	42	6 (14.3)	36 (85.7)				
n: Frequency							
Chi-square and Fischer Exact tests were applied to compare proportions							

Table 3.20: Incidence of Gestational Diabetes by meat intake in women

Table 3.21 shows the incidence of GDM by the intake of sweets and beverages. No differences in the incidence of GDM were noted with the consumption pattern of sweets (p = 0.410), soft drinks (p = 0.456), fresh juices (p = 0.690), tea (p = 0.567) and coffee (p = 0.530).

		GDM (n=81)	No GDM	
Variables	All		(n=452)	P Value
		n (%)	n (%)	
Sweets				
Sweets				
Monthly	86	17 (19.8)	69 (80.2)	0.410
Weekly	260	36 (13.9)	224 (86.1)	
Daily	187	28 (15.0)	159 (85.0)	
Beverages				
Soft drinks				
Monthly	329	55 (16.7)	274 (83.3)	0.456
Weekly	130	17 (13.1)	113 (86.9)	
Daily	74	9 (12.2)	65 (87.8)	
Fresh juices				
Monthly	48	9 (18.7)	39 (81.3)	0.690
Weekly	194	27 (13.9)	167 (86.1)	
Daily	291	45 (15.5)	246 (84.5)	
Tea				
Monthly	94	11 (18.4)	83 (88.3)	0.567
Weekly	105	16 (19.7)	89 (84.7)	
Daily	334	54 (61.9)	280 (83.8)	
Coffee				
Monthly	213	34 (16.0)	179 (84.0)	0.530
Weekly	134	23 (17.2)	111 (82.8)	
Daily	186	24 (12.9)	162 (87.1)	
n: Frequency				
Chi-square and Fisc	cher Exact test	s were applied to c	ompare proporti	ons

Table 3.21: Incidence of Gestational Diabetes by sweets and beverages intake in women

Table 3.22 shows the incidence of GDM by the consumption pattern of cereals. The incidence of GDM was not significantly different in women who ate rice (p = 0.273), bread (p = 0.720), pasta (p = 0.204) and pizza (p = 0.789) daily, weekly and monthly.

	GDM	No GDM	
All	(n=81)	(n=452)	P Value
	n (%)	n (%)	
			0.273
88	10 (11.4)	78 (88.6)	
445	71 (16.0)	374 (84.0)	
			0.720
61	8 (11.0)	53 (86.9)	
472	73 (15.5)	399 (84.5)	
80	12 (15.0)	68 (85.0)	0.204
436	69 (15.8)	367 (84.2)	
17	0 (0.0)	17 (100.0)	
332	52 (15.7)	280 (85.6)	0.789
201	29 (14.4)	172 (35.8)	
tests were a	pplied to comp	are proportion	S
	All 88 445 61 472 80 436 17 332 201 tests were a	All $GDM$ (n=81) n (%)8810 (11.4) 44544571 (16.0)618 (11.0) 47247273 (15.5)8012 (15.0) 43643669 (15.8) 17170 (0.0)33252 (15.7) 20129 (14.4)	AllGDM (n=81)No GDM (n=452) n (%)8810 (11.4) 78 (88.6)44571 (16.0)618 (11.0) 73 (15.5)618 (11.0) 73 (15.5)8012 (15.0) 68 (85.0)43669 (15.8) 69 (15.8)367 (84.2) 17170 (0.0)33252 (15.7) 29 (14.4)29 (14.4)172 (35.8)

Table 3.22: Incidence of Gestational Diabetes by intake of cereals in women

# 3.8 Association between Gestational Diabetes and Vitamin D

The average vitamin D concentration and distribution of vitamin D status according to GDM status are given in Table 3.23 and Figure 3.12.

Variables	A 11	GDM	No GDM	D Value
		(n=81)	(n=452)	I value
Vitamin D – ng/ml, Mean ±SD	533	12.3±7.9	$12.8 \pm 8.3$	< 0.001
Vitamin D levels – IOM, n (%)				
Normal ( $\geq 20$ ng/ml)	84	9 (10.7)	75 (89.3)	0.473
Insufficiency (12 - 20 ng/ml)	137	22 (16.1)	115 (83.9)	
Deficiency (< 12 ng/ml)	312	50 (16.0)	262 (84.0)	
Vitamin D levels – IOM, n (%)				
No deficiency ( $\geq 12 \text{ ng/ml}$ )	221	31 (14.0)	190 (86.0)	0.527
Deficiency (< 12 ng/ml)	312	50 (16.0)	262 (84.0)	
n: Fragueney, SD: Standard Davi	otion			

Table 3.23: Incidence of Gestational Diabetes by baseline Vitamin D status in women

n: Frequency, SD: Standard Deviation

Chi-square tests were applied to compare proportions. Unpaired tests were applied to compare means.



Figure 3.12: Incidence of Gestational Diabetes in women by baseline Vitamin D Status

Table 3.24 shows the results of fitting a binary logistic regression taking vitamin D status either as a continuous variable, an ordinal variable with three categories i.e.

normal, vitamin D insufficiency and vitamin D insufficiency or a binary variable with two categories i.e. vitamin D deficiency versus no deficiency. Using vitamin D as a continuous covariate, there was no statistically significant association with GDM (OR: 0.99, 95% CI: 0.96 - 1.02, p = 0.574). When vitamin D was used as an ordinal covariate, no association was found between vitamin D deficiency and GDM (OR: 1.59, 95% CI: 0.75 - 3.38, p = 0.228) and vitamin D insufficiency and GDM (OR: 1.59, 95% CI: 0.69 - 3.65, p = 0.270) as compared to women with normal vitamin D. Similarly, there was no association between vitamin D deficiency and GDM (OR: 1.17, 95%CI: 0.72 - 1.90, p = 0.527).

Variables	GDM (n=81)				
v arrables	OR	SE	95% CI	P Value	
Vitamin D – ng/ml – continuous	0.99	0.01	0.96 - 1.02	0.574	
Vitamin D levels – IOM					
Normal	1				
Insufficiency	1.59	0.67	0.69 - 3.65	0.270	
Deficiency	1.59	0.61	0.75 - 3.38	0.228	
Vitamin D levels – IOM					
No deficiency	1				
Deficiency	1.17	0.29	0.72 - 1.90	0.527	
OR: Odds Ratio, SE: Standard Error, CI:	Confider	ice Inter	rval		

Table 3.24: Unadjusted logistic regression of Gestational Diabetes with Vitamin D status in women

Table 3.25 shows multiple logistic regression analysis of GDM with vitamin D status that was adjusted for age, family history of diabetes, levels of physical activity, BMI before pregnancy, red meat intake, cooked vegetables intake and dates intake. Like unadjusted analysis, vitamin D concentration was not associated with odds of GDM (AOR: 0.99, 95% CI: 0.95 - 1.02, p = 0.450). Likewise, the odds of GDM

were not significantly different in women with vitamin D insufficiency (AOR: 2.11, 95% CI: 0.81 - 5.64, p = 0.101) and deficiency (AOR: 1.94, 95% CI: 0.88 - 5.32, p = 0.118) as compared to women with normal vitamin D status. Also, the odds of GDM were not significantly (AOR: 1.18, 95% CI: 0.70 - 1.99, p = 0.537) higher in vitamin D deficient women as compared to non-deficient women.

Variables	GDM (n=81)					
v arrables	AOR	SE	95% CI	P Value		
Vitamin D – ng/ml – continuous	0.99	0.02	0.95 - 1.02	0.450		
Vitamin D levels – IOM						
Normal	1					
Insufficiency	2.11	1.05	0.81 - 5.64	0.101		
Deficiency	1.94	0.99	0.88 - 5.32	0.118		
Vitamin D levels – IOM						
No deficiency	1					
Deficiency	1.18	0.62	0.70 - 1.99	0.537		
AOR: Adjusted Odds Ratio, SE: Standard Error, CI: Confidence Interval						
The model was adjusted for age, family history of diabetes, levels of physical						
activity, BMI before pregnancy, red meat intake, cooked vegetables intake and						

Table 3.25 Adjusted logistic regression of Gestational Diabetes with Vitamin D status in women

### 3.9 Association between Gestational Diabetes and Physical Activity

dates intake

Table 3.26 shows unadjusted logistic regression analysis of GDM with physical activity levels of pregnant women. The odds of GDM were not significantly different (OR: 0.72, 95% CI: 0.37 - 1.39, p = 0.331) between women who had adequate METs per day versus low METs per day. Similarly, compared to women who reported high levels of physical activity, the odds of GDM were not significantly different in

women who reported low (OR: 1.04, 95% CI: 0.43 - 2.58, p = 0.257) and moderate (OR: 0.87, 95% CI: 0.52 - 1.45, p = 0.582) levels of physical activity.

	CDM(r, 91)				
Variables	GDM	(n=81)			
v allables	OR	SE	95% CI	P Value	
METs, n (%)					
< 600 per week	1				
$\geq$ 600 per week	0.72	0.24	0.37 – 1.39	0.331	
Physical activity levels per day					
High	1				
Moderate	0.87	0.23	0.52 - 1.45	0.582	
Low	1.04	0.48	0.43 - 2.58	0.257	
OR: Odds Ratio, SE: Standard Error, CI: Confidence Interval, METs: Metabolic					
Equivalents					

 Table 3.26: Unadjusted logistic regression of Gestational Diabetes with physical activity in women

Table 3.27 shows multiple logistic regression analysis of GDM with physical activity that was adjusted for vitamin D status, age, family history of diabetes, BMI before pregnancy and intake of red meat, cooked vegetables and dates. The odds of GDM were not significantly different by METs status (AOR: 0.92, 95% CI: 0.50 – 1.67, p = 0.778) and moderate (AOR: 0.78, 95% CI: 0.45 – 1.34, p = 0.372) and low (AOR: 1.09, 95% CI: 0.43 – 2.79, p = 0.850) physical activity levels.

Variables	GDM (n=81)					
v anables	OR	SE	95% CI	P Value		
METs, n (%)						
< 600 per week	1					
$\geq 600 \text{ per week}$	0.92	0.24	0.50 - 1.67	0.778		
Physical activity levels per day						
High	1					
Moderate	0.78	0.23	0.45 - 1.34	0.372		
Low	1.09	0.48	0.43 - 2.79	0.850		
OR: Odds Ratio, SE: Standard Error, CI:	Confider	nce Inte	rval, METs: M	etabolic		
Equivalents						
The model was adjusted for vitamin D sta	tus, age,	family	history of diab	etes, BMI		
before pregnancy and red meat, cooked ve	egetables	and da	tes intake			

 Table 3.27: Adjusted logistic regression of Gestational Diabetes with physical activity during the last week in women

# 3.10 Association between Gestational Diabetes and Diet

Table 3.28 shows simple logistic regression analysis of GDM with use of supplements. The consumption of multivitamins / minerals (OR: 1.00, 95% CI: 0.54 - 1.83, p = 0.989) and vitamin D supplements (OR: 0.74, 95% CI: 0.39 - 1.39, p = 0.349) was not significantly associated with GDM.

 Table 3.28: Simple logistic regression of Gestational Diabetes with use of supplements during the last six months in women

Variable	GDM (n=81)				
v anable	OR	SE	95% CI	P value	
Multivitamins /minerals supplements					
use during the last six months					
No	1				
Yes	1.00	0.31	0.54 - 1.83	0.989	
Vitamin D supplements use during the					
last six months					
No	1				
Yes	0.74	0.24	0.39 – 1.39	0.349	
OR: Odds Ratio, SE: Standard Error, CI: Co	nfidence l	Interval			

Table 3.29 shows simple logistic regression analysis of GDM with intake of milk and yogurt in women. The odds of GDM were not significantly different with respect to frequency of consumption of milk and yogurt.

Variable -	GDM (n=81)				
v arrable	OR	SE	95% CI	P value	
Milk					
Monthly	1				
Weekly	1.24	0.35	0.71 - 2.17	0.458	
Daily	1.09	0.33	0.61 – 1.96	0.753	
Yogurt					
Monthly	1				
Weekly	0.70	0.21	0.39 – 1.25	0.226	
Daily	0.60	0.23	0.28 - 1.28	0.186	
OR: Odds Ratio, SE: Standard Error, CI	: Confide	ence Inte	rval		

 

 Table 3.29: Simple logistic regression of Gestational Diabetes with intake of milk and milk products in women

Table 3.30 shows logistic regression analysis of GDM with intake of vegetables in pregnant women. The odds of GDM were significantly higher in women who ate cooked vegetables weekly (OR: 1.75, 95% CI: 0.98 - 3.13, p = 0.058) and daily (OR: 2.17, 95% CI: 1.11 - 4.26, p = 0.024) as compared to those women who ate cooked vegetables monthly. The consumption pattern of fresh vegetables, leafy vegetables, boiled potato and fried potato were not associated with GDM.

Variable	GDM (n=81)				
variable	OR	SE	95% CI	P value	
Fresh vegetables					
Monthly	1				
Weekly	2.02	1.31	0.57 - 7.21	0.276	
Daily	2.06	1.27	0.61 - 6.93	0.245	
Cooked vegetables					
Monthly	1				
Weekly	1.75	0.52	0.98 - 3.13	0.058	
Daily	2.17	0.75	1.11 - 4.26	0.024	
Leafy vegetables					
Monthly	1				
Weekly	1.10	0.40	0.53 - 2.26	0.804	
Daily	1.52	0.51	0.78 - 2.95	0.218	
Boiled potato					
Monthly	1				
Weekly	1.12	0.33	0.63 – 1.99	0.698	
Daily	1.14	1.26	0.13 – 9.96	0.902	
Fried potato					
Monthly	1				
Weekly	1.06	0.26	0.65 - 1.72	0.818	
Daily	0.57	0.43	0.13 - 2.54	0.457	
OR: Odds Ratio, SE: Standard Error, C	I: Confid	ence Inte	erval		

Table 3.30: Simple logistic regression of Gestational Diabetes with intake of vegetables in women

Table 3.31 shows simple logistic regression analysis of GDM with intake of fruits and nuts in women. Compared to women who ate dates monthly, those women who ate dates weekly (OR: 2.10, 95% CI: 1.06 - 4.38, p = 0.048) and daily (OR: 2.38, 95% CI: 1.21 - 4.66, p = 0.012) were significantly more likely to develop GDM, while GDM was not significantly associated with intake pattern of banana, grapes, mango and nuts.

Variable	GDM (n=81)						
variable	OR	SE	95% CI	P value			
Banana							
Monthly	1						
Weekly	0.86	0.24	0.50 - 1.49	0.600			
Daily	1.37	0.61	0.52 - 3.26	0.574			
Grapes							
Monthly	1						
Weekly	1.22	0.31	0.74 - 2.01	0.430			
Daily	1.45	0.76	0.52 - 4.05	0.473			
Mango							
Monthly	1						
Weekly	0.69	0.21	37.8 - 1.26	0.229			
Daily	0.81	0.51	21.2 - 2.81	0.736			
Dates							
Monthly	1						
Weekly	2.10	0.76	1.06 - 4.38	0.048			
Daily	2.38	1.00	1.21 - 4.66	0.012			
Nuts							
Monthly	1						
Weekly	1.57	0.39	0.96 - 2.58	0.072			
Daily	0.94	0.44	0.37 - 2.38	0.904			
OR: Odds Ratio, SE: Standard Error, CI: Confidence Interval							

 Table 3.31: Simple logistic regression of Gestational Diabetes with intake of fruits and nuts in women

Table 3.32 shows simple logistic regression analysis of GDM with intake of meat. Daily consumption red meat (OR: 3.97, 95% CI: 1.10 - 14.40, p = 0.036) was positively associated with GDM. The consumption of processed meat, chicken and fish was not associated with GDM.

Variable	GDM (n=81)				
	OR	SE	95% CI	P value	
Fresh red meat					
Monthly	1				
Weekly	1.59	0.44	0.92 - 2.74	0.098	
Daily	3.97	2.61	1.10 - 14.40	0.036	
Processed meat					
Monthly	1				
Weekly	0.88	0.35	0.40 - 1.94	0.755	
Daily	1.10	1.21	0.13 – 9.58	0.929	
Chicken					
Monthly	1				
Weekly	1.73	1.08	0.51 - 5.89	0.382	
Daily	0.88	0.61	0.23 - 3.39	0.855	
Fish					
Monthly	1				
Weekly	2.10	0.86	0.93 - 4.76	0.075	
Daily	1.76	1.04	0.55 - 5.62	0.339	
OR: Odds Ratio, SE: Standard Error, CI: Confidence Interval					

 Table 3.32: Simple logistic regression of Gestational Diabetes with intake of meat in women.

Table 3.33 shows simple logistic regression analysis of GDM with intake of sweets and beverages. Gestational diabetes was not associated with consumption of sweets, soft drinks, fresh juices, tea and coffee.

Variable	GDM (n=81)				
	OR	SE	95% CI	P value	
Sweets					
Sweets					
Monthly	1				
Weekly	0.65	0.21	0.34 - 1.23	0.189	
Daily	0.71	0.24	0.37 – 1.39	0.323	
Beverages					
Soft drinks					
Monthly	1				
Weekly	0.75	0.22	0.42 - 1.35	0.335	
Daily	0.69	0.26	0.32 - 1.45	0.335	
Fresh juices					
Monthly	1				
Weekly	0.70	0.30	0.31 – 1.61	0.401	
Daily	0.79	0.32	0.36 - 1.75	0.565	
Tea					
Monthly	1				
Weekly	1.35	0.57	0.59 - 3.09	0.468	
Daily	1.45	0.51	0.73 - 2.91	2.91	
Coffee					
Monthly	1				
Weekly	1.09	0.32	0.61 – 1.95	0.769	
Daily	0.78	0.22	0.44 - 1.37	0.388	
OR: Odds Ratio, SE: Standard Error, CI: Confidence Interval					

Table 3.33: Simple logistic regression of Gestational Diabetes with intake of sweets and beverages

Table 3.34 shows simple logistic regression analysis of GDM with intake of cereals. Gestational diabetes was not associated with consumption of rice, bread, pasta and pizza.

Variable -	GDM (n=81)				
	OR	SE	95% CI	P value	
Rice					
Monthly	1				
Weekly	0.39	0.35	0.07 - 2.23	0.293	
Daily	0.66	0.54	0.13 - 3.26	0.615	
Bread					
Monthly/Weekly	1				
Daily	1.21	0.48	0.55 - 2.65	0.631	
Pasta					
Monthly	1				
Weekly	1.06	0.36	0.55 - 2.07	0.852	
Pizza					
Monthly	1				
Weekly	0.92	0.23	0.56 - 1.50	0.735	
OR: Odds Ratio, SE: Standard Error, CI: Confidence Interval					

 Table 3.34: Simple logistic regression of Gestational Diabetes with supplements and diet intake

Table 3.35 shows multiple logistic regression analysis of GDM with diet intake that was adjusted for vitamin D status, age, family history of diabetes and BMI before pregnancy. Daily consumption of dates (AOR: 1.86, 95% CI: 1.03 - 6.49, p = 0.043) and red meat (AOR: 6.16, 95% CI: 1.31 - 28.92, p = 0.021) remained significantly associated with the development of GDM. However, weekly (AOR: 1.83, 95% CI: 0.91 - 3.69, p = 0.087) and daily (AOR: 2.15, 95% CI: 0.93 - 4.95, p = 0.072) consumption of cooked vegetables was not significantly associated with the development of GDM.

Variables	GDM (n=81)				
	AOR	SE	95% CI	P Value	
Dates					
Monthly	1				
Weekly	1.64	0.60	0.69 - 3.35	0.224	
Daily	1.86	1.21	1.03 - 6.49	0.043	
Red meat					
Monthly	1				
Weekly	1.29	0.42	0.68 - 2.43	0.433	
Daily	6.16	4.18	1.31 - 28.92	0.021	
Cooked vegetables					
Monthly	1				
Weekly	1.83	0.65	0.91 - 3.69	0.087	
Daily	2.15	0.91	0.93 - 4.95	0.072	
AOD: A divisted Odde Datio SE: Standard Error, Cl. Confidence Interval					

Table 3.35: Multiple logistic regression analysis of Gestational Diabetes with diet intake in women

AOR: Adjusted Odds Ratio, SE: Standard Error, CI: Confidence Interval The model was adjusted for vitamin D status, age, family history of diabetes and BMI before pregnancy

# 3.11 Association of Gestational Diabetes with Other Risk Factors

Table 3.36 shows simple logistic regression analysis of GDM with demographic characteristics of women. Average increase in age by one year elevated the odds of GDM by 6.0% (95% CI: 1.01 - 1.11, p = 0.008). Women with positive family history of diabetes (OR: 1.60, 95% CI: 0.95 - 2.71, p = 0.079) were insignificantly more likely to develop GDM as compared to women without family history of diabetes. No association was observed between education level, type of occupation and GDM.

Variables	GDM					
variables	OR	SE	95% CI	P Value		
Age – Years	1.06	0.02	1.01 – 1.11	0.008		
Education level						
Up to primary	1					
Up to secondary	0.87	0.62	0.22 - 3.50	0.846		
Up to high school	0.76	0.44	0.24 - 2.35	0.629		
$\geq$ College/University	0.85	0.50	0.27 - 2.68	0.781		
Work Status						
Government employee	1					
House wife	0.99	0.32	0.53 - 1.88	0.999		
self-employed/Student/Non-	0.26	0.20	0.06 - 1.20	0.085		
government employee						
Family history of Diabetes						
Yes	1					
No	1.60	0.43	0.95 - 2.71	0.079		
OR: Odds Ratio, SE: Standard Error, CI: Confidence Interval, AED: Arab						
Emirates Dirham						

 Table 3.36: Simple logistic regression analysis of gestational diabetes with demographic characteristics

Table 3.37 shows simple logistic regression analysis of GDM with clinical characteristics of women. Average increase in BMI by one kg/m<sup>2</sup> increased the odds of GDM by 7% (95% CI: 1.03 - 1.10, p < 0.001). Overweight (OR: 1.75, 95% CI: 0.93 - 3.30, p = 0.082) and obese (OR: 2.74, 95% CI: 1.55 - 4.86, p = 0.001) women with high BMI were more likely to develop GDM as compared to women with normal BMI. No association was noted between high blood pressure (OR: 1.61, 95% CI: 0.33 - 7.89, p = 0.557) and GDM.

Variables	GDM (n=81)					
variables	OR	SE	95% CI	P Value		
Body Mass Index before pregnancy –	1.07	0.02	1.03 - 1.10	< 0.001		
kg/m <sup>2</sup>						
Body Mass Index categories before						
pregnancy						
Normal (< $25.0 \text{ kg/m}^2$ )	1					
Overweight (25.0 - 29.9 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	1.75	0.57	0.93 - 3.30	0.082		
Obese ( $\geq 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$ )	2.74	0.80	1.55 - 4.86	0.001		
OR: Odds Ratio, SE: Standard Error, CI: Confidence Interval						

Table 3.37: Simple logistic regression of Gestational Diabetes with Body Mass Index

Table 3.38 shows multiple logistic regression analysis of GDM with clinical characteristics that was adjusted for vitamin D status, physical activity and diet intake (dates, cooked vegetables, red meat) of women. The adjusted analysis shows that positive family history of diabetes (AOR: 1.93, 95% CI: 1.02 - 3.62, p = 0.043) and BMI before pregnancy (AOR: 1.07, 95% CI: 1.02 - 1.11, p = 0.003) were significant risk factors of GDM.

** • • • •							
Variables	GDM (	GDM (n=81)					
	AOR	SE	95% CI	P Value			
Age – years	1.02	0.02	0.97 - 1.07	0.520			
Family history of diabetes							
No	1						
Yes	1.93	0.62	1.02 - 3.62	0.043			
Body Mass Index before	1.07	0.02	1.02 - 1.11	0.003			
pregnancy $- kg/m^2$							
AOR: Adjusted Odds Ratio, SE: Standard Error, CI: Confidence Interval							
The model was adjusted for vitamin D status, levels of physical activity and diet							

Table 3.38: Adjusted logistic regression analysis of Gestational Diabetes with risk factors

рпу ۰y intake of women.

### **Chapter 4: Discussion**

#### 4.1 Summary of Results

The overall incidence of GDM was 15.2% (95% CI: 12.4% - 18.5%) according to the WHO (2013) criteria. The incidence of GDM was 16.1% in vitamin D insufficient women, 16.0% in vitamin D deficient women and 10.7% in women with normal vitamin D. The prevalence of vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency was 58.3% and 26.4% respectively as per IOM criteria. Below one-tenth (8.5%) of pregnant women reported high levels of physical activity. The median METs (iqr) per week were 840 (1320) and median sedentary time per day was 240 (280) minutes. The most frequently consumed foods were bread (88.9%), rice (83.8%), fresh vegetables (68.2%), tea (62.2%), fresh juices (55.2%), leafy vegetables (46.5%) and dates (46.0%).

This study found that vitamin D insufficiency and deficiency and physical activity were not significantly associated with GDM. The positive family history of diabetes, BMI and daily consumption of dates and red meat significantly increased the likelihood of developing GDM in Emirati women.

# 4.2 Prevalence of Vitamin D Deficiency

The present study demonstrated a high prevalence of vitamin D insufficiency (26.4%) and deficiency (58.3%) in pregnant Emirati women according to IOM criteria. In addition to well-known factors such as low sunlight exposure and vitamin D diet (Dawodu et al., 2003), the high prevalence of vitamin D deficiency could be due to low consumption rate of vitamin D supplements among our sample. Since the

present study did not investigate reasons for low supplement use, further research is suggested in this area.

The prevalence of vitamin D deficiency estimated by our study (58.3%) is lower than its prevalence of 69% in pregnant women reported by two studies from the UAE (Hussein et al., 2016; Narchi et al., 2010). These estimates indicate that vitamin D deficiency remains a wide-spread problem in pregnant women in the UAE despite country-wide dairy food and oil fortification and supplementation of vitamin D (Laleye et al., 2011). Therefore, more population-wide and multi-sectoral interventions are needed to address this problem in the country.

The prevalence of vitamin D deficiency in pregnant women was slightly higher than Saudi women (50%), according to a study (Al-Faris et al., 2016). Whereas, another large study found a higher prevalence (86%) of vitamin D deficiency than us (Al-Shaikh et al., 2016). In addition, studies from Qatar and Iran reported the prevalence rate of vitamin D deficiency between 48 and 70% in pregnant women respectively (Bener et al., 2013; Maghbooli et al., 2008). In addition to observational studies, a recent review have concluded that prevalence of vitamin D in pregnant women of Middle East countries ranges between 50 and 65% respectively (Karras et al., 2016). Despite similar diet and life style practices, ethnicity and abundant light in the Middle East countries, variations in the prevalence of vitamin D deficiency among these studies could be due to differences in measurement methods and diagnostic cut-offs for vitamin D deficiency. Even in the presence of these limitations, these data indicate that vitamin D deficiency is a serious problem in pregnant women in the Middle East region, which has also been demonstrated by other studies (Eggemoen et al., 2016; Al-Mohaimeed et al., 2012).

### **4.3 Incidence of Gestational Diabetes**

Our study found that 15.2% (95% CI: 12.4% - 18.5%) of Emirati women developed GDM as per WHO (2013) criteria in late pregnancy. To date, limited data are available on the burden of GDM in the UAE. Nevertheless, two hospital based follow-up studies conducted in Al Ain showed that GDM, as per ADA criteria, was present in 12.9 and 14.2% of Emirati and South Asian women (Agarwal et al., 2010; Agarwal et al., 2007). The burden of GDM shown by earlier studies is similar to our results and shows that GDM is a common condition among Emirati women and needs to be addressed urgently.

The magnitude of burden of GDM largely depends upon its diagnostic criteria, which has been demonstrated by Agarwal and colleagues in their studies (Agarwal et al., 2005; Agarwal et al., 2007). For instance, in one of their studies, the prevalence of GDM according to ADA criteria was similar (14.2%) to our study, while it increased up to 37% by using other criteria (Agarwal et al., 2007). This necessitates the need for a unified criterion for diagnosing GDM in the UAE and elsewhere so that trends of GDM can be monitored and compared within and across countries.

The incidence of GDM estimated by our study (15.2%) is higher than its global incidence of 1 - 14% WHO (2013), indicating the seriousness of this problem in the country. However, the prevalence of GDM in our study is lower than Saudi Arabia and Qatar. For instance, the prevalence of GDM was 36.6% in Saudi women according to a population based survey (Al-Rubeaan et al., 2014), while 24% of Saudi women were classified having GDM in a recent cohort study (Serehi et al., 2015). In Qatar, GDM was present in 16.3% of pregnant women (Bener et al., 2011).

On the other hand, the incidence of GDM was lower in Bahrain (12.5%) compared to our study (Rajab et al., 2012). The difference in the burden of GDM among most gulf countries despite similar ethnicity and life style factors could be due to different measurement methods and diagnostic criteria for GDM.

Consistent with the vast body of literature that the burden of GDM is higher in Middle Eastern countries than other population, our incidence rate of GDM was higher than European and American countries. For example, studies have reported that the prevalence of GDM in Australia was 9.5%, the USA 4.8%, France 12.5% and other European Countries was 2 - 6% (Moses et al., 2011; Ferrara et al., 2007; Schneider et al., 2011).

### 4.4 Association between Gestational Diabetes and Vitamin D

Our study did not find a significant association between vitamin D deficiency in early pregnancy and GDM. The lack of association between vitamin D status and GDM could be due to various reasons. The vitamin D deficiency alone might be neither sufficient nor a necessary factor to cause GDM. Moreover, we measured vitamin D once in early pregnancy, which may not depict its true status during pregnancy given that studies have shown progressive decline in its levels with advancing pregnancy. Another possible reason for the lack of association could be due to the diagnostic criteria of GDM.

To the best of our knowledge, it was the first cohort study that examined the association between vitamin D and GDM in the UAE. Therefore, comparable data are not available in the country. Also, studies assessing the association between vitamin D and GDM are scarce in the Gulf and other Middle East countries. As such,

only one cohort study was conducted in Qatar (Bener et al., 2013), whereas other studies that assessed the relationship between these conditions were case-control and / or cross-sectional in nature and found mixed results. To elaborate, a small crosssectional study from Egypt like our study found similar average vitamin D levels in GDM versus non-GDM women (El Lithy et al., 2014). Another cross-sectional study conducted in Turkey also reported similar prevalence of vitamin D in women with GDM versus those without GDM (44% vs 44.7%, p = 0.9) (Ates et al., 2017). Similarly, a case-control study from Turkey did not find any correlation of serum vitamin D with serum fasting glucose (p = 0.9), insulin levels (p = 0.2) or HbA1c levels (p = 0.1) (Parildar et al., 2013). Contrary to our findings, two cross-sectional studies from Iran found an inverse association between HbA1c, insulin resistance, GDM and vitamin D (Jafarzadeh et al., 2015; Maghbooli et al., 2008). Also, a crosssectional study conducted in Turkey showed a significant association between severe vitamin D deficiency and GDM (Zuhur et al., 2013). Similarly, a matched casecontrol study from Iran showed 2.66 higher odds of vitamin D deficiency in women with GDM as compared to those without GDM (Soheilykhah et al., 2010). Given these conflicting results, this study served as a valuable addition to literature concerning the association between vitamin D and GDM in the Middle East region.

Like the Middle East region, observational studies from other countries reported inconsistent results about the relationship between vitamin D and GDM. Like our study, no association was found between vitamin D deficiency and GDM among Indian women (Farrant et al., 2009). Likewise, two case-control studies from the UK showed that vitamin D levels in early pregnancy were not significantly different by GDM status (Makgoba et al., 2011; Savvidou et al., 2011). Furthermore, a nested
case control study carried out on pregnant women in the USA reported a lack of association between first trimester vitamin D levels and GDM (Baker et al., 2012). Also, a Korean cohort study found that levels of vitamin D were similar throughout pregnancy in both GDM and non-GDM groups (Park et al., 2014). In contrast to our study, a prospective study from Australia revealed significant and inverse association between serum vitamin D concentration (29 weeks of gestation) and fasting glucose (Clifton-Bligh et al., 2008). Two nested case control studies from the USA and one study from Canada demonstrated more than two-folds higher risk of GDM with lower levels of vitamin D in early pregnancy (Arnold et al., 2015; Cuilin Zhang et al., 2008; Parlea et al., 2012). Also, a cross-sectional study in Turkey showed that only women with severe vitamin D deficiency were more likely to have GDM (Zuhur et al., 2013). Similarly, two large nested case control studies carried out in China and India claimed vitamin D deficiency in early pregnancy as an independent risk factor of GDM (Jain et al., 2015). The conflicting results documented by earlier studies might be due to methodological issues such as sample size, study design, gestational age at which GDM and vitamin D were measured and methods adopted to measure vitamin D. Other reasons include criteria for diagnosing GDM and vitamin D and ethnic and genetic characteristics of study populations.

Contrary to conflicting results of observational studies, systematic reviews and meta-analysis have unanimously shown that vitamin D deficiency is a significant risk factors of GDM. Wei and colleagues in their meta-analysis of 12 studies showed 1.38 times increase in odds of GDM (95% CI: 1.12-1.70) due to vitamin D insufficiency in early pregnancy (S.-Q. Wei et al., 2013). Similarly, another meta-analysis by Lu and colleagues comprising 20 observational studies reported 1.45 times greater risk

of GDM (95% CI: 1.15 - 1.81, p < 0.001) with vitamin D insufficiency (Lu & Zhang, 2016). Similarly, Zhang and colleagues concluded that vitamin D deficiency increased the odds of GDM by 1.53 (95% CI: 1.33-1.75), while odds of GDM were 1.61 (1.19 - 2.17; p = 0.002) times in vitamin D deficient versus non-deficient women according to Poel et al (Zhang et al., 2015; Poel et al., 2012). A meta-analysis that included 31 studies confirmed that vitamin D insufficiency (OR 1.49, 95% CI: 1.18 - 1.88) and lower vitamin D levels (Pooled average difference: -7.36 nmol/L, 95% CI: -10.16 to -4.56 nmol/L) were significantly associated with an increased risk of GDM (Aghajafari et al., 2013). Despite the consistent findings, the quality of this meta- analysis is compromised by many factors such as the observational study designs, diverse study populations, different laboratory methods and timings of measuring vitamin D and GDM and heterogeneity in diagnostic criteria and definition of GDM and vitamin D.

#### 4.5 Association between Gestational Diabetes and Diet

To our knowledge, this was the first study that assessed the role of diet in the development of GDM among Emirati women. Our data showed that daily consumption of dates and red meat in early pregnancy significantly increased the risk of GDM while fiber, fruits, vegetables and beverages were not associated with increased risk of GDM. Our results suggest that diet plays an important role in the development of GDM and educating pregnant women about maintaining a healthy and well-balanced diet can be an effective intervention in preventing the incidence of GDM.

Plausible biological mechanisms for the association between meat consumption and GDM are not very clear. The red meat contains cholesterol and saturated fats, which negatively affect insulin sensitivity and β-cell function of pancreas and thereby may increase the risk of GDM. According to another assumption, AGEs and iron present in the meat increase the risk of type 2 diabetes and GDM (Bao et al., 2014; Zhang & Ning, 2011).

Epidemiological evidence regarding relationship between fat and meat consumption and GDM is recent and largely favors our study findings. For instance, Bao and others found that intake of high animal protein in particular red meat increased the risk of GDM by two-folds (Bao et al., 2013). According to another cohort study, high intake of saturated fats during pregnancy significantly increased the risk of GDM (Saldana et al., 2004). Also, the Nurses' Health Study II revealed that intake of Western diet that primarily contained red and processed meat increased the risk of GDM (C. Zhang et al., 2006). Another large prospective study identified that only high intake of animal fat and cholesterol was associated with increased risk of GDM (Bowers et al., 2012). Furthermore, a study from China demonstrated that consumption of unsaturated fats significantly reduced the risk of GDM (Wang et al., 2000). Another study showed that consumption of red (OR:2.37, 95% CI: 1.49, 1.49-3.78, p < 0.001) and processed meat (OR:2.01, 95% CI: 1.26 - 3.21, p = 0.003) before pregnancy significantly increased the risk of GDM in a Mediterranean cohort (Marí-Sanchis et al., 2017). In line with cohort studies, a case-control study found that the consumption of saturated fats doubled the odds of GDM, while of unsaturated fats decreased the odds of GDM by 15% (Bo et al., 2001). On the other hand, a cohort study carried out by Radesky reported no association between red meat consumption and risk of GDM (Radesky et al., 2008).

Dates are among the most consumed fruits in the UAE and have high glycemic index and medium glycemic load (Harvard Medical School, 2015). Although, relationship of GDM has not been done directly with dates; a wealth of research comprising mainly clinical trials has explored the role of low and high glycemic diet in the development of GDM. A large cohort study documented 2.15 increased risk of GDM among those women who ate high glycemic and low fiber diet (Zhang et al., 2006). A small clinical trial demonstrated a significant control in postprandial glucose due to low glycemic index diet in women (Grant et al., 2011). Another clinical trial showed that number needed to use insulin was reduced by half in those who received low glycemic index diet in women with GDM (Moses et al., 2009). In contrast, Redesky and others reported no association of high carbohydrate diet and any dietary pattern with risk of GDM respectively (Radesky et al., 2008).

In addition to observational studies and clinical trials, current systematic reviews and meta-analysis have backed our results and concluded that low glycemic diet significantly improved glucose and insulin control in women with GDM and healthy diet reduced the incidence of GDM. However, the most of these reviews have emphasized that existing observational studies and clinical trials that were included in analysis had small sample size and lacked quality to draw any conclusions and recommendations about modifying current dietary recommendations in pregnancy (Wei et al., 2016; Viana et al., 2014; Louie et al., 2013; Louie et al., 2010). Therefore, more research in this area is needed to better understand the contribution of dietary factors in the development of GDM.

#### 4.6 Association between Gestational Diabetes and Physical Activity

Adequate exercise has various beneficial effects on the course of pregnancy, labor and health of both mother and fetus (Dempsey et al., 2004). However, research has shown that amount of physical activity is decreased significantly particularly in early pregnancy due to nausea and fatigue and perceived risk to maternal and fetal health (Perichart-Perera et al., 2009). This issue might be one of reasons for low physical activity levels of pregnant women in our study. Other reasons might be associated with life style practices and extreme weather conditions. However, we could not find any study on barriers of physical activity among Emirati pregnant women, therefore comparisons cannot be made.

In this study, moderate and high physical activity in early pregnancy did not lower the risk of GDM among Emirati women. We did not find any study related to this research area in the UAE and neighboring countries. However, our results are against the bulk of studies conducted in different countries. For instance, an observational study mentioned that the risk of GDM was decreased by 20 - 55% in those women who are perform various types and intensities of recreational physical activity during and before pregnancy (Redden et al., 2011). Moreover, according to a prospective study, women who performed vigorous physical activity 12 months before their pregnancy had a 56% lower risk of developing GDM (Dempsey et al., 2004). Another study showed that women who performed recreational physical activity during first twenty weeks of pregnancy were at 44% lower risk of developing GDM than inactive women (Oken et al., 2006). Also, two systematic reviews found that likelihood of GDM was reduced by 25 and 18% respectively in physical activity intervention groups versus control groups (Russo et al., 2015; Da Silva et al., 2016). In contrast, some evidence has reported lack of association between physical activity and the risk of GDM, which is in line with our results. For instance, a review of thirteen randomized control trials revealed that risk of GDM was insignificant between intervention (diet and exercise) and control group (Bain et al., 2015). Ploeg did not find any association between sedentary time, physical activity and development of GDM in proceeding three years (Ploeg et al., 2011).

The lack of association between low physical activity and GDM in our study could be due to the utilization of a self-reported physical activity measurement tool, which might have diluted the magnitude of association between these variables. In addition, physical activity during the first trimester of pregnancy might not be as significant risk factor as physical activity before pregnancy or later trimester. Therefore, we recommend using objective tools for measuring physical activity for more reliable findings and exploring the possible role of time of physical activity in the development of GDM.

#### 4.7 Association between Gestational Diabetes and Body Mass Index

The present study found that increase in pre-pregnancy BMI by one unit increased the likelihood of GDM by 7% after controlling for physical activity, diet, vitamin D and age. The association between obesity and GDM is explained by various mechanisms in the literature. Obesity brings various metabolic changes in pregnancy including insulin resistance, which can lead to the development of GDM. Obesity is also known to be associated with defects in insulin receptors. Moreover, in obesity abundant adipocytes are released, which may produce excess inflammatory markers and eventually leads to the development of GDM (Kaaja & Rönnemaa, 2008).

Our findings are consistent with previous epidemiological data that have consistently demonstrated obesity to be a strong predictor of GDM. According to some studies, BMI above 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> increases 2 - 4 fold risk of GDM (Mohammadzadeh et al., 2015; Lin et al., 2016; Radesky et al., 2008). Systematic reviews and meta-analysis have also confirmed this association and have demonstrated an increase in strength of association of GDM with severity of obesity. According to Chu and others the risk of GDM was two, four and eight times higher among overweight, obese and very obese women respectively as compared to normal weight women (Chu et al., 2007). Another meta-analysis reported that overweight, moderately obese and morbidly obese women were two, three and four times likely to have GDM respectively (Torloni et al., 2009).

Although, an extensive body of evidence has confirmed association between increasing BMI and GDM, the magnitude of association varies significantly across studies. The possible reasons could include genetic predisposition to GDM in obese different populations, differences in measurement and diagnostic guidelines of GDM and obesity and presence of interaction and confounding factors which were not handled in individual studies. Regardless of these limitations, it is obvious from our study and previous data that obesity is a strong risk factor of GDM in Emirati women and elsewhere and should be tackled at global scale.

#### 4.8 Association between Gestational Diabetes and Family History of Diabetes

Research has extensively shown that family history of diabetes is an established risk factor of GDM. For instance, Salomon et al. reported that family history of diabetes increased the risk of GDM by 68% (Solomon et al., 1997). Lin and colleagues observed seven-folds higher risk of GDM in women with positive family history than those without family history of diabetes (Lin et al., 2016). Cianni found two times higher prevalence of GDM in pregnant women with positive family history of diabetes (14.5 vs. 7.3%) compared with women with negative family history of GDM (Di Cianni et al., 2003). Likewise, Yang and Erem found that two-fold and 4.5 fold higher risk of GDM respectively in women with positive family history of diabetes than those with negative family history of diabetes (Yang et al., 2009; Erem et al., 2015).

Coinciding with global estimates, studies from the Middle East and gulf countries have considered the family history of diabetes as a strong risk factor of GDM. A cohort study from Iran and cross-sectional studies from Turkey and Yemen found that the incidence and prevalence of GDM was significantly higher in women with positive family history of diabetes (Shirazian et al., 2009; Duman et al., 2015; Ali et al., 2016). To add further, a systematic review concluded that women with positive family history of diabetes were 3.46 times more likely to have GDM than those without any history of type 2 diabetes (Moosazadeh et al., 2017).

Our results are in accordance with earlier studies from gulf countries and elsewhere as we found 93% higher odds of GDM in women having positive family history of diabetes versus those with negative family history of diabetes. The consistency of findings confirms that family history of diabetes is a crucial risk factor of GDM. Therefore, pregnant women must be screened for the presence of family history of diabetes along with other major risk factors while screening for GDM.

#### **4.9 Strengths of the Study**

This was the first cohort study in the UAE that estimated the incidence of GDM in the UAE and prospectively assessed the association of vitamin D deficiency and other factors with the development of GDM. In addition, the measurement of vitamin D, physical activity and diet in early pregnancy enabled the researcher to establish the temporal relationship between maternal vitamin D deficiency and subsequent risk of GDM in second and third trimester of pregnancy.

Although, more than 80% of the participants had vitamin D deficiency or insufficiency, the sample size of 563 pregnant women was adequate to compare exposed and non-exposed groups. Also, this sample size achieved the power of 80% to detect the true difference in risk of GDM in vitamin D deficient women versus non-deficient women.

Cohort studies are subjected to high rate of loss to follow-up. The high follow-up rate reduced attrition bias (the attrition rate was 11.2 %) and did not undermine the power of study.

It was a well-designed study that used strict inclusion criteria. The strict criteria allowed the researcher to minimize selection bias and excluded potential confounding factors of GDM such as multi-parity, chronic diseases and previous history of GDM.

This study used internationally validated tools and diagnostic criteria to measure exposures and the outcome. The two-step method was employed to diagnose GDM and IOM criteria to determine vitamin D deficiency. Secondary exposures such as physical activity and diet intake were measured using GPAQ and FFQ. This approach allowed the researcher to accurately measure and compares our results with most of other studies. Moreover, this study measured all known confounding factors and included these in statistical analysis to determine the association between vitamin D and GDM.

Although, the study was conducted in one Emirate of the UAE; its findings can be generalized to all Emirati women because of similar living and socio-cultural characteristics of women across all Emirates.

#### 4.10 Limitations of the Study

This study prospectively assessed the temporal association of vitamin D deficiency, physical activity (during the last week) and diet (during the last year) with the subsequent development of GDM. However, observational nature of this study could not establish causal relationship between vitamin D deficiency and GDM and underscores the need of well-designed experimental studies.

Although, it was a well-designed study that measured and adjusted for all known confounders of vitamin D and GDM, there is every possibility that some unknown confounding factors were not measured by the researcher. Therefore, residual confounding may exist in the relationship between vitamin D and GDM. Considering this limitation, randomized control trials would be an ideal choice for studying the relationship between these conditions.

The information regarding physical activity was collected by using the GPAQ, which is a widely used and internationally validated tool. However, it collects self-reported data on physical activity in the past one week. This limitation might have led to over- or under-reporting of physical activity and recall bias. These two limitations may partly explain the lack of significant association between physical activity and the development of GDM. In the view of this limitation, objective methods of measuring physical activity are suggested to accurately assess the relationship between physical activity and GDM.

Studies have consistently shown that vitamin D levels vary throughout the pregnancy. However, in this study, vitamin D levels were measured only once in the first trimester of pregnancy. Therefore, a single measurement of vitamin D does not reflect the status of vitamin D in pregnancy and might have affected its degree of association with GDM.

Frequencies of food intake were used as a proxy for a quantitative indicator in the present study, the misclassification of food intake might have occurred. Such bias could have resulted in insignificant results with many of food groups. Second, we assessed food intake 'in the past Year'. The information during this period might not be representative of dietary habits throughout early pregnancy as it represents the dietary intake before pregnancy. However, previous studies have suggested that overall dietary patterns remain stable during pregnancy. Therefore, objective and accurate tools are needed to determine the exact association between dietary pattern and GDM.

### 4.11 Conclusion

This study found that vitamin D deficiency and low physical activity were not significant risk factors of GDM, while daily consumption of dates and red meat, positive family history of diabetes and increasing BMI were identified as significant risk factors of GDM among Emirati women. In addition, the incidence rate of GDM and prevalence rate of vitamin D deficiency was high in Emirati population.

## 4.12 Recommendation

Prevention of GDM by lifestyle changes including diet and physical activity may ensure a healthier future for both child and mother. These findings suggest that dietary modification and weight management interventions are required in pregnancy to reduce the risk of GDM and prevent its short and long-term maternal and neonatal complications. All women should receive diet therapy and nutritional advices from an appropriately skilled dietitian, to promote facilitate weight control and improve insulin sensitivity.

As the prevalence of vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency was high, we recommend that the main food items in like breakfast cereals, rice, flour, cooking oil, dairy products, fruit juice, eggs and bread should be fortified with enough amount of vitamin D and the women should be advised to be exposed to the sun at least 20 - 30 minutes for 3 - 4 days weekly.

More experimental studies are required to measure physical activity and dietary intake and unified methods and diagnostic criteria for GDM and vitamin D are recommended to accurately investigate the risk factors of GDM.

## 4.13 Output of the study

The abstract of the study has been presented in two conferences

- Poster presentation (22 23 March, 2017) in "Vitamin D deficiency, diet, physical activity and development of Gestational Diabetes in Emirati women in Ras Al Khaimah - UAE" at 16th Global Diabetes Conference and Medicare Expo, Holiday Inn, Rome, Italy
- Poster presentation (9 10 March, 2017) in "Diet, Physical activity in early pregnancy and development of GDM in Emirati women in Ras Al Khaimah -UAE" at 6th International Conference Vitamin D Deficiency, Nutrition and Human Health (MENA conference), Intercontinental Hotels & Resorts, Abu Dhabi, U.A.E.

#### References

- ADA. (2015). Classification and Diagnosis of Diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 38(Supplement 1), S8–S16. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc15-S005
- Agarwal, M. M. (2015). Gestational diabetes mellitus: An update on the current international diagnostic criteria. *World Journal of Diabetes*, 6(6), 782. https://doi.org/10.4239/wjd.v6.i6.782-791
- Agarwal, M. M., Dhatt, G. S., Punnose, J., & Koster, G. (2005). Gestational diabetes: dilemma caused by multiple international diagnostic criteria. *Diabetic Medicine: A Journal of the British Diabetic Association*, 22(12), 1731–1736. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-5491.2005.01706.x
- Agarwal, M. M., Dhatt, G. S., & Shah, S. M. (2010). Gestational diabetes mellitus: simplifying the international association of diabetes and pregnancy diagnostic algorithm using fasting plasma glucose. *Diabetes Care*, *33*(9), 2018–2020. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc10-0572
- Agarwal, M. M., Dhatt, G. S., Zayed, R., & Bali, N. (2007). Gestational diabetes: relevance of diagnostic criteria and preventive strategies for Type 2 diabetes mellitus. Archives of Gynecology and Obstetrics, 276(3), 237–243. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00404-007-0334-4
- Aghajafari, F., Nagulesapillai, T., Ronksley, P. E., Tough, S. C., O'Beirne, M., & Rabi, D. M. (2013a). Association between maternal serum 25hydroxyvitamin D level and pregnancy and neonatal outcomes: systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *BMJ*, 346, f1169. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.f1169, 1-14
- Aghajafari, F., Nagulesapillai, T., Ronksley, P. E., Tough, S. C., O'Beirne, M., & Rabi, D. M. (2013b). Association between maternal serum 25hydroxyvitamin D level and pregnancy and neonatal outcomes: systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *BMJ (Clinical Research Ed.)*, 346, f1169.
- Al Anouti, F., Thomas, J., Abdel-Wareth, L., Rajah, J., Grant, W. B., & Haq, A. (2011). Vitamin D deficiency and sun avoidance among university students at Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. *Dermato-Endocrinology*, 3(4), 235–239. https://doi.org/10.4161/derm.3.4.16881
- Al-Faris, N. A. (2016). High Prevalence of Vitamin D Deficiency among Pregnant Saudi Women. *Nutrients*, 8(2). https://doi.org/10.3390/nu8020077, 1-10
- Ali, A. D., Mehrass, A. A.-K. O., Al-Adhroey, A. H., Al-Shammakh, A. A., & Amran, A. A. (2016). Prevalence and risk factors of gestational diabetes mellitus in Yemen. *International Journal of Women's Health*, 8, 35–41. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJWH.S97502

- Al-Kaabi, J., Al-Maskari, F., Afandi, B., Parkar, H., & Nagelkerke, N. (2009). Physical Activity and Reported Barriers to Activity Among Type 2 Diabetic Patients in the United Arab Emirates. *The Review of Diabetic Studies*, 6(4), 271–278. https://doi.org/10.1900/RDS.2009.6.271
- Al-Mohaimeed, A., Khan, N. Z., Naeem, Z., Al-Mogbel, E., Al-Mohaimeed, A., Khan, N. Z., ... Al-Mogbel, E. (2012). Vitamin D Status among Women in Middle East. *Journal of Health Science*, 2(6), 49–56.
- Al-Rubeaan, K., Al-Manaa, H. A., Khoja, T. A., Youssef, A. M., Al-Sharqawi, A. H., Siddiqui, K., & Ahmad, N. A. (2014). A community-based survey for different abnormal glucose metabolism among pregnant women in a random household study (SAUDI-DM). *BMJ Open*, 4(8), e005906. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2014-005906
- Al-Shaikh, G. K., Ibrahim, G. H., Fayed, A. A., & Al-Mandeel, H. (2016). Impact of vitamin D deficiency on maternal and birth outcomes in the Saudi population: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 16, 119. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-016-090, 1-4
- Al-Shoumer, K. A., & Al-Essa, T. M. (2015). Is there a relationship between vitamin D with insulin resistance and diabetes mellitus? *World Journal of Diabetes*, 6(8), 1057–1064. https://doi.org/10.4239/wjd.v6.i8.1057
- Alzaim, M., & Wood, R. J. (2013). Vitamin D and gestational diabetes mellitus. *Nutrition Reviews*, *71*(3), 158–167. https://doi.org/10.1111/nure.12018
- Arnold, D. L., Enquobahrie, D. A., Qiu, C., Huang, J., Grote, N., VanderStoep, A., & Williams, M. A. (2015). Early pregnancy maternal vitamin D concentrations and risk of gestational diabetes mellitus. *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology*, 29(3), 200–210. https://doi.org/10.1111/ppe.12182
- Asemi, Z., Samimi, M., Tabassi, Z., Sabihi, S., & Esmaillzadeh, A. (2013). A randomized controlled clinical trial investigating the effect of DASH diet on insulin resistance, inflammation, and oxidative stress in gestational diabetes. *Nutrition*, 29(4), 619–624. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nut.2012.11.020
- Ates, S., Aydın, S., Karasu, A. F. G., & Dane, B. (2017). Association Between Maternal Vitamin D Status and Risk of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus in Pregnant Women, 55, 15–20. https://doi.org/10.4274/haseki.3179
- Bain, E., Crane, M., Tieu, J., Han, S., Crowther, C. A., & Middleton, P. (2015). Diet and exercise interventions for preventing gestational diabetes mellitus. *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, (4), CD010443. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD010443.pub2, 1-10
- Baker, A. M., Haeri, S., Camargo, C. A., Stuebe, A. M., & Boggess, K. A. (2012). First-trimester maternal vitamin D status and risk for gestational diabetes

(GDM) a nested case-control study. *Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews*, 28(2), 164–168. https://doi.org/10.1002/dmrr.1282

- Bao, W., Bowers, K., Tobias, D. K., Hu, F. B., & Zhang, C. (2013). Prepregnancy Dietary Protein Intake, Major Dietary Protein Sources, and the Risk of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus. *Diabetes Care*, DC\_122018. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc12-2018, 2001-2008
- Bao, W., Bowers, K., Tobias, D. K., Olsen, S. F., Chavarro, J., Vaag, A., ... Zhang, C. (2014). Prepregnancy low-carbohydrate dietary pattern and risk of gestational diabetes mellitus: a prospective cohort study1234. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 99(6), 1378–1384. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.113.082966
- Barrett, H., & McElduff, A. (2010). Vitamin D and pregnancy: An old problem revisited. *Best Practice & Research. Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 24(4), 527–539. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beem.2010.05.010
- Baz, B., Riveline, J.-P., & Gautier, J.-F. (2016). ENDOCRINOLOGY OF PREGNANCY: Gestational diabetes mellitus: definition, aetiological and clinical aspects. *European Journal of Endocrinology*, 174(2), R43–51. https://doi.org/10.1530/EJE-15-0378
- Bellamy, L., Casas, J.-P., Hingorani, A. D., & Williams, D. (2009). Type 2 diabetes mellitus after gestational diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet*, 373(9677), 1773–1779. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60731-5
- Bener, A., Al-Hamaq, A. O., & Saleh, N. M. (2013a). Association between vitamin D insufficiency and adverse pregnancy outcome: global comparisons. *International Journal of Women's Health*, 5, 523–531. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJWH.S51403
- Bener, A., Al-Hamaq, A. O., & Saleh, N. M. (2013b). Association between vitamin D insufficiency and adverse pregnancy outcome: global comparisons. *International Journal of Women's Health*, 5, 523–531. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJWH.S51403
- Bener, A., Saleh, N. M., & Al-Hamaq, A. (2011). Prevalence of gestational diabetes and associated maternal and neonatal complications in a fast-developing community: global comparisons. *International Journal of Women's Health*, 3, 367–373. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJWH.S26094
- Bonilla, C., Ness, A. R., Wills, A. K., Lawlor, D. A., Lewis, S. J., & Davey Smith, G. (2014). Skin pigmentation, sun exposure and vitamin D levels in children of the Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children. *BMC Public Health*, 14, 597. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-14-597

- Bo, S., Menato, G., Lezo, A., Signorile, A., Bardelli, C., Michieli, F. D., ... Pagano, G. (2001). Dietary fat and gestational hyperglycaemia. *Diabetologia*, 44(8), 972–978. https://doi.org/10.1007/s001250100590
- Bowers, K., Tobias, D. K., Yeung, E., Hu, F. B., & Zhang, C. (2012). A prospective study of prepregnancy dietary fat intake and risk of gestational diabetes123. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 95(2), 446–453. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.111.026294
- Brankston, G. N., Mitchell, B. F., Ryan, E. A., & Okun, N. B. (2004). Resistance exercise decreases the need for insulin in overweight women with gestational diabetes mellitus. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 190(1), 188–193.
- Buchanan, T. A., Xiang, A. H., & Page, K. A. (2012a). Gestational diabetes mellitus: risks and management during and after pregnancy. *Nature Reviews*. *Endocrinology*, 8(11), 639–649. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2012.96
- Buchanan, T. A., Xiang, A. H., & Page, K. A. (2012b). Gestational diabetes mellitus: risks and management during and after pregnancy. *Nature Reviews. Endocrinology*, 8(11), 639–649. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2012.96
- Burris, H. H., Rifas-Shiman, M. S. L., Kleinman, K., Litonjua, A. A., Huh, S. Y., Rich-Edwards, J. W., ... Gillman, M. W. (2012). Vitamin D Deficiency in Pregnancy and Gestational Diabetes. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 207(3), 182.e1–182.e8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2012.05.022
- Chasan-Taber, L., Silveira, M., Marcus, B. H., Braun, B., Stanek, E., & Markenson, G. (2011). Feasibility and efficacy of a physical activity intervention among pregnant women: the behaviors affecting baby and you (B.A.B.Y.) study. *Journal of Physical Activity & Health*, 8 Suppl 2, S228–238.
- Chen, L., Hu, F. B., Yeung, E., Willett, W., & Zhang, C. (2009). Prospective Study of Pre-Gravid Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Consumption and the Risk of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus. *Diabetes Care*, 32(12), 2236–2241. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc09-0866
- Chu, S. Y., Callaghan, W. M., Kim, S. Y., Schmid, C. H., Lau, J., England, L. J., & Dietz, P. M. (2007). Maternal Obesity and Risk of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus. *Diabetes Care*, 30(8), 2070–2076. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc06-2559a
- Clifton-Bligh, R. J., McElduff, P., & McElduff, A. (2008a). Maternal vitamin D deficiency, ethnicity and gestational diabetes. *Diabetic Medicine: A Journal* of the British Diabetic Association, 25(6), 678–684. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-5491.2008.02422.x

- Clifton-Bligh, R. J., McElduff, P., & McElduff, A. (2008b). Maternal vitamin D deficiency, ethnicity and gestational diabetes. *Diabetic Medicine: A Journal* of the British Diabetic Association, 25(6), 678–684. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-5491.2008.02422.x
- Cozzolino, M., Serena, C., Maggio, L., Rambaldi, M. P., Simeone, S., Mello, G., ... Mecacci, F. (2017). Analysis of the main risk factors for gestational diabetes diagnosed with International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups (IADPSG) criteria in multiple pregnancies. *Journal of Endocrinological Investigation*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40618-017-0646-6, 937-943
- Crume, T. L., Ogden, L., Daniels, S., Hamman, R. F., Norris, J. M., & Dabelea, D. (2011). The Impact of In Utero Exposure to Diabetes on Childhood Body Mass Index Growth Trajectories: The EPOCH Study. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, *158*(6), 941–946. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2010.12.007
- Cypryk, K., Szymczak, W., Czupryniak, L., Sobczak, M., & Lewiński, A. (2008). Gestational diabetes mellitus - an analysis of risk factors. *Endokrynologia Polska*, 59(5), 393–397.
- Dabelea, D., Snell-Bergeon, J. K., Hartsfield, C. L., Bischoff, K. J., Hamman, R. F., & McDuffie, R. S. (2005). Increasing Prevalence of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus (GDM) Over Time and by Birth Cohort. *Diabetes Care*, 28(3), 579– 584. https://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.28.3.579
- Dalgård, C., Petersen, M. S., Weihe, P., & Grandjean, P. (2011b). Vitamin D status in relation to glucose metabolism and type 2 diabetes in septuagenarians. *Diabetes Care*, *34*(6), 1284–1288. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc10-2084
- Da Silva, S. G., Ricardo, L. I., Evenson, K. R., & Hallal, P. C. (2016). Leisure-Time Physical Activity in Pregnancy and Maternal-Child Health: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials and Cohort Studies. *Sports Medicine (Auckland, N.Z.)*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-016-0565-2, 295-317
- Davenport, M. H., Mottola, M. F., McManus, R., & Gratton, R. (2008). A walking intervention improves capillary glucose control in women with gestational diabetes mellitus: a pilot study. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism = Physiologie Appliquée, Nutrition et Métabolisme, 33*(3), 511– 517. https://doi.org/10.1139/H08-018
- Dawodu, A., Agarwal, M., Hossain, M., Kochiyil, J., & Zayed, R. (2003).
  Hypovitaminosis D and vitamin D deficiency in exclusively breast-feeding infants and their mothers in summer: a justification for vitamin D supplementation of breast-feeding infants. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 142(2), 169–173. https://doi.org/10.1067/mpd.2003.63

- Dawodu, A., & Wagner, C. L. (2007). Mother-child vitamin D deficiency: an international perspective. Archives of Disease in Childhood, 92(9), 737–740. https://doi.org/10.1136/adc.2007.122689
- Dehghan, M., Al Hamad, N., Yusufali, A., Nusrath, F., Yusuf, S., & Merchant, A. T. (2005). Development of a semi-quantitative food frequency questionnaire for use in United Arab Emirates and Kuwait based on local foods. *Nutrition Journal*, 4, 18. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2891-4-18
- Dempsey, J. C., Butler, C. L., Sorensen, T. K., Lee, I.-M., Thompson, M. L., Miller, R. S., ... Williams, M. A. (2004). A case-control study of maternal recreational physical activity and risk of gestational diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, 66(2), 203–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2004.03.010
- Dempsey, J. C., Sorensen, T. K., Williams, M. A., Lee, I.-M., Miller, R. S., Dashow, E. E., & Luthy, D. A. (2004). Prospective study of gestational diabetes mellitus risk in relation to maternal recreational physical activity before and during pregnancy. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 159(7), 663–670.
- Di Cianni, G., Volpe, L., Lencioni, C., Miccoli, R., Cuccuru, I., Ghio, A., ... Benzi, L. (2003). Prevalence and risk factors for gestational diabetes assessed by universal screening. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, 62(2), 131– 137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2003.07.004
- Dode, M. A. S. de O., & dos Santos, I. S. (2009). Non classical risk factors for gestational diabetes mellitus: a systematic review of the literature. *Cadernos de Saúde Pública*, 25 Suppl 3, S341–359.
- Duman, N. B. (2015). Frequency of gestational diabetes mellitus and the associated risk factors. *Pakistan Journal of Medical Sciences*, 31(1), 194–197. https://doi.org/10.12669/pjms.311.5617
- Eggemoen, Å. R., Falk, R. S., Knutsen, K. V., Lagerløv, P., Sletner, L., Birkeland, K. I., & Jenum, A. K. (2016). Vitamin D deficiency and supplementation in pregnancy in a multiethnic population-based cohort. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 16, 7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-016-0796-0, 1-10
- El Lithy, A., Abdella, R. M., El-Faissal, Y. M., Sayed, A. M., & Samie, R. M. A. (2014). The relationship between low maternal serum vitamin D levels and glycemic control in gestational diabetes assessed by HbA1c levels: an observational cross-sectional study. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 14, 362. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-14-362, 1-6
- Erem, C., Kuzu, U. B., Deger, O., & Can, G. (2015). Prevalence of gestational diabetes mellitus and associated risk factors in Turkish women: the Trabzon GDM Study. Archives of Medical Science; Poznan, 11(4), 724–735. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy.uaeu.ac.ae/10.5114/aoms.2015.53291

- Fadl, H., Magnuson, A., Östlund, I., Montgomery, S., Hanson, U., & Schwarcz, E. (2014). Gestational diabetes mellitus and later cardiovascular disease: a Swedish population based case-control study. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, *121*(12), 1530–1536. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.12754
- Farrant, H. J. W., Krishnaveni, G. V., Hill, J. C., Boucher, B. J., Fisher, D. J., Noonan, K., ... Fall, C. H. D. (2009). Vitamin D insufficiency is common in Indian mothers but is not associated with gestational diabetes or variation in newborn size. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 63(5), 646–652. https://doi.org/10.1038/ejcn.2008.14
- Feig, D. S., Zinman, B., Wang, X., & Hux MD, J. E. (2008). Risk of development of diabetes mellitus after diagnosis of gestational diabetes. *CMAJ*: Canadian Medical Association Journal, 179(3), 229–234. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.080012
- Ferrara, A. (2007). Increasing prevalence of gestational diabetes mellitus: a public health perspective. *Diabetes Care*, 30 Suppl 2, S141–146. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc07-s206
- Flood-Nichols, S. K., Tinnemore, D., Huang, R. R., Napolitano, P. G., & Ippolito, D. L. (2015). Vitamin D deficiency in early pregnancy. *PloS One*, 10(4), e0123763. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0123763, 1-15
- Girgis, C. M., Gunton, J. E., & Cheung, N. W. (2012). The Influence of Ethnicity on the Development of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus in Women with Gestational Diabetes: A Prospective Study and Review of the Literature. *International Scholarly Research Notices*, 2012, e341638. https://doi.org/10.5402/2012/341638, 1-8
- Global Physical Activity Questionnaire. (n.d.). Retrieved from http://www.who.int/chp/steps/GPAQ%20Instrument%20and%20Analysis%2 0Guide%20v2.pdf, 1-25
- Goueslard, K., Cottenet, J., Mariet, A.-S., Giroud, M., Cottin, Y., Petit, J.-M., & Quantin, C. (2016). Early cardiovascular events in women with a history of gestational diabetes mellitus. *Cardiovascular Diabetology*, 15, 15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12933-016-0338-0, 1-7
- Grant, S. M., Wolever, T. M. S., O'Connor, D. L., Nisenbaum, R., & Josse, R. G. (2011). Effect of a low glycaemic index diet on blood glucose in women with gestational hyperglycaemia. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, 91(1), 15–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2010.09.002
- Gunderson, E. P., Jacobs, D. R., Chiang, V., Lewis, C. E., Tsai, A., Quesenberry, C.
   P., & Sidney, S. (2009). Childbearing is associated with higher incidence of the metabolic syndrome among women of reproductive age controlling for measurements before pregnancy: the CARDIA study. *American Journal of*

*Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 201(2), 177.e1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2009.03.031

- Haq, A., Wimalawansa, S. J., Pludowski, P., & Anouti, F. A. (2016). Clinical practice guidelines for vitamin D in the United Arab Emirates. *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsbmb.2016.09.021, 1-8
- Harvard Medical School. (2015). Glycemic index and glycemic load for 100+ foods [Education]. Retrieved May 18, 2017, from http://www.health.harvard.edu/diseases-and-conditions/glycemic-index-andglycemic-load-for-100-foods
- Hedderson, M. M., Darbinian, J. A., & Ferrara, A. (2010). Disparities in the risk of gestational diabetes by race-ethnicity and country of birth. *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology*, 24(5), 441–448. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3016.2010.01140.x
- He, J.-R., Yuan, M.-Y., Chen, N.-N., Lu, J.-H., Hu, C.-Y., Mai, W.-B., ... Qiu, X. (2015). Maternal dietary patterns and gestational diabetes mellitus: a large prospective cohort study in China. *The British Journal of Nutrition*, 113(8), 1292–1300. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114515000707
- Holick, M. F., Binkley, N. C., Bischoff-Ferrari, H. A., Gordon, C. M., Hanley, D. A., Heaney, R. P., ... Weaver, C. M. (2011). Evaluation, Treatment, and Prevention of Vitamin D Deficiency: an Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 96(7), 1911–1930. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2011-0385
- Holick, M. F., & Chen, T. C. (2008). Vitamin D deficiency: a worldwide problem with health consequences. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 87(4), 1080S–1086S. Retrieved from http://ajcn.nutrition.org/content/87/4/1080S
- Holmes, V. A., Barnes, M. S., Alexander, H. D., McFaul, P., & Wallace, J. M. W. (2009). Vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency in pregnant women: a longitudinal study. *The British Journal of Nutrition*, 102(6), 876–881. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114509297236
- Hunt, K. J., & Schuller, K. L. (2007). The Increasing Prevalence of Diabetes in Pregnancy. Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinics of North America, 34(2), 173– vii. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ogc.2007.03.00
- Hussein, I., Taha, Z., Tewfik, I., Badawi, S., Siddieg, H., Adegboye, A. R., & McGrady, K. (2016). Risk Factors for Maternal Vitamin D Deficiency within the United Arab Emirates. *Journal of Pregnancy and Child Health*, 3(5), 1000276. Retrieved from https://dx.doi.org/10.4172/2376-127X.1000276
- Institute of Medicine (US) Committee to Review Dietary Reference Intakes for Vitamin D and Calcium. (2011). *Dietary Reference Intakes for Calcium and Vitamin D*. (A. C. Ross, C. L. Taylor, A. L. Yaktine, & H. B. Del Valle,

Eds.). Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US). Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK56070/

- Jafarzadeh, L., Motamedi, A., Behradmanesh, M., & Hashemi, R. (2015). A COMPARISON OF SERUM LEVELS OF 25-HYDROXY VITAMIN D IN PREGNANT WOMEN AT RISK FOR GESTATIONAL DIABETES MELLITUS AND WOMEN WITHOUT RISK FACTORS. *Materia Socio-Medica*, 27(5), 318–322. https://doi.org/10.5455/msm.2015.27.318-322
- Jain, M., Kapry, S., Jain, S., Singh, S. K., & Singh, T. B. (2015). Maternal Vitamin D Deficiency: A Risk Factor for Gestational Diabetes Mellitus in North India. *Gynecology & Obstetrics*, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.4172/2161-0932.1000264, 1-6
- Joergensen, J. S., Lamont, R. F., & Torloni, M. R. (2014). Vitamin D and gestational diabetes: an update. *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care*, 17(4), 360–367. https://doi.org/10.1097/MCO.00000000000064
- Kaaja, R., & Rönnemaa, T. (2008b). Gestational Diabetes: Pathogenesis and Consequences to Mother and Offspring. *The Review of Diabetic Studies : RDS*, 5(4), 194–202. https://doi.org/10.1900/RDS.2008.5.194, 979-986
- Karamanos, B., Thanopoulou, A., Anastasiou, E., Assaad-Khalil, S., Albache, N., Bachaoui, M., ... Savona-Ventura, C., MGSD-GDM Study Group. (2014).
  Relation of the Mediterranean diet with the incidence of gestational diabetes. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 68(1), 8–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/ejcn.2013.177
- Karras, S., Paschou, S. A., Kandaraki, E., Anagnostis, P., Annweiler, C., Tarlatzis, B. C., ... Goulis, D. G. (2016). Hypovitaminosis D in pregnancy in the Mediterranean region: a systematic review. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. https://doi.org/10.1038/ejcn.2016.12
- Kennel, K. A., Drake, M. T., & Hurley, D. L. (2010). Vitamin D Deficiency in Adults: When to Test and How to Treat. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 85(8), 752–758. https://doi.org/10.4065/mcp.2010.0138
- Kim, C., Newton, K. M., & Knopp, R. H. (2002). Gestational diabetes and the incidence of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review. *Diabetes Care*, 25(10), 1862–1868.
- Lacroix, M., Battista, M.-C., Doyon, M., Houde, G., Ménard, J., Ardilouze, J.-L., ... Perron, P. (2014). Lower vitamin D levels at first trimester are associated with higher risk of developing gestational diabetes mellitus. *Acta Diabetologica*, 51(4), 609–616. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00592-014-0564-4
- Laleye, L. C., Kerkadi, A. H., Wasesa, A. A., Rao, M. V., & Aboubacar, A. (2011). Assessment of vitamin D and vitamin A intake by female students at the United Arab Emirates University based on self-reported dietary and selected

fortified food consumption. *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition*, 62(4), 370–376. https://doi.org/10.3109/09637486.2010.533159

- Leng, J., Shao, P., Zhang, C., Tian, H., Zhang, F., Zhang, S., ... Yang, X. (2015). Prevalence of gestational diabetes mellitus and its risk factors in Chinese pregnant women: a prospective population-based study in Tianjin, China. *PloS One*, 10(3), e0121029. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0121029, 1-12
- Lin, P.-C., Hung, C.-H., Chan, T.-F., Lin, K.-C., Hsu, Y.-Y., & Tzeng, Y.-L. (2016). The risk factors for gestational diabetes mellitus: A retrospective study. *Midwifery*, 42, 16–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2016.09.008
- Lips, P. (2010). Worldwide status of vitamin D nutrition. *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, *121*(1-2), 297–300. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsbmb.2010.02.021
- Liu, B., Xu, Y., Zhang, Y., Cai, J., Deng, L., Yang, J., ... Wang, Z. (2016). Early Diagnosis of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus (EDoGDM) study: a protocol for a prospective, longitudinal cohort study. *BMJ Open*, 6(11), e012315. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-012315, 1-9
- Louie, J. C. Y., Brand-Miller, J. C., Markovic, T. P., Ross, G. P., & Moses, R. G. (2010). Glycemic index and pregnancy: a systematic literature review. *Journal of Nutrition and Metabolism*, 2010, 282464. https://doi.org/10.1155/2010/282464, 1-6
- Louie, J. C. Y., Brand-Miller, J. C., & Moses, R. G. (2013). Carbohydrates, Glycemic Index, and Pregnancy Outcomes in Gestational Diabetes. *Current Diabetes Reports*, 13(1), 6–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11892-012-0332-1
- Lu, M., Xu, Y., Lv, L., & Zhang, M. (2016). Association between vitamin D status and the risk of gestational diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis. *Archives of Gynecology and Obstetrics*, 293(5), 959–966. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00404-016-4010-4
- Maghbooli, Z., Hossein-nezhad, A., Karimi, F., Shafaei, A.-R., & Larijani, B. (2008). Correlation between vitamin D3 deficiency and insulin resistance in pregnancy. *Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews*, 24(1), 27–32. https://doi.org/10.1002/dmrr.737
- Makgoba, M., Nelson, S. M., Savvidou, M., Messow, C.-M., Nicolaides, K., & Sattar, N. (2011). First-Trimester Circulating 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Levels and Development of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus. *Diabetes Care*, 34(5), 1091–1093. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc10-2264
- Marí-Sanchis, A., Díaz-Jurado, G., Basterra-Gortari, F. J., de la Fuente-Arrillaga, C., Martínez-González, M. A., & Bes-Rastrollo, M. (2017). Association between pre-pregnancy consumption of meat, iron intake, and the risk of gestational

diabetes: the SUN project. *European Journal of Nutrition*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00394-017-1377-3, 1-11

- Mohammadzadeh, F., Eshghinia, S., & Vakili, M. A. (2015). The prevalence of gestational diabetes mellitus and its related risk factors in Gorgan, north of Iran. Selective or universal screening test is cost-effective? *International Journal of Diabetes in Developing Countries*, 35(3), 225–229. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13410-014-0209-8
- Moosazadeh, M., Asemi, Z., Lankarani, K. B., Tabrizi, R., Maharlouei, N., Naghibzadeh-Tahami, A., ... Akbari, M. (2017). Family history of diabetes and the risk of gestational diabetes mellitus in Iran: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabetes & Metabolic Syndrome: Clinical Research & Reviews*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsx.2016.12.016, 1-6
- Moses, R. G., Barker, M., Winter, M., Petocz, P., & Brand-Miller, J. C. (2009). Can a Low–Glycemic Index Diet Reduce the Need for Insulin in Gestational Diabetes Mellitus? *Diabetes Care*, 32(6), 996–1000. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc09-0007
- Moses, R. G., Morris, G. J., Petocz, P., San Gil, F., & Garg, D. (2011). The impact of potential new diagnostic criteria on the prevalence of gestational diabetes mellitus in Australia. *The Medical Journal of Australia*, 194(7), 338–340.
- Mulligan, M. L., Felton, S. K., Riek, A. E., & Bernal-Mizrachi, C. (2010). Implications of vitamin D deficiency in pregnancy and lactation. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 202(5), 429.e1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2009.092
- Nair, R., & Maseeh, A. (2012). Vitamin D: The "sunshine" vitamin. Journal of Pharmacology & Pharmacotherapeutics, 3(2), 118–126. https://doi.org/10.4103/0976-500X.95506
- Narchi, H., Kochiyil, J., Zayed, R., Abdulrazzak, W., & Agarwal, M. (2010). Maternal vitamin D status throughout and after pregnancy. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology: The Journal of the Institute of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 30(2), 137–142. https://doi.org/10.3109/01443610903315652
- Ng, S. W., Zaghloul, S., Ali, H., Harrison, G., Yeatts, K., El Sadig, M., & Popkin, B. M. (2011). Nutrition transition in the United Arab Emirates. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 65(12), 1328–1337. https://doi.org/10.1038/ejcn.2011.135
- NICE. (2016). Hypertension in adults: diagnosis and management. Retrieved December 4, 2016, from https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/CG127/chapter/1-Guidance#diagnosing-hypertension-2
- Oken, E., Ning, Y., Rifas-Shiman, S. L., Radesky, J. S., Rich-Edwards, J. W., & Gillman, M. W. (2006). Associations of physical activity and inactivity

before and during pregnancy with glucose tolerance. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, *108*(5), 1200–1207. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.AOG.0000241088.60745.70

- Olsen, S. F., Houshmand-Oeregaard, A., Granström, C., Langhoff-Roos, J., Damm, P., Bech, B. H., ... Zhang, C. (2016). Diagnosing gestational diabetes mellitus in the Danish National Birth Cohort. Acta Obstetricia Et Gynecologica Scandinavica. https://doi.org/10.1111/aogs.13083, 47-60
- Palani. (2014). GESTATIONAL DIABETES- A REVIEW. Journal of Global Trends in Pharmaceutical Sciences, 5(2). Retrieved from www.jgtps.com, 1-6
- Parildar, H., Dogruk Unal, A., Aksan Desteli, G., Cigerli, O., & Guvener Demirag, N. (2013). Frequency of Vitamin D deficiency in pregnant diabetics at Baskent University Hospital, Istanbul. *Pakistan Journal of Medical Sciences*, 29(1), 15–20. https://doi.org/10.12669/pjms.291.2896
- Park, S., Yoon, H.-K., Ryu, H.-M., Han, Y. J., Lee, S. W., Park, B. K., ... Kim, S.-H. (2014). Maternal vitamin D deficiency in early pregnancy is not associated with gestational diabetes mellitus development or pregnancy outcomes in Korean pregnant women in a prospective study. *Journal of Nutritional Science and Vitaminology*, 60(4), 269–275.
- Parlea, L., Bromberg, I. L., Feig, D. S., Vieth, R., Merman, E., & Lipscombe, L. L. (2012). Association between serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D in early pregnancy and risk of gestational diabetes mellitus. *Diabetic Medicine*, 29(7), e25–e32. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-5491.2011.03550.x
- Pérez-López, F. R., Pasupuleti, V., Mezones-Holguin, E., Benites-Zapata, V. A., Thota, P., Deshpande, A., & Hernandez, A. V. (2015). Effect of vitamin D supplementation during pregnancy on maternal and neonatal outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Fertility* and Sterility, 103(5), 1278–1288.e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2015.02.019
- Perichart-Perera, O., Balas-Nakash, M., Parra-Covarrubias, A., Rodriguez-Cano, A., Ramirez-Torres, A., Ortega-González, C., & Vadillo-Ortega, F. (2009). A medical nutrition therapy program improves perinatal outcomes in Mexican pregnant women with gestational diabetes and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *The Diabetes Educator*, 35(6), 1004–1013. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145721709343125
- Poel, Y. H. M., Hummel, P., Lips, P., Stam, F., van der Ploeg, T., & Simsek, S. (2012). Vitamin D and gestational diabetes: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *European Journal of Internal Medicine*, 23(5), 465–469. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejim.2012.01.007

- Radesky, J. S., Oken, E., Rifas-Shiman, S. L., Kleinman, K. P., Rich-Edwards, J. W., & Gillman, M. W. (2008). Diet during early pregnancy and development of gestational diabetes. *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology*, 22(1), 47–59. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3016.2007.00899.x
- Rajab, K. E., Issa, A. A., Hasan, Z. A., Rajab, E., & Jaradat, A. A. (2012). Incidence of gestational diabetes mellitus in Bahrain from 2002 to 2010. *International Journal of Gynaecology and Obstetrics: The Official Organ of the International Federation of Gynaecology and Obstetrics*, 117(1), 74–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgo.2011.11.013
- R Development Core Team (2008). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. ISBN 3-900051-07-0, URL http://www.R-project.org. (n.d.).
- Redden, S. L., LaMonte, M. J., Freudenheim, J. L., & Rudra, C. B. (2011). The association between gestational diabetes mellitus and recreational physical activity. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 15(4), 514–519. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-010-0586-7
- Reece, E. A., Leguizamón, G., & Wiznitzer, A. (2009). Gestational diabetes: the need for a common ground. *Lancet*, 373(9677), 1789–1797. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60515-8
- Ross, A. C., Manson, J. E., Abrams, S. A., Aloia, J. F., Brannon, P. M., Clinton, S. K., ... Shapses, S. A. (2011). The 2011 report on dietary reference intakes for calcium and vitamin D from the Institute of Medicine: what clinicians need to know. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 96(1), 53–58. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2010-2704
- Russo, L. M., Nobles, C., Ertel, K. A., Chasan-Taber, L., & Whitcomb, B. W. (2015). Physical activity interventions in pregnancy and risk of gestational diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, *125*(3), 576–582. https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.00000000000691
- Saadi, H., Al-Kaabi, J., Benbarka, M., Khalili, A., Almahmeed, W., Nagelkerke, N., ... Kazam, E. (2010a). Prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes and quality of care in diabetic patients followed at primary and tertiary clinics in Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. *The Review of Diabetic Studies: RDS*, 7(4), 293–302. https://doi.org/10.1900/RDS.2010.7.293
- Saadi, H., Al-Kaabi, J., Benbarka, M., Khalili, A., Almahmeed, W., Nagelkerke, N., ... Kazam, E. (2010b). Prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes and quality of care in diabetic patients followed at primary and tertiary clinics in Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. *The Review of Diabetic Studies: RDS*, 7(4), 293–302. https://doi.org/10.1900/RDS.2010.7.293

- Saadi, H., Dawodu, A., Afandi, B. O., Zayed, R., Benedict, S., & Nagelkerke, N. (2007). Efficacy of daily and monthly high-dose calciferol in vitamin Ddeficient nulliparous and lactating women. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 85(6), 1565–1571.
- Saldana, T. M., Siega-Riz, A. M., & Adair, L. S. (2004). Effect of macronutrient intake on the development of glucose intolerance during pregnancy. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 79(3), 479–486. Retrieved from http://ajcn.nutrition.org/content/79/3/479
- Savitz, D. A., Janevic, T. M., Engel, S. M., Kaufman, J. S., & Herring, A. H.
  (2008a). Ethnicity and gestational diabetes in New York City, 1995-2003. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 115(8), 969–978. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-0528.2008.01763.x
- Savvidou, M., Akolekar, R., Samaha, R., Masconi, A., & Nicolaides, K. (2011).
  Maternal serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels at 11+0–13+6 weeks in pregnant women with diabetes mellitus and in those with macrosomic neonates. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, *118*(8), 951–955. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-0528.2011.02982.x
- Schneider, S., Hoeft, B., Freerksen, N., Fischer, B., Roehrig, S., Yamamoto, S., & Maul, H. (2011). Neonatal complications and risk factors among women with gestational diabetes mellitus. *Acta Obstetricia Et Gynecologica Scandinavica*, 90(3), 231–237. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0412.2010.01040.x
- Schulze, M. B., Liu, S., Rimm, E. B., Manson, J. E., Willett, W. C., & Hu, F. B. (2004). Glycemic index, glycemic load, and dietary fiber intake and incidence of type 2 diabetes in younger and middle-aged women. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 80(2), 348–356.
- Sedgwick, P. (2013). Prospective cohort studies: advantages and disadvantages. *BMJ*, 347, f6726. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.f6726, 1-6
- Serehi, A. A., Ahmed, A. M., Shakeel, F., Alkhatani, K., El-Bakri, N. K., Buhari, B. A. M., ... Aljohani, N. (2015). A comparison on the prevalence and outcomes of gestational versus type 2 diabetes mellitus in 1718 Saudi pregnancies. *International Journal of Clinical and Experimental Medicine*, 8(7), 11502–11507.
- Seth, A., Marwaha, R. K., Singla, B., Aneja, S., Mehrotra, P., Sastry, A., ... Tandon, N. (2009). Vitamin D nutritional status of exclusively breast fed infants and their mothers. *Journal of Pediatric Endocrinology & Metabolism: JPEM*, 22(3), 241–246.
- Shah, B. R., Retnakaran, R., & Booth, G. L. (2008). Increased Risk of Cardiovascular Disease in Young Women Following Gestational Diabetes Mellitus. *Diabetes Care*, 31(8), 1668–1669. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc08-0706

- Shirazian, N., Emdadi, R., Mahboubi, M., Motevallian, A., Fazel-Sarjuei, Z., Sedighpour, N., ... Shahmoradi, N. (2009). Screening for gestational diabetes: usefulness of clinical risk factors. *Archives of Gynecology and Obstetrics*, 280(6), 933. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00404-009-1027-y
- Soheilykhah, S., Mojibian, M., Rashidi, M., Rahimi-Saghand, S., & Jafari, F. (2010). Maternal vitamin D status in gestational diabetes mellitus. *Nutrition in Clinical Practice: Official Publication of the American Society for Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition*, 25(5), 524–527. https://doi.org/10.1177/0884533610379851
- Solomon, C. G., Willett, W. C., Carey, V. J., Rich-Edwards, J., Hunter, D. J., Colditz, G. A., ... Manson, J. E. (1997). A Prospective Study of Pregravid Determinants of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus. *JAMA*, 278(13), 1078–1083. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.1997.03550130052036
- Torloni, M. R., Betrán, A. P., Horta, B. L., Nakamura, M. U., Atallah, A. N., Moron, A. F., & Valente, O. (2009). Prepregnancy BMI and the risk of gestational diabetes: a systematic review of the literature with meta-analysis. *Obesity Reviews*, 10(2), 194–203. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-789X.2008.00541.x
- Van der Ploeg, H. P., van Poppel, M. N. M., Chey, T., Bauman, A. E., & Brown, W. J. (2011). The role of pre-pregnancy physical activity and sedentary behaviour in the development of gestational diabetes mellitus. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport / Sports Medicine Australia*, 14(2), 149–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2010.09.002
- Veeraswamy, S., Vijayam, B., Gupta, V. K., & Kapur, A. (2012). Gestational diabetes: the public health relevance and approach. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, 97(3), 350–358. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2012.04.024
- Verdoia, M., Schaffer, A., Barbieri, L., Di Giovine, G., Marino, P., Suryapranata, H., & De Luca, G., Novara Atherosclerosis Study Group (NAS). (2015). Impact of gender difference on vitamin D status and its relationship with the extent of coronary artery disease. *Nutrition, Metabolism, and Cardiovascular Diseases: NMCD*, 25(5), 464–470. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.numecd.2015.01.009
- Viana, L. V., Gross, J. L., & Azevedo, M. J. (2014). Dietary Intervention in Patients With Gestational Diabetes Mellitus: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Randomized Clinical Trials on Maternal and Newborn Outcomes. *Diabetes Care*, 37(12), 3345–3355. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc14-1530
- Wagner, C. L., Taylor, S. N., Dawodu, A., Johnson, D. D., & Hollis, B. W. (2012). Vitamin D and its role during pregnancy in attaining optimal health of mother and fetus. *Nutrients*, 4(3), 208–230. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu4030208

- Wang, Y., Storlien, L. H., Jenkins, A. B., Tapsell, L. C., Jin, Y., Pan, J. F., ... Zhu, X. X. (2000). Dietary variables and glucose tolerance in pregnancy. *Diabetes Care*, 23(4), 460–464.
- Wei, J., Heng, W., & Gao, J. (2016). Effects of Low Glycemic Index Diets on Gestational Diabetes Mellitus. *Medicine*, 95(22). https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.00000000003792
- Wei, S.-Q., Qi, H.-P., Luo, Z.-C., & Fraser, W. D. (2013). Maternal vitamin D status and adverse pregnancy outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Journal of Maternal-Fetal & Neonatal Medicine*, 26(9), 889–899. https://doi.org/10.3109/14767058.2013.765849
- WHO. (2004). BMI Classification. Retrieved December 4, 2016, from http://apps.who.int/bmi/index.jsp?introPage=intro\_3.html
- Wild, S., Roglic, G., Green, A., Sicree, R., & King, H. (2004). Global prevalence of diabetes: estimates for the year 2000 and projections for 2030. *Diabetes Care*, 27(5), 1047–1053.
- Wimalawansa, S. J. (2013). Rational Food Fortification Programs to Alleviate Micronutrient Deficiencies. *Journal of Food Processing & Technology*, 4(8). https://doi.org/10.4172/2157-7110.1000257, 1-11
- Xu, Y., Shen, S., Sun, L., Yang, H., Jin, B., & Cao, X. (2014). Metabolic Syndrome Risk after Gestational Diabetes: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *PLoS ONE*, 9(1). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0087863, 1-8
- Yang, H., Wei, Y., Gao, X., Xu, X., Fan, L., He, J., ... Zhang, C., on behalf of China National GDM Survey Working Group. (2009). Risk factors for gestational diabetes mellitus in Chinese women—a prospective study of 16 286 pregnant women in China. *Diabetic Medicine*, 26(11), 1099–1104. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-5491.2009.02845.x
- Yap, C., Cheung, N. W., Gunton, J. E., Athayde, N., Munns, C. F., Duke, A., & McLean, M. (2014). Vitamin D supplementation and the effects on glucose metabolism during pregnancy: a randomized controlled trial. *Diabetes Care*, 37(7), 1837–1844. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc14-0155
- Yuen, L., & Wong, V. W. (2015). Gestational diabetes mellitus: Challenges for different ethnic groups. World Journal of Diabetes, 6(8), 1024–1032. https://doi.org/10.4239/wjd.v6.i8.1024
- Zhang, C., Liu, S., Solomon, C. G., & Hu, F. B. (2006). Dietary fiber intake, dietary glycemic load, and the risk for gestational diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Care*, 29(10), 2223–2230. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc06-0266
- Zhang, C., & Ning, Y. (2011). Effect of dietary and lifestyle factors on the risk of gestational diabetes: review of epidemiologic evidence. *The American*

*Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *94*(6 Suppl), 1975S–1979S. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.110.001032

- Zhang, C., Qiu, C., Hu, F. B., David, R. M., van Dam, R. M., Bralley, A., & Williams, M. A. (2008). Maternal plasma 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations and the risk for gestational diabetes mellitus. *PloS One*, 3(11), e3753. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0003753, 1-10
- Zhang, C., Schulze, M. B., Solomon, C. G., & Hu, F. B. (2006). A prospective study of dietary patterns, meat intake and the risk of gestational diabetes mellitus. *Diabetologia*, 49(11), 2604–2613. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-006-0422-1
- Zhang, M.-X., Pan, G.-T., Guo, J.-F., Li, B.-Y., Qin, L.-Q., & Zhang, Z.-L. (2015). Vitamin D Deficiency Increases the Risk of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus: A Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies. *Nutrients*, 7(10), 8366–8375. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu7105398
- Zuhur, S. S., Erol, R. S., Kuzu, I., & Altuntas, Y. (2013). The relationship between low maternal serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels and gestational diabetes mellitus according to the severity of 25-hydroxyvitamin D deficiency. *Clinics* (*Sao Paulo, Brazil*), 68(5), 658–664. https://doi.org/10.6061/clinics/2013(05)13

# **Appendix 1: Socio-demographic Characteristics Questionnaire**

<b>Gesta</b> tional diabetes mellitus and vitamin D deficiency in RAK (2014-2016) United Arab Emirates University - Medicine and Health Sciences - Public Health Department				
Code	Response			
1	File/ Card number:			
2	Participant's name:			
3	Contact number 1:			
	Contact number 2:			
4	Health care center's name:			
5	Date of your last menstrual period:			
6	Date of birth/ age:			
7	Date of drawing first blood sample:			
8	Date of first visit:			
9	In total, how many years have you spent at school or in full- time study (excluding pre- school)?	Years		
10	What is the <b>highest level of</b> education you have completed?	No formal schooling 1 Less than primary school 2 Primary school completed 3 Secondary school completed 4 High school completed 5 College/University completed 6 Post graduate degree 7 Refused 8		
11	What is your <b>marital status</b> ?	Currently married 1 Separated2 Divorced 3 Widowed 4 Refused 5		
12	Which of the following best describes your <b>main work</b> <b>status</b> over the past 12	Government employee 1 Non-government employee 2 Student 3		

# Socio-demographic Characteristics Questionnaire

	months?	Homemaker 4
		Retired 5
		Unemployed (able to work) 6
		Unemployed (unable to work)7
		Self-employed 8
		Refused 9
13	How many people older than	Number of people
10	18 years including	
	vourself live in your	
	household?	
14	Taking the past year can you	per month
14	tall ma what the	OP per veer
	ten me what the	Defused 0
	average earnings of the	Refused 0
	nousenoid nave been?	
	(RECORD ONLY ONE, NOT	
	ALL2)	
	Medical Histor	<b>'Y</b>
15	De yey have a family history	Vac 1
15	of Dishetes?	
	of Diabetes?	
1.6		1 Don t know 3
16	Do you have diabetes	Yes I
	mellitus?	No 2
		I Don't know 3
17	Have you had gestational	Yes 1
	diabetes before?	No 2
		I Don't know 3
18	Do you have Hepatitis or liver	Yes 1
	diseases?	No 2
		I Don't know 3
19	Do you have Aids?	Yes 1
		No 2
		I Don't know 3
20	Do you have kidney diseases?	Yes 1
		No 2
		I Don't know 3
21	Are you vitamin D deficient?	Yes 1
		No 2
		I Don't know 3
This part should b	be filled by the principal investigat	tor or the research assistant
22	Height	in Centimeters (cm):
23	Weight in pregnancy:	in Kilograms (kg):
24	Body Mass Index (BMI) in	
	pregnancy :	
25	Weight before pregnancy:	in Kilograms (kg):
26	Body mass index (BMI) before	
	pregnancy:	
27	Blood Pressure:	mm Hg
28	Place of doing blood analysis:	0
1	<i>a b b b b b b b b b b</i>	

29	Fasting blood glucose at	mmol/l:
	baseline	
30	Vitamin D level	ng/ml:
31	OGTT (24-28) weeks - fasting	mmol/l:
	OGTT (24-28) weeks - 2hr (75	mmol/l:
	gm)	
32	Do you have diabetes after	Yes ( )
	(24-28) weeks of pregnancy or	No ( )
	after the delivery:	

Name of Health Care Center: \_\_\_\_\_

Interviewer name: \_\_\_\_\_

Signature: \_\_\_\_\_

Date: \_\_\_\_\_

# **Appendix 2: Global Physical Activity Questionnaire**

## **Global Physical Activity Questionnaire**

### Gestational diabetes mellitus and vitamin D deficiency in RAK (2014-2016) United Arab Emirates University - Medicine and Health Sciences - Public Health Department **CORE:** Physical Activity

Next I am going to ask you about the time you spend doing different types of physical activity in a typical week. Please answer these questions even if you do not consider yourself to be a physically active person.

Think first about the time you spend doing work. Think of work as the things that you have to do such as paid or unpaid work, study/training, household chores, harvesting food/crops, fishing or hunting for food, seeking employment. [Insert other examples if needed]. In answering the following questions 'vigorous-intensity activities' are activities that require hard physical effort and cause large increases in breathing or heart rate, 'moderate-intensity activities' are activities that require moderate physical effort and cause small increases in breathing or heart rate.

Question		Response	Code
Worl	king and job related physical activity	•	·
1	Does your work involve vigorous- intensity activity that causes large increases in breathing or heart rate like [carrying or liftingheavy loads, digging or construction work, running] for at	Yes 1 2 No No, g	If P1
	least 10 minutes?	to P	4
2	In a typical week, on how many days do you do vigorous-intensity activities as part of your work?	# of days	P2
3	ow much time do you spend doing gorous-intensity activities at work on a	Hour	<b>P3</b>
typical day? Minute		Minute	(a-d)
	Does your work involve moderate-	Yes 1	
4 increases in as brisk wa for at least	increases in breathing or heart rate such as brisk walking [or carrying light loads] for at least 10 minutes continuously?	No 2 If No go to P 7	P4
5	In a typical week, on how many days do you do moderate-intensity activities as part of your work?	# of days:	Р5
6	How much time do you spend doing moderate-intensity activities at work on a typical day?	Hour Minute	P6 (a-b)
Trav	el and transportation related physical acti	lvity	
The n Now for sh	ext questions exclude the physical activities a I would like to ask you about the usual way y opping, to market, to place of worship. [Inse	at work that you have already mentioned. you travel to and from places. For examp ert other examples if needed]	le, to work,
7	Do you walk for at least 10 minutes	Yes 1	. P7

		1	to P 10	
8	In a typical week, on how many days do you walk for at least 10 minutes continuously to get to and from places?	# of days:		P8
9	How much time do you spend walking for travel on a typical day?	Hour		P9 (a-b)
Oues	tion	Response	Code	
Recr	eational and leisure time activities			
The n Now	ext questions exclude the work and transport I would like to ask you about sports, fitness a	activities that you have already men and recreational activities (leisure)	ntioned.	
	Do you do any vigorous-intensity sports, fitness or recreational <i>(leisure)</i> activities that cause large increases in breathing or	Yes	1	
10	heart rate like [running or football] for at least 10 minutes continuously? [INSERT EXAMPLES] (USE SHOWCARD)	No	2 If No, go to P 13	P10
11	In a typical week, on how many days do you do vigorous-intensity sports, fitness or recreational ( <i>leisure</i> ) activities?	# of days:		P11
12	How much time do you spend doing vigorous-intensity sports, fitness or recreational activities on a typical day?	Hour Minute		P12 (a-b)
13	Do you do any moderate-intensity sports, fitness or recreational <i>(leisure)</i> activities that cause a small increase in breathing or heart rate such as brisk walking, <i>[cycling,</i> <i>swimming, and yolleyball]</i> for at least 10	Yes	1	P13
	<i>swimming, and volleyball</i> ] for at least 10 minutes continuously? [INSERT EXAMPLES] (USE SHOWCARD)	No	2 If No, go to P16	
14	In a typical week, on how many days do you do moderate-intensity sports, fitness or recreational ( <i>leisure</i> ) activities?	# of days:		P14
15	How much time do you spend doing moderate-intensity sports, fitness or recreational ( <i>leisure</i> ) activities on a typical day?	Hour Minute		P15 (a-b)
Sedentary behavior (sitting)				
The following question is about sitting or reclining at work, at home, getting to and from places, or with friends including time spent sitting at a desk, sitting with friends, traveling in car, bus, train, reading, or watching television, but do not include time spent sleeping.				
16	How much time do you usually spend sitting or reclining on a typical day?	Hour Minute		P16 (a-b)

# **Appendix 3: Adult Semi-Quantitative Food Frequency Questionnaire**

# Adult Semi-Quantitative Food Frequency Questionnaire

During the past year, on average, how often have you consumed the following food? (Please check the appropriate box)

Dairy products								
1. Milk: Se	<b>1. Milk:</b> Serving = 1 cup =200 ml							
>6/day □	4-5/day	2-3/day	1/day	5-6/wk	2-4/wk	1/wk	1-3/mo	< 1/ mo
2								
2. Yogurt:	Serving =	1 cup =20	0 ml	L		L		
>6/day □	4-5/day	2-3/day	1/day	5-6/wk	2-4/wk	1/wk	1-3/mo	< 1/ mo
2								
			]	Fruits				
3. Fruits: B	Banana: Se	erving = 1	medium					
>6/day 🛛	4-5/day	2-3/day	1/day	5-6/wk	2-4/wk	1/wk	1-3/mo	< 1/ mo
4. Dates: Se	erving $= 3$	medium	L					
>6/day 🛛	4-5/day	2-3/day	1/day	5-6/wk	2-4/wk	1/wk	1-3/mo	< 1/ mo
5. Grapes:	Serving =	10 peces						
>6/day □	4-5/day	2-3/day	1/day	5-6/wk	2-4/wk	1/wk	1-3/mo	< 1/ mo
6. Mango:	Serving =	1 medium						
>6/day □	4-5/day	2-3/day	1/day	5-6/wk	2-4/wk	1/wk	1-3/mo	< 1/ mo
	Vegetables							
7. Fresh ve	getables :	Serving =	1 cup					
>6/day □	4-5/day	2-3/day	1/day	5-6/wk	2-4/wk	1/wk	1-3/mo	< 1/ mo
8. Cooked	Vegetable	s: Serving	$= \frac{1}{2} cup$					
>6/day □	4-5/day	2-3/day	1/day	5-6/wk	2-4/wk	1/wk	1-3/mo	< 1/ mo
9. Green le	<b>9</b> . Green leafy vegetables (spinach, mint, lettuce): Serving = 1 cup							
>6/day 🛛	4-5/day	2-3/day	1/day	5-6/wk	2-4/wk	1/wk	1-3/mo	< 1/ mo
-								
	Meat							
<b>10. Fresh red meat (lamb or beef etc)</b> : serving = 90-120 g								
>6/day □	4-5/day	2-3/day	1/day	5-6/wk	2-4/wk	1/wk	1-3/mo	< 1/ mo
--	--------------	--------------	--------------------------	-------------	------------	------	--------	------------------------------
,								
<b>11. Processed meat (lamb or beef or chiken etc)</b> : Serving = 90-120 g								
>6/day □	4-5/day	2-3/day	1/day	5-6/wk	2-4/wk	1/wk	1-3/mo	< 1/ mo
12. Fresh v	white meat	t (chiken o	or poulta	ry): Servir	ng = 90-12	0 g		
>6/day □	4-5/day	2-3/day	1/day	5-6/wk	2-4/wk	1/wk	1-3/mo	< 1/ mo
-								
<b>13. Fish</b> : Serving is medium size fish ~200 g								
>6/day □	4-5/day	2-3/day	1/day	5-6/wk	2-4/wk	1/wk	1-3/mo	< 1/ mo
5								
Breads, cereals and starches								
14. White	rice: Servi	ing = 1/2 c	up (cook	ed) ~ 100	g			
>6/day □	4-5/day	2-3/day	1/day	5-6/wk	2-4/wk	1/wk	1-3/mo	< 1/ mo
5								
15. Bread:	serving =	1 medium						
>6/day □	4-5/day	2-3/day	1/day	5-6/wk	2-4/wk	1/wk	1-3/mo	< 1/ mo
16. Pasta a	nd spaghe	etti: Servin	$g = \frac{1}{2} cu_{j}$	p (cooked)	• ~ 100 g			_
>6/day □	4-5/day	2-3/day	1/day	5-6/wk	2-4/wk	1/wk	1-3/mo	< 1/ mo
			Ι	Drinks				
17. Tea: Se	erving: 1 cu	up = 200 n	ıl					
>6/day □	4-5/day	2-3/day	1/day	5-6/wk	2-4/wk	1/wk	1-3/mo	< 1/ mo
<b>18. Coffee or Nescafe:</b> Serving: 1 cup = 200 ml								
>6/day □	4-5/day	2-3/day	1/day	5-6/wk	2-4/wk	1/wk	1-3/mo	< 1/ mo
<b>19. Fresh or caned juice:</b> Serving = 1 cup ~ 200 ml								
>6/day □	4-5/day	2-3/day	1/day	5-6/wk	2-4/wk	1/wk	1-3/mo	< 1/ mo
<b>20.</b> Coke, Pepsi or any kind of soft drink: Serving = 1 cup ~ 200 ml								
>6/day □	4-5/day	2-3/day	1/day	5-6/wk	2-4/wk	1/wk	1-3/mo	< 1/ mo
Sweets								
<b>21. Sweets</b> (baklava, konafa, cookies, chocolate, mahlabiyyeh etc): Serving: 100 g								
(1/2 cup)								
>6/day 🛛	4-5/day	2-3/day	1/day	5-6/wk	2-4/wk	1/wk	1-3/mo	$< 1/\overline{\mathrm{mo}}$

Seeds and nuts									
<b>22. Seeds and nuts (almond, cashew, peanut, pistachio, walnut etc):</b> Serving = 10									
>6/day 🛛	4-5/day	2-3/day	1/day	5-6/wk	2-4/w	k	1/wk	1-3/mo	< 1/ mo
			Misc	ellaneou	IS				
23. Pizza: S	Serving: 1	medium	slice						
>6/day 🗆	4-5/day	2-3/day	1/day	5-6/wk	2-4/w	k	1/wk	1-3/mo	< 1/ mo
<b>24. Boiled potato:</b> Serving = 200 g (1 cup)									
>6/day 🗆	4-5/day	2-3/day	1/day	5-6/wk	2-4/w	k	1/wk	1-3/mo	< 1/ mo
25. French	fries: Ser	ving = 10	00 g (½ cu	p)					
>6/day 🛛	4-5/day	2-3/day	1/day	5-6/wk	2-4/w	k	1/wk	1-3/mo	< 1/ mo
26. What k	kind of oil	usually	used for c	ooking at	home?	•			
Corn	□ Su	inflower	Cano	la	Olive		> 1 type	I do n	ot know
<b>27.</b> What is the frequency of using oil in cooking at home? Serving = $\frac{1}{2}$ cup									
>6/day 🛛	4-5/day	2-3/day	1/day	5-6/wk	2-4/w	k	1/wk	1-3/mo	< 1/ mo
28. What kind of cooking fat usually used in cooking at home?									
Butter		Ghee	Palm	Palm > 1 type		Ι	I Do not know I do not us		o not use
<b>29.</b> What is the frequency of using fat in cooking at home? Serving = $\frac{1}{2}$ cup									
>6/day 🛛	4-5/day	2-3/day	1/day	5-6/wk	2-4/w	k	1/wk	1-3/mo	< 1/ mo
<b>30.</b> How often do you eat meals at a fast food/non-fast food restaurant and at									
work?					1				<del></del>
>6/day 🛛	4-5/day	2-3/day	1/day	5-6/wk	2-4/w	k	1/wk	1-3/mo	< 1/ mo
Vitamins and Minerals									
<b>31.</b> Do you regularly take vitamins or minerals during the past six months?									
Yes D No Do not know D									
32. If yes, how often you take vitamins or minerals?									
< one year				4-6 yea	years □ >6 years □				
33. Do you regularly take vitamin D pills during the past six months?									
Yes D No Do not know D									
34. If yes, how often you take vitamin D pills?									

$<$ one year $\Box$ 1.	-3 years 🗆	4-6 years □	>6 years □
------------------------	------------	-------------	------------

# Appendix 4: Al Ain Medical District Human Research Ethics Committee Approval





13th May 2014

Dr. Abderrahim Oulhaj Institute of Public Health College of Medicine and Health Sciences, UAE University Al Ain, UAE.

Dear Dr. Abderrahim,

Re: Al Ain Medical District Human Research Ethics Committee - Protocol No. 14/21 - The relationship between vitamin D deficiency, diet, physical activity and the incidence of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus (GDM) in Ras Al Khaima (RAK) population in United Arab Emirates.

Thank you very much for submitting your application to the Ethics Committee.

Your submitted documents were reviewed by the committee and I am pleased to provide you ethical approval of your project.

May I reiterate, should there be any ethical concern arising from the study in due course the Committee should be informed.

Annual reports plus a terminal report are necessary and the Committee would appreciate receiving copies of abstracts and publications should they arise.

I wish to take this opportunity to wish you success with this important study.

This Ethics Committee is an approved organization of Federal Wide Assurance (FWA) and compliant with ICH/GCP standards.

With kind regards,



Chair, Al Ain Medical District Human Research Ethics Committee

# Appendix 5: RAK Medical District Research Ethics Committee Approval

Ras Al Khaimah Medical District Ras Al Khaimah – United Arab Emirates

#### Date: 5/03/2014

Sharifa Ali Abdulrahman Hashem

The relationship between vitamin D deficiency, diet and physical activity and the prevalence of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus in Ras Al Khaima in United Arab Emirates.

Address: Community medicine 00971506477247

Dear Dr. Sharifa Ali Abdulrahman Hashem RAKREC Reference :0011/2013 :Please quote this number on all correspondence

The Research Ethics Committee has reviewed the above application at its meeting held on 30/01/2014.

#### **Ethical Opinion**

A favorable ethical opinion was given for the above research on the basis described in the Application form, protocol and supporting documentation subject to the conditions:

1. The understanding that the research team complies with ICH-GCP guideline and all applicable regulations governing the conduct of clinical studies

2. The favourable opinion applies only to the following research site (S): RAK

3. Management permission or approval must be obtained from each site prior to the start of the study at the site concerned.

4. Annual progress reports from the date of approving the study must be submitted to the RAKREC.

5. Safety reporting:

6. Study Termination:

a. Any fatal SAEs and any SUSARs originating from any of the study sites approved must be reported to the REC within 7 calendar Days for fatal/life threatening events and 15 calendar days for other events.

b. Periodic safety reports (Safety information from the Annual Progress Reports, Development Safety Update Reports (DSURs) or findings and recommendations from Data Monitoring Committees) must be submitted whenever available.

a. In case of premature termination of the study, the REC should be notified within 15 days of termination.

b. In case of a planned termination/end of study, the REC should be notified within 90 days of its conclusion.

7. Study should commence within 6 months of the approval date.

8. The end of Study Report/Summary of study outcome should be submitted within 6 months of end of study.

9. The RAKREC should be notified of serious breaches of the protocol or of the conditions or principles of Good Clinical Practice (GCP) within 15 days.

10- The approval of your study expires on 4/03/2015. Should you wish to continue the study after this date, please submit an application for renewal together with the Annual Study

# Appendix 6: Informed Consent (Facts about the Study)

جامعة الإمارات العربية المتحدة كلية الطب والعلوم الصحية قسم طب المجتمع

# Facts about the Study Purpose:

We are doing this study in eight primary health care centers (Ras Alkhaimah, Al-Digdaga, Al-Dhait, Julfar, Al-rams, Almamoura, Al-Jazirah Al-Hamra, Shamal and Al-Nakheel health care centers), in RAK city in the UAE. To find out the risk factors for Gestational Diabetes Mellitus and the relationship between vitamin D deficiency and developing this disease. The results which will be obtained from this study will help us find out the risk factors of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus in Emirati citizens in RAK city in UAE.

# **Researchers:**

A multidisciplinary team consisting of researchers from the Department of Community Medicine, (UAEU). The principal investigator Mrs. Sharifa Ali (PhD student), and the advisor Dr. Abdureehim Oulhaj.

# Selection criteria:

514 of Emirati pregnant women aged (18-45) in the eight primary health care centers in RAK city in the UAE will be asked to participate in this study.

<u>When?</u> Scheduled to begin the process of selection and data collection in May 2014 and will continue to the beginning of February 2016.

Benefits to participants: You will help to contribute valuable information about diet and physical activity patterns among pregnant women in the UAE. This information will help researchers to identify the risk factors that are related to the development of gestational diabetes in Emirati pregnant women. To manage and reduces GDM and type 2 diabetes.

What participant will ask to do?

#### حقائق عن الدراسة

# الغرض :\_

تشمل هذه الدراسة النساء الحوامل اللواتي يترددن على في ثمانية مر اكز للرعاية الصحية الأولية عيادة الحوامل (مركز النخيل، مركز رأس الخيمة، مركز المعمورة، مركز جلفار مركز شمل، مركز الدقداقة، مركز الظيت، ومركز الجزيرة الحمراء الصحي) في إمارة رأس الخيمة بدولة الإمارات العربية المتحدة وذلك للتعرف أسباب إنتشار سكري الحمل في الدولة، كما تتيح هذه الدر اسة التعرف على العلاقة بين سكري الحمل ونقص فيتامين د، حيث أثبتت بعض الدر إسات أن هناك علاقة بين نقص فيتامنين د والإصابة بسكري الحمل بالإضافة إلى در اسة نمط الحياة من ممارسة الرياضة والغذاء لدى الحوامل المواطنات في الإمارة . **الباحثون:** يقوم بهذه الدراسة باحثون من قسم الصحة العامة بجامعة الإمار ات العربية المتحدة لنبل درجة الدكتوراة للقائم الرئيسي للبحث وهي الطالبة شريفة على عبدالرحمن بالإضافة إلى المشرّف العام على البحث وهو دعبدالرحيم الحاج. معايير الاختيار: سيطلب من (514) إمرأة إماراتية حامل تتراوح أعمار هم ما بين 18- 45 سنة في المراكز الصحية الثمانية في إمارة رأس الخيمة بدولة الإمارات العربية المتحدة المَشْاركة في هذه الدراسة. متى؟ من المقرر أن تبدأ عملية الاختيار وجمع البيانات في مارس 2014 وستستمر إلى فبراير 2016 **فوائد للمشّاركين:** تتيح هذه الدراسة التعرف على العلاقة بين سكري الحمل ونقص فيتامين د، حيث أثبتت بعض الدر إسات أن هناك علاقة بين نقص فيتامنين د والإصابة بسكري الحمل بالإضافة إلى در اسة نمط الحياة من ممارسة الرياضة والغذاء لدى الحوامل المواطنات في الإمارة. تساعد هذه المعلومات الباحثين في تحديد عوامل الخطورة المرتبطة بسكري الحمل عند المواطنات الإمار اتييات وبالتالي التقليل من حالات سكري ألحمل وكذلك النوع الثاى من السكرى حيث أثبتت الدر اسات أن 10-60% من سكري الحمل ممكن أن تتحول إلى النوع الثاني من السكري خلال 5-10 سنوات بعد الولادة إذا لم يتبع النظام الغذائي الصحى المتوازن

ماذا سيفعل المشاركون:

- 1) A study staff will do an interview with you which will last 30-45 minutes.
- 2) We will ask you to complete three questionnaires (Food Frequency Questionnaire, Physical Activity Questionnaire and demographic information questionnaire).
- 3) Blood will be drawn from each participant as a part of the routine care in the health care center to measure vitamin D level, fasting blood sugar in the first visit and OGTT (oral glucose tolerance test) will be done at (24-28) gestation's weeks.

Questions?

Please call : Sharifa Ali,

Phone: 00971506477247

Email: <u>sharifa\_ali\_hashem@hotmail.com</u>

 سيقوم الباحث بإجراء مقابلة مع كل حامل تستغرق
45-30 دقيقة يتم من خلالها استكمال ثلاث استمارات نتناول المعلومات الديموغرافية، التغذية وأنماط
ممارسة النشاط البدني.
القياسات الحيوية (الوزن والطول ، وضغط الدم).
القياسات الحيوية (الوزن والطول ، وضغط الدم).
سيتم سحب عينة من الدم من كل مشاركة في البحث
كجزء من العمل الروتني والعلاج المقدم في المركز فيتامني دفيما بعد. كما سيتم عمل تحليل احتمال السكر فيتامني د فيما بعد. كما سيتم عمل تحليل احتمال السكر في الأسبوع (24-28) حيث سيتم إعطاء الحامل شراب الجلوكوز 75 جم ومن بعدها إجراء تحليل السكر بعد ساعتين كجزء من العمل الروتيني للمركز.

**للاستفسارات:** يرجى الاتصال على الباحثة : شريفة علي هاتف رقم:0506477247 بريد الكتروني:

sharifa\_ali\_hashem@hotmail.com

# **Appendix 7: Consent to Participate in a Research Study**

### **Consent to Participate In a Research Study**

**TITLE OF STUDY:** The relationship between vitamin D deficiency, diet, physical activity and the development of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus in Ras Al Khaima in the UAE.

UAEU Principal Investigator: Sharifa Ali Hashem Abdulrahman Albelooshi

**Phone number:** 00971504475985

**Department:** Community Medicine

Co-Investigator: Dr. Abderrahim Oulhaj

Department: Community Medicine

Phone number: 00971506477247

Study Contact phone number: 00971506477247

We are asking you to participate in an epidemiologic study that is a cohort study from the United Arab Emirates University (UAEU).

You will be one of 714 of pregnant Emirati women who are counseling the primary health care centers (Al Nakheel, Al Mamoura, Al Dhait, Aldigdaga, Alrams, Julfar, Shamal and RAK Health care centers) in RAK city in the UAE. We describe details of this study below. We want you to understand this information so that you can decide whether or not you want to be in this study. Please ask questions if there is anything that you do not understand. We will give you a copy of this form to keep after signing.

### What is the purpose of the study?

We are doing this study in RAK city in the UAE to find out the relationship vitamin D deficiency, diet, and physical activity and development of Gestational Diabetes. The results which we will obtain from this study will help us to find out the risk factors for Gestational Diabetes Mellitus in Emirati citizens in RAK city in UAE, which could provide national guidelines to control the disease.

# How long will you be in this study?

There will be one meeting which will last approximately 30-45 minutes.

### What will you are asked to do during the study?

- 4) A study staff will do an interview with you which will last 30-45 minutes.
- 5) We will ask you to complete three questionnaires (Food Frequency Questionnaire, Physical Activity Questionnaire and demographic information questionnaire).
- 6) Blood will be drawn from each participant as a normal routine care in the health care center to measure Fasting Blood sugar in the first visit and OGTT (75 g 2hr postprandial) will be done at 24-28 gestation's weeks, and 3ml (about a teaspoon) blood will be stored for vitamin D analysis.
- You will be called after delivery by the principal investigator to conform the development of gestational diabetes, if it has not been mentioned in your medical record.

#### What are the possible risks and discomforts of being in the study?

This study poses no risk to you. However, this study might involve the following discomforts to you.

The in-person interviews include some personal questions about your behaviors (diet and physical activity) and demographic information which may make you uncomfortable.

Weight, height and blood pressure will be measured.

Blood will be drawn as a part of the routine care in the lab of the health care center or Saqer hospital or Obaidallah hospital to measure Fasting Blood Sugar in the first visit, and 3ml of the blood will be stored for vitamin D analysis. OGTT will be done as a part of the routine care on (24-28) weeks of gestation.

# What are the benefits of me being in the study?

You will help contribute valuable information about diet and physical activity patterns for the pregnant women in RAK city in the UAE. This information will help researchers identify risk factors that are related to developing gestational diabetes in Emirati women in UAE and to explore the relationship between gestational diabetes and vitamin D deficiency, future generations are likely to benefit as this results could lower the prevalence of type 2 diabetes which is very common in UAE.

#### Are there any costs?

It will not cost you any money to be in this study.

### **Protection of privacy**:

Your will be assigned a study number. All information you give will be stored only with your study number, not with your name. Personal information that can identify you and link you to your study number will be kept separate, and all information you provide in this study will be kept completely confidential. These will be stored on password protected computer files and only study staff will have access to that information. We will make every effort to protect the identity of all participants in this study.

### Right to refuse or to drop out of the study:

Your being in this study is your choice and your participation is voluntary. You can decide not to be in this study at any time. You may refuse to answer questions and still be part of this study. You may also choose to be in some parts of the study and not in others. If you wish to drop out of the study or if you have any questions, please call the study staff at 00971506477247 or email <u>sharifa\_ali\_hashem@hotmail.com</u>.

# **Offer to answer questions:**

Today you can ask all questions you may have about this study. If you have more questions you can call us at 00971506477247 or send email to sharifa\_ali\_hashem@hotmail.com

# **Institutional Review Board approval:**

The Ethics Committee in RAK Medical District and the Institutional Review Board (IRB) in UAE both reviewed this study. These groups make sure that researchers take care of study subjects.

If you have questions about your rights as a subject, you can call Institutional Review Board (IRB) in UAEU at: +97137137463

And the Ethics Committee in RAK Medical District:

Dr. Abdullah Alabaasi - Saqer Hospital at: 0097172223666



# Participant's Agreement:

I, the undersigned, have had the nature and purpose of the above named study explained to me. I freely give my consent to be in this study. I understand that participation is voluntary and that I may withdraw from the study at any stage. I understand that not participating or withdrawing from the study will not have any adverse effect on my employment or medical care. I have been given a subject information sheet and the contact details of the Principal Investigators should I have any questions at a later stage. I understand that any information I give will be treated in the strictest confidence and will not be given to anyone outside the investigating team without my express permission. After signing, I understand I will get a copy of this consent form.

Signature of Research Subject	Date
Printed Name of Research Subject	-
Signature of Person Obtaining Consent	Date
Printed Name of Person Obtaining Consent	-
Signature of Field Investigator	Date
	-

Printed Name of Field Investigator